
 

1 

 
 
 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Thursday, 6th July, 2006 
 
Place: Civic Offices, High Street, Epping 
  
Room: Council Chamber 
  
Time: 7.30 pm 
  
Democratic Services 
Officer: 

Simon Hill, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
email: shill@eppingforestdc.gov.uk Tel: 01992 564249 

 
Members: 
 
Councillors R Morgan (Chairman), Mrs J H Whitehouse (Vice-Chairman), D Bateman, 
M Cohen, M Colling, R D'Souza, Mrs H Harding, P House, G Mohindra, Mrs P Richardson 
and M Woollard 
 
 
 
 
 

PLEASE NOTE THAT THIS MEETING IS OPEN TO ALL MEMBERS TO ATTEND 
 
A PRE – MEETING BRIEFING WILL BE HELD AT 7.00 PM IN COMMITTEE ROOM 1 FOR 

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

 
 1. MINUTES  (Pages 7 - 14) 

 
  Decisions required: 

 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 25 May 2006.  

 
 2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
 3. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS   

 
  (Head of Research and Democratic Services). To report the appointment of any 

substitute members for the meeting.  
 

 4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

  (Head of Research and Democratic Services). To declare interests in any items on the 
agenda. 

 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 6 July 2006 
 

2 

 
In considering whether to declare a personal or a prejudicial interest under the Code 
of Conduct, Overview & Scrutiny members are asked pay particular attention to 
paragraph 11 of the Code in addition to the more familiar requirements. 
 
This requires the declaration of a personal and prejudicial interest in any matter before 
an OS Committee which relates to a decision of or action by another Committee or 
Sub Committee of the Council, a Joint Committee or Joint Sub Committee in which the 
Council is involved and of which the Councillor is also a member. 
 
Paragraph 11 does not refer to Cabinet decisions or attendance at an OS meeting 
purely for the purpose of answering questions or providing information on such a 
matter. 
 

 5. ESSEX POLICE - PRESENTATION ON PROPOSED MERGER OF BEDFORD, 
ESSEX AND HERTFORDSHIRE POLICE AREAS.  (Pages 15 - 56) 

 
  To consider the attached report and associated papers. 

 
 6. LIAISON WITH LEADER AND PORTFOLIO HOLDERS  (Pages 57 - 66) 

 
  Recommendation:  

 
To receive a presentation from the Leader of the Cabinet on the Executive 
Forward Plan for 2006/07(attached).  

 
The Leader of the Cabinet, Councillor Mrs D Collins, has been invited to this meeting 
to present the plans of the Executive for the year ahead. 
 
This discussion is aimed at facilitating the Committee’s pre-decision scrutiny role. It 
will enable scrutiny to hear the views and ask questions directly of the Leader on the 
Cabinet Forward Programme, forward comments for consideration on specific items 
and consider how it can input into the work. 
 
Members are encouraged to give advanced consideration to the Executive Plan which 
is attached. A meeting has been arranged for this for Members of the Committee to 
commence at 7.00 p.m directly before the meeting.  
 

 7. CALL - IN OF CABINET DECISION - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY TASK AND 
FINISH PANEL REPORT - PARKING IN RESIDENTIAL AREAS  (Pages 67 - 90) 

 
  To consider the attached report and papers. 

 
 8. WORK PROGRAMME MONITORING  (Pages 91 - 98) 

 
  (a) Reports of Panel Chairmen  

 
Members may be aware that the Chairmen of the Scrutiny Panels are required to 
report to the Committee on the following basis: 
 
(i) when their Panels have completed a review in their work plan and are formally 
reporting their findings; 

 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 6 July 2006 
 

3 

(ii) comments arising on current Executive matters;  
 

(iii) to request changes to their membership, terms of reference, reporting 
deadlines  
 
(v) any other significant issue.  
 
All Chairmen are asked to consider the above and report any relevant issues for 
consideration.  
 
(b) Updated Work Programme  
 
Attached. 
 

 9. CHAIRMANSHIP OF THE CUSTOMER SERVICES AND ICT STANDING PANEL   
 

   Recommendation: 
 

The Committee is asked to nominate and confirm a new Chairman for the 
Customer Services and ICT Standing Panel. 

 
Following the May 2006 meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Councillor 
Mrs Rush, (in her absence) was nominated and confirmed as the Chairman of the 
Customer Services and ICT Standing Panel. Having consulted her since, she has 
declined the chairmanship due to other pressures on her time. 
 

 10. DRAFT COUNCIL PLAN 2006 -10   
 

  (Head of Human Resources and Performance Management). To consider the report to 
follow.  
 

 11. TASK AND FINISH PANELS - TERMS OF REFERENCE AND WORK 
PROGRAMME  (Pages 99 - 100) 

 
  The Committee is also asked to determine the scope of the work to be carried out by 

the following Task and Finish Panels: 
 
(i) Leisure 
(ii) Crime and Disorder Issues  
(iii) Local Strategic Partnership  
(iv) Town Centre and Car Parks  
 
A template on this is attached for guidance. 
 
On 22 June 2006, the Older and Disabled Persons Task and Finish Panel held its first 
meeting to scope their review. The Panels proposals will be reported at the meeting 
for consideration.  
 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 6 July 2006 
 

4 

 12. TRAVELLER ISSUES TASK AND FINISH PANEL - FINAL REPORT  (Pages 101 - 
108) 

 
  (Councillor P McMillan). To consider the attached report.  

 
 13. FUTURE ROLE OF COUNCIL - REPORT OF CONSTITUTION AND MEMBER 

SERVICES STANDING PANEL  (Pages 109 - 132) 
 

  (Councillor R Morgan). To consider the attached report.  
 

 14. TASK AND FINISH GUIDANCE NOTES AND REPORT TEMPLATE  (Pages 133 - 
140) 

 
  Recommendation: 

 
To consider and approve the attached guidance on Task and Finish Panels 
and associated report template.  

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Review Panel has requested that this draft guidance and 
report format be produced to enhance Task and Finish Reviews and help ensure they 
achieve an effective outcome. The Committee is asked to consider and comment on 
the documents and endorse them for implementation. Following this it is intended that 
the guidance notes will be issued to all Panel Chairmen and members for information.  
 

 15. CABINET REVIEW   
 

  Recommendation: 
 

To consider any items to be raised by the Chairman at the Cabinet meeting on 
10 July 2006. 

 
(Head of Research and Democratic Services). The Committee is invited to consider 
the Cabinet agenda for its next meeting on 10 July 2006 meeting.  
 

 16. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS   
 

  Exclusion: To consider whether, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the public and press should be excluded from the meeting for the items of 
business set out below on grounds that they will involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the following paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act (as amended) or are confidential under Section 100(A)(2): 
 

Agenda Item No Subject Exempt Information 
Paragraph Number 

Nil Nil Nil 
 
The Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, which came 
into effect on 1 March 2006, requires the Council to consider whether maintaining the 
exemption listed above outweighs the potential public interest in disclosing the 
information. Any member who considers that this test should be applied to any 
currently exempted matter on this agenda should contact the proper officer at least 24 
hours prior to the meeting. 
 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 6 July 2006 
 

5 

Confidential Items Commencement: Paragraph 9 of the Council Procedure Rules 
contained in the Constitution require: 
 
(1) All business of the Council requiring to be transacted in the presence of the 

press and public to be completed by 10.00 p.m. at the latest. 
 
(2) At the time appointed under (1) above, the Chairman shall permit the 

completion of debate on any item still under consideration, and at his or her 
discretion, any other remaining business whereupon the Council shall proceed 
to exclude the public and press. 

 
(3) Any public business remaining to be dealt with shall be deferred until after the 

completion of the private part of the meeting, including items submitted for 
report rather than decision. 

 
Background Papers:  Paragraph 8 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules of 
the Constitution define background papers as being documents relating to the subject 
matter of the report which in the Proper Officer's opinion: 
 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

report is based;  and 
 
(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and does not 

include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential 
information (as defined in Rule 10) and in respect of executive reports, the 
advice of any political advisor. 

 
Inspection of background papers may be arranged by contacting the officer 
responsible for the item. 
 

 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MINUTES 

 
Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee Date: Thursday, 25 May 2006 
    
Place: Civic Offices, High Street, Epping Time: 7.30  - 9.35 pm 
  
Members 
Present: 

Councillors R Morgan (Chairman) Mrs J H Whitehouse (Vice-Chairman) 
Mrs P Smith, M Cohen, M Colling, R D'Souza, Mrs H Harding, P House, 
G Mohindra, Mrs P Richardson and M Woollard 

  
Other 
Councillors: 

Councillors Mrs D Borton, Mrs P Brooks, R Church, Mrs S Clapp, 
Mrs A Cooper, Mrs A Grigg, Mrs D Collins, Mrs A Haigh, R Law, Mrs S Perry, 
Mrs C Pond, B Sandler, D Stallan, P Turpin, Mrs L Wagland and 
C Whitbread 

  
Apologies: Councillors D Bateman 
  
Officers 
Present: 

J Scott (Joint Chief Executive), I Willett (Head of Research and Democratic 
Services), A Scott (Head of Information, Communications and Technology), 
S G Hill (Senior Democratic Services Officer), S Dobson (Information 
Assistant (Public Relations)) and A Hendry (Democratic Services Officer) 

  
By 
Invitation: 

D Butler and R Neville 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION AND WELCOME  
 
The Chairman welcomed members old and new to the first meeting of the Committee 
for the new municipal year. He then asked Simon Hill to give a brief introduction to 
the new members on the aims and objectives of the Overview and Scrutiny. 
 

2. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED:  
 
That the minutes of the meetings held on 16 March and 6 April 2006 be taken 
as read and signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

 
3. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

 
The meeting noted that Councillor Mrs P Smith was substituting for Councillor D 
Bateman. 
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
None declared. 
 

5. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
The meeting noted that there was no other business. 
 

6. EPPING FOREST COLLEGE - PRESENTATION BY MR DAVID BUTLER, 
PRINCIPAL OF COLLEGE.  

Agenda Item 1

Page 7



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  25 May 2006 

 
The Chairman welcomed David Butler, Principal of Epping Forest College and Roger 
Neville, the Chairman of the College Board. They were there to give a short 
presentation to the committee on Epping Forest College and its future plans. The 
invitation had arisen as a result of request made by the collage seeking to develop 
part of its site to facilitate redevelopment of the College Campus. A copy of their 
presentation is attached to these minutes for information. 
 
The college is a charity under the Learning and Skills Council (LSC) whose 
permission was required for them to put their development plans into operation. The 
LSC also contributed £6.8m to the project. The main objective was to renew the old 
buildings that are now 60 to 150 years old, provide a new library for Debden, provide 
a new sports centre for students and the local community, to encourage students not 
to go to Harlow College (currently 30% of students from Epping District attend Harlow 
College), to expand their construction/ motor vehicle and hair and beauty facilities 
and to provide state of the art facilities for the 14 to 19 years olds and the 19+ 
facilities for local residents. They hoped to open the new facilities in September 2007. 
 
It was noted that the majority of their students were local but they got a lot of interest 
from Essex County and the London Boroughs. They no longer actively recruited from 
London Boroughs. The bulk of their business was for the 16-18 year olds, but 
unfortunately the funding was being withdrawn for their adult education programme. 
David Butler drew the committee attention to their position in the ‘School and College 
Achievement and attainment tables 2005’,where they were placed third, after Harlow 
and Barnet Colleges. 
 
On completion of their presentation they answered questions from the committee. 
 
Q:  We understand that the college has no immediate plans for development of 
the playing fields opposite the college in Borders Lane.  It is regrettable that the 
proposal for the skateboard facility that was agreed with the Town Council in principle 
some years ago has not moved forward.  Can Mr. Butler assure the Council that 
these plans will be progressed with due expediency bearing in mind that the youth 
survey some years ago put this at the top of their youth facilities wish list? 
Furthermore, does the college have any long-term plans for the development of the 
playing fields? 
A: We are not sure where they currently are with these applications. I am sure 
the Town Council will come forward with a planning application for the skateboard 
park soon, and we will make one for a Sports Centre, as in our Development Plan 
that was submitted to you. We will also make these facilities available to the 
public/local community, and will include theatre facilities in the main building.  
 
Q: During the recent District Council elections certain persons made much of 
perceived law and order problems in and associated with, Epping Forest College.  
These allegations are not new. Can Mr Butler comment on the justification of them 
and what steps are being taken to minimise criminal activities at the college premises 
and to discourage anti-social behaviour by students in Loughton outside the college? 
A: Lots of teenagers will from time to time will display boisterous behaviour. The 
college has joined in with the recent knife amnesty, although knife crime is not a 
problem here. As a college of education we have no significant problems. Our Board 
of Governors have asked us to be tough with discipline, all students have to wear 
their identity cards all the time when on the premises and we also have our own 
security guards and liaise with the Transport Police. 
 
Q: To what extent do you try to educate your students in good behaviour, and 
what practical things do you do in relation to Debden station? 

Page 8



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  25 May 2006 

A: We patrol at the station occasionally and have pastoral care and a tutorial 
system based on “every child matters” for the 16 to 18 years. The 14 to 16 are 
provided for at their own schools. 
 
Q: There are a number of students from outside the district and you rely on your 
income from the LSC. Can you get subscriptions from the areas that the students 
come from? 
A: No, full time students are funded from by the LSC, we also get extra money 
for students that come from deprived areas. 
 
Q:  Are the 14-16 year old students part time? 
A: Yes mostly they are. We offer several schemes where we deliver courses 
from 1 to 3 days a week. We also deliver some courses at school sites. 
 
Q: The 14-16 and the 16-18 year olds figures do they include the LINK scheme? 
A: The 14-16 figures are not included as they are not all on site. 
 
Q: The 16-18 year olds taking ‘A’ level courses- why are more from Chingford 
and not Loughton? 
A: The 16-18 year olds cover the whole ability spectrum. Over the past years the 
North Circular has become more of a barrier. Those students north of the North 
Circular tends to go north and not cross it southwards into London. The schools that 
they come from seems to vary year to year, but we do need to attract more students 
from Loughton. 
 
Q: I have had a look at your OFSTED report, which states the structure of your 
buildings, are challenging. What else do you do in the college for young people, 
mainly thinking of the 14-16 year olds and, is your web site a true representation of 
your college? 
A: Our buildings are extremely challenging. We were originally advised that we 
would be in our new building by this September, it’s now September ’07 and it may 
yet lapse. The current students will not see these improvements. We lost a lot of 
students recently when one building had to be closed because of boiler failure. We 
do a lot to support our students and take it very seriously. 
We do not use the Web as much as we could; we need to do more marketing. 
 
Q: The provision for 19+ students has decreased over the years because of 
Government cuts, would you agree? 
A: Yes, reluctantly. 
 
Q: What are you doing to attract new tutors? 
A: We are making some redundancies this year but this is unlikely to affect the 
courses. 
 
Q: Why are the police always on site with their CCTV van? 
A: You would have to ask the police why. I have offered the police facilities to 
keep them on site, as it is not possible to keep our large site secure. 
 
Q: How effective are you at monitoring behaviour outside the campus? 
A: Less so than on site although we do patrol outside. Young people can appear 
to be threatening, we try to encourage good behaviour through tutorials and have 
vigorous discipline procedures for students. 
 
Q: A lot of older residents tend to feel intimidated. 
A: We encourage complaints from outside, helps keep us informed. 
 

Page 9



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  25 May 2006 

Q: How do your fees compare to Harlow? 
A: There is a different regime for fees between the two colleges. 
 
Q: What percentage of your staff comes from the Epping Forest District? 
A: About 45 to 50%, that's about 200 out of 420 staff. 
 
Q: Would you agree that getting better staff is better than getting better 
buildings? 
A: I would agree, but new facilities/buildings help bring people in. 
 
Q: What other ways do you market yourself? 
A: We go to local schools etc. we used to actively recruit in over 100 schools, 
but that was not sustainable, so we now concentrate mainly on local schools. 
 
Q:  In your proposed development, how many flats are proposed? 
A: The proposals that the developer may apply for are mostly houses and the 
usual mix of 2,3 and 4 bedroom flats for a development such as this. 
 
Q: Will any of this housing development be built on playing fields? 
A: Nearly the entire proposed site is classed as Brownfield land. 
 
Q: Would there be a loss to the college in buildings? 
A: We would be slightly down on what we have now. But what we have presently 
is badly designed, it cost us a lot just keeping them heated and maintained. We will 
now be in one building. 
 
Q:  What sort of recruitment and retention levels do you have for your staff and 
what sorts of courses do to you have? 
A: We get about 270 students that go on to higher education each year. As for 
recruitment and retention in the past it was as low as 2%, now about 11%, which is a 
natural turnover of staff. This also links in with the change in demand for courses, the 
types of courses change so the staff has to change. We have an expanding range of 
curriculum including sport, but do not specialise, as we are a general FE college. 
 
Q: How long has the college been commercially managed? 
A: Never, it is a public sector establishment, a charity. It was formed in 1993. 
 
Q: How much of what happens next depends on the LSC? 
A: Everything. 
 
Q: You should take more responsibility for what happens outside the college. 
Everyone in the area is concerned about crime and its links with the college. 
A: I do not accept that. Having talked with the Police, they are more concerned 
about what happens on Friday and Saturday nights. 
 
The Joint Chief Executive for Community Services explained that although there was 
a problem with youths in the Broadway and Town Centre, police were concerned with 
youths coming in from London Boroughs and not necessarily from the college. The 
youths tend to come in from London using the free fares scheme, introduced recently 
by the Mayor for London. 
 
The Chairman thanked Mr Butler and Mr Neville for their interesting presentation and 
helpful answers to the questions asked. 
 

7. APPOINTMENT OF STANDING PANELS - 2006/07  
 

Page 10



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  25 May 2006 

The Committee were asked to make appointments to Standing Panels in accordance 
with the Overview and Scrutiny rules. The Committee were reminded that the Council 
had agreed pro rata applied to Standing Panels and that membership should be kept 
to a minimum to allow each Group to have representation .  It was noted that on this 
basis it had been calculated that Panels would consist of 11 Members.  
 
It was reported that nominations to Chairman and Vice Chairman to Standing Panels 
were excluded from the pro rata calculation rules required for such positions 
contained in the Council’s constitution.  
 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the appointments to Standing Panels annexed to these minutes be 
adopted. 

 
8. APPOINTMENT OF TASKS AND FINISH PANELS -  2006/07  

 
The Committee were asked to consider appointments to Task and Finish Panels. The 
Committee noted that five new panels were to be set up.  A sixth panel on Travellers 
Issues was to continue to a conclusion from last year. 

 
It was noted that any Member could be appointed to Task and Finish Panels. 
However Cabinet Members would not be able to serve on panels which bore directly 
on their Portfolio. In addition no panel could comprise of members of a single political 
group and restrictions on numbers did not apply.  

 
Members were also asked to appoint a Chairman and Vice Chairman to each Panel.   

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the appointments to Task and Finish Panels annexed to these minutes 
be adopted.  

 
9. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE REVIEW PANEL  

 
(a) Councillor D Stallan, Chairman of the newly reconstituted Overview and 
Scrutiny Review panel took the committee through the recommendations made by 
the review panel meeting held in April 2006. The panel had been asked to meet to 
discuss the outcomes from the recent review seminar held in March 2006 and make 
any recommendations arising from the seminar to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
The Committee firstly considered and agreed the recommendations of the Panel. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

(1) That panel chairmen be asked to report back to the O&S committee 
only when: 
 
(i) Standing Panels have commented on a current Executive matter; or 
 
(ii) Panels are formally reporting their findings on an issue in their work 
programme; or 
 

Page 11



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  25 May 2006 

(iii) They are seeking changes to their memberships, working practices, 
terms of reference, reporting deadlines or any other significant issue; 
 
(2) That the Leader of the Council and other Portfolio Holders should be 
asked to the July Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting, to outline their 
plans for the year ahead (see Overview & Scrutiny Procedure rules 3 (p)); 
 
(3) That Portfolio Holders be asked to attend the O&S meetings prior to 
the Cabinet meetings on an exception basis – members will need to ask 
Democratic Services (through the O&S Committee Chairman) to ask Portfolio 
Holders to attend the O&S committee meeting to discuss any items that relate 
to their portfolio that the committee would like more information on; and 
 
(4) That a separate section of the Members Bulletin to be created to 
update members on the latest work of the O&S panels, Chairmen of the 
panels are to be requested to supply any updates they think appropriate – 
also dates of forthcoming meetings should be listed so interested members 
could attend if they so desired. 

 
(5) Recommended that no member should chair more than one panel. 
 
(6) That a list of the various panels and a brief description of their terms of 
reference be placed in the Members Bulletin to inform members of the 
proposed programme for next year indicating that they should contact their 
Group Leader regarding nominations. 
 

 
(7)  That reports and investigations should include: 
 
(a) Details of evidence gathered and reasons for decisions; 
 
(b) Conclusions that can demonstrate outcomes for further consideration 
and the annual report;  
 
(8) That a common format for reports of Panels be devised by Democratic 
Services. 

 
  

(9) That no later than six months after a Task and Finish panel has 
finished, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee should undertake a review to 
revisit the outcomes and progression of the recommendations made; 
 
(10) That Standing panels be asked to review their own recommendations 
on a six monthly basis; 
 
(11) That a rolling record of outcomes be established to keep a continuous 
record of recommendations made and the outcomes of those 
recommendations; and 
 
(12) That the Annual Report to be sent out to Town and Parish Councils, 
local libraries and to each newly elected member. 

 
(13) That O&S should be more proactive in requesting Public Relations to 
publicise Scrutiny; 
 

Page 12



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  25 May 2006 

(14) That an item to be added to the end of each agenda to remind 
chairmen to agree at their meeting if anything covered at that meeting needed 
to be publicised; and 
 
(15) That Public Relations be requested to produce a draft publicity plan for 
consideration by Overview and Scrutiny. 

 
 
(b) ROLLING RECORD OF OUTCOMES 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee then considered the draft Rolling Record of 
outcome form as recommended by the Overview and Scrutiny Review Panel and 
agreed above. It was envisaged that this form would be used to monitor actions 
taken and highlight areas where actions are required. The form would be sent to 
Heads of Service and other officers involved in the process and issued in the section 
to be set up in the Members Bulletin for Scrutiny News. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the draft Rolling Record of Outcomes Form be adopted. 

 
10. WORK PROGRAMME MONITORING  

 
(a) Progress Report 
 
Environmental and Planning Standing Panel 
 
Councillor David Stallan, Chairman of the Environmental and Planning Services 
Standing Panel reported on their last meeting held on 13 April 2006.  
 
The Panel received a presentation from Keith Lawson from Essex County Council 
who was there to discuss the re-use of buildings in the Green Belt.  
 
The panel had also agreed to set up a sub group to undertake fact finding visits on 
Neighbourhood and Community Wardens and it would be open to any member who 
wished to attend. An invitation would be put in the Members Bulletin. 
 
Finance and Performance Management Standing Panel 
 
In the absence of Councillor A Green, the Senior Democratic Services Officer 
reported that the meeting held on 25 April 2006 had approved the format and 
structure of the Councils Draft Best Value Performance Plan 2006/07, with the 
exception that the Customer Charter be placed nearer the front of the document. 
 
(b) Updated Schedule 
 
The Committee noted the updated schedules. 
 
(c) New Request for Consideration 
 
The committee reviewed the new requests for consideration making the following 
allocations. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

Page 13



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  25 May 2006 

(1) That the Review of Civic Ceremonial be allocated to the Constitutional 
and Members Services Standing Panel; 

 
(2) That the size of wheeled bins proposal be allocated to the 
Environmental and Planning Standing Panel – it was noted that this was not 
to scrutinise the principle of having wheeled bins, just the size of the bins and 
the recycling of aluminium foil. Councillor Cohen made a plea that the public 
be encouraged to shred their paper waste to avoid the possibility of identity 
theft; and 

 
(3) That the review of Cabinet Arrangements be allocated to the 
Constitutional and Members Services Standing Panel. 

 
11. CABINET AGENDA - 5 JUNE 2006  

 
Councillor Mrs Whitehouse expressed concern about item 11 on the Cabinet agenda 
‘Proposals for Re-tendering the Car Parking Contract’, in so far that no members 
input had been sought and she asked that the Portfolio Holder be asked to attend a 
future meeting of the Town Centre and Car Parks Task and Finish Panel to discuss 
the proposed contract. 

CHAIRMAN
 

Page 14



 3

Report to Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 
Date of meeting: 6 July 2006 
 
 
 
Subject:  Proposed Merger of Bedfordshire, Essex 
and Hertfordshire Police Areas – Consultation 
 
 
Officer contact for further information:  Simon Hill 
 
Committee Secretary:  Simon Hill (ext 4249) 
 
 
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
(1) To receive a presentation from Councillor Robert Chambers, Chairman of the Essex 
Police Authority on proposals for merger of the Essex, Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Police 
Areas; and 
 
(2) To consider, if any, the Council’s response to the formal consultation by the Home 
Office on the proposed merger proposals. 
  
Report: 
 
On 11 April 2006 the Council received formal notification of the Home Offices intention to 
make an order to amalgamate the Bedfordshire, Essex and Hertfordshire police areas with 
effect from 1 April 2008. 
 
This proposal is subject to formal consultation until 11 August 2006. 
 
The following documents are attached as background information: 
 
(1) Notice of Proposed Merger and consultation arrangements letter dated 11 April 2006; 
and 
 
(2) Report on the reasons why the Home Secretary proposes merger. 
 
Having considered the presentation and these background documents the Committee has 
the option of making representations directly to the Home Office. 
 
Background: 
 
The proposals for the amalgamation of many police force areas is the response of the Home 
Office to a report of Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) published on 15 
September 2006. This review1 , led by Dennis O’Connor CBE, QBM outlined the findings of 
the HMIC that (in their view): 
 
•  The current ‘43 force structure was no longer fit for purpose’ and ‘in the interests of 
the efficiency and effectiveness of policing it should change’; 
 
•  There is a correlation between force size and ability to provide effective protective 
                                                 
1 report at: http://inspectorates.homeoffice.gov.uk/hmic/inspect_reports1/thematic-
inspections/closinggap05.pdf?view=Binary 

 Agenda Item 5

Page 15



 4

services. Forces under 4000 police officers or 6000 staff in total tended to fall some way 
short of the required standards; 
 
•  There were a range of options considered but in HMIC’s professional view the best 
business solution was a reconfigured service based on strategic forces of sufficient size to 
provide both effective neighbourhood policing and protective services. 
 
The report also highlighted a number of weaknesses in the current structure which included: 
 
•  At the time of inspection only 13 of the 43 forces had fully resourced Major Incident 

Teams; 
 
•  Less than 6% of over 1500 organised crime gangs are targeted by police in the course 

of a year; 
 
•  The inspectorate’s report said that some forces’ ability to deal with terrorist or domestic 

extremist incidents would be strained within a matter of hours; 
 
•  At the time of inspection only 7 out of 43 forces deployed special branch alongside 

neighbourhood teams to capture community intelligence; 
 
•  Some officers have several crisis management roles that conflict – for example an 

officer leaving a fatal traffic accident to go to a firearms incident because no other 
trained person was available; a ports officer having to leave to man a surveillance 
operation; 

 
•  Some forces have no independent armed response capacity at some times of the day 

and rely on the ability of neighbouring forces to deploy outside their normal force area; 
 
•  Only two forces, (the two with greatest officer strength), scored well in the HMIC’s 

assessment of their ability to handle major and serious crimes. All other forces fell 
significantly short of what HMIC believe is required in this area; 

 
•  Too many forces fail to supply enough good intelligence to the National Criminal 

Intelligence Service (NCIS) to help them pursue organised criminals; 
 
•  Closing the Gap work on the risks facing police forces today found an increased 

presence of organised criminal networks spreading outside our cities 
 
Views expressed by other Authorities: 
 
Essex Police Authority is taking legal advice about the possibility of bringing a judicial 
review to challenge the proposals. It is also undertaking a public consultation about the 
proposals which includes a discussion at the local Police and Community Consultative Group 
on 24 July 2006.(Venue TBA) 
 
Hertfordshire Police Authority rejected the proposals for a voluntary merger at a meeting of 
their Police Authority on 31 March 2006. They are likewise currently carrying out a public 
consultation and will consider the results on 21 July 2006. 
 
Bedfordshire Police Authority rejected the proposals for a voluntary merger at a meeting of 
their Police Authority on 4 April 2006 stating that there was no natural link to Essex and that 
to have a police area with two international airports was potentially problematic. 
 

Page 16



 5

Essex County Council2 voted in favour of retaining a county based force in December 2005 
and has recently pledged to continue to oppose the proposal. 

                                                 
2 See relevant motion of ECC at: 
http://agendas.essexcc.gov.uk/ComadDocuments/Meeting/1007/061205%20Minutes.pdf 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



Amalgamation of Bedfordshire, 
Essex and Hertfordshire police 

Contents

1. Context.......................................................................................................................2

2. Design considerations for reform ...........................................................................3

3. Bedfordshire, Essex and Hertfordshire ..................................................................3

4. The overall case for change: protecting the public in the 21st century................3

5. Benefits of change....................................................................................................3

5.1 Summary table of benefits resulting from better protective services ....................................3

Annex A: Review Methodology and Stakeholder Engagement ......................................3

Stakeholder Engagement................................................................................................................3

Development of business cases by forces and authorities (Oct – Dec 2005) .................................3

Annex B: Monitoring and success measures ..................................................................3

Annex C: Options considered and discounted by forces ...............................................3

Page 23



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 2 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

1. Context  

In response to growing concern from within the police service about an emerging gap in tackling 
serious cross border crime, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) were commissioned 
in June 2004 to provide their professional assessment of whether the existing force structure is fit 
for purpose in the 21st Century.

HMIC conducted an assessment of the protective services provided by police forces, namely 
serious, organised and cross-border crime, counter terrorism and domestic extremism, civil 
contingencies and emergency planning, critical incident management, major crime (homicide), 
public order and strategic roads policing. These are also known as Level 2 services. 

For all protective services, neighbourhood policing provides the key link between the communities 
which provide crucial intelligence and the specialist teams which can act on the intelligence. As 
Metropolitan Police Commissioner Sir Ian Blair stated after the terrorist attacks of 7 July, "It is the 
communities that defeat terrorism, not the police". Locally responsive policing is at the heart of 
providing a good service to communities, from dealing with alcohol-related disorder at the 
neighbourhood level, to providing the information which breaks an international drug trafficking 
organisation.  

Each protective service requires continuous work by police forces to gather intelligence, develop 
prevention strategies and to plan and rehearse how the force would respond in an emergency 
situation. The diverse and sophisticated nature of the threat from terrorism and organised criminality 

                                                
1
 Kent, 23 December 2005, ‘Closing the Gap: Stage Three Response’, Appendix 1 p.95 

Protective services 

Counter terrorism and domestic extremism 
As well as responding to major incidents such as the 
7 July attacks, forces need to be equipped to 
undertake ongoing intelligence and preventive work 
against terrorists and extremists, including for 
example animal rights extremists, extreme right-wing 
organisations and others. 

Serious, organised and cross-border crime 
This can take many forms including people and drug 
trafficking, credit card fraud and identity theft, trade in 
counterfeit goods and trade in firearms. 

Critical incident management 
These are incidents where the effectiveness of the 
police response may have a significant impact on the 
confidence of the victim, their family, and/or the 
community. As one force noted in their business 
case, “Certain incidents such as suspicious 
unexplained death, homicide, incidents requiring 
police firearms response etc. will by their very nature 
always be critical incidents.”

1

Major crime (homicide) 
Major crime includes homicide and serial or serious 
sex offences, but must also consider issues such as 
domestic violence and child protection issues which 
sometimes precede major crimes. 

Public order 
The police are required to ensure public safety at 
planned events, (for example a party conference), 
and wherever public disorder occurs (for example at 
a football match) they must protect the public and 
restore order in a manner reasonable and 
proportionate. 

Civil contingencies and emergency planning 
Forces must ensure that there is an effective 
capability to identify, analyse and assess all potential 
threats that may seriously damage human welfare, 
the environment or the security of the UK or a place 
in the UK. Examples of civil contingencies include 
flooding, outbreaks of disease such as Foot and 
Mouth, or a spill of hazardous material. 

Strategic roads policing 
Policing the road network in a strategic way should 
protect the national road infrastructure from threats 
posed by terrorism, disrupt criminals using the roads, 
confront anti-social behaviour, and make our roads 
safer and accessible for users, reducing the risk of 
death and injury.

Page 24



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 3 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

demands a response from the police service which goes beyond reactive management of events; a 
21st century police service needs to ‘predict and prevent’.  

In the final report to the Home Secretary (edited version published on 15th September 2005 and 
available at http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/hmic/new.htm) HMIC outlined their ‘stark’ findings: 

 The current ‘43 force structure is no longer fit for purpose’ and ‘in the interests of the efficiency 
and effectiveness of policing it should change’;  

 There is a correlation between force size and ability to provide effective protective services. 
Forces under 4000 police officers or 6000 staff in total tended to fall some way short of the 
required standards; 

 There were a range of options considered but in HMIC’s professional view the best business 
solution was a reconfigured service based on strategic forces of sufficient size to provide both 
effective neighbourhood policing and protective services. 

The confidential national assessment of protective services found that only two forces reached a 
standard of 3 (on a scale of 1-4 with 4 being the highest) across all seven protective services. No 
force scored 4 overall. More detail is provided on the assessments in section 4.  

Below are some of the weakness set out in Closing the Gap:

 At the time of inspection only 13 of the 43 forces had fully resourced Major Incident Teams; 

 Less than 6% of over 1500 organised crime gangs are targeted by police in the course of a year; 

 The inspectorate’s report said that some forces’ ability to deal with terrorist or domestic extremist 
incidents would be strained within a matter of hours; 

 At the time of inspection only 7 out of 43 forces deployed special branch alongside neighbourhood teams 
to capture community intelligence; 

 Some officers have several crisis management roles that conflict – for example an officer leaving a fatal 
traffic accident to go to a firearms incident because no other trained person was available; a ports officer 
having to leave to man a surveillance operation; 

 Some forces have no independent armed response capacity at some times of the day and rely on the 
ability of neighbouring forces to deploy outside their normal force area; 

 Only two forces, (the two with greatest officer strength), scored well in the HMIC’s assessment of their 
ability to handle major and serious crimes. All other forces fell significantly short of what HMIC believe is 
required in this area; 

 Too many forces fail to supply enough good intelligence to the National Criminal Intelligence Service 
(NCIS) to help them pursue organised criminals;

2

Closing the Gap work on the risks facing police forces today found an increased presence of organised 
criminal networks spreading outside our cities.

3

                                                
2

“…for a number of years…too many forces have not supplied adequate and appropriate [organised 
criminality] intelligence to NCIS” Closing the Gap 

Levels 1-3 (adapted from The National Intelligence Model, NCIS, 2000) 

Level 1: Local issues – usually the crimes, criminals and other problems affecting a basic command unit or 
small force area. The scope of the crimes will be wide ranging from low value thefts to great seriousness such 
as murder. The handling of volume crime is a particular issue at this level

Level 2: Cross Border issues – usually the actions of a criminal or other specific problems affecting more 
than one Basic Command Unit (BCU). Problems may affect a group of BCUs, neighbouring forces or a group 
of forces. 

Level 3: Serious and Organised Crime – usually operating on a national and international scale, requiring 
identification by proactive means and response primarily through targeting operations by dedicated units and 
a preventative response on a national basis 

Page 25



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 4 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

Following these findings the Home Secretary wrote to Chief Constables and Chairs of Police 
Authorities on 22 September 2005 to ask that they, in consultation with criminal justice and local 
government partners, come forward with proposals for restructuring in each region which would 
enable the police service to deliver protective services to national minimum standards without 
adversely impacting on the provision of policing services at Level 1. 

2. Design considerations for reform 

The Home Secretary’s letter to Chief Constables and Chairs of Police Authorities set out design 
criteria for proposals, drawn from the design considerations identified in Closing the Gap4.

The design criteria were selected to support delivery of the three core responsibilities of policing 
identified by HMIC in Mind the (Level 2) Gap and Closing the Gap:

1. Support for local and neighbourhood policing 

2. Provision of protective services to national standards 

3. Modern and affordable support services and strategic development

In addition proposals must ensure that the structure is ‘future-proofed’ against growing demand at 
Level 2. 

Design criteria for proposals (from the Home Secretary’s letter of 22 September 2005) 

The following are a range of factors which need to be considered in assessing the options for 
restructuring to meet the gap in protective services identified in the HMIC report. 

1. Size – to what extent do the proposals for restructuring create units of sufficient size (the HMIC 
report gave an indicative figure of a minimum of 4000 officers or 6000 total staff) to provide the 
necessary capacity and resilience in the provision of protective services to meet both current 
and future demands for such services? 

2. Mix of capability and reduction in risk – to what extent do the prospective partnerships bring 
together forces with complementary strengths in addressing volume crime and the provision of 
protective services? To what extent will they enable performance in relation to both to be 
improved?

3. Criminal markets– to what extent do the proposals take cognisance of the underlying criminal 
markets and patterns of cross-border criminality in the areas concerned?  

4. Geography – to what extent do the proposals recognise and take account of particular 
challenges posed by the geography of the proposed force area and the transport links and 
working patterns within it? 

5. Co-terminosity – to what extent do the proposals reflect established political and partners 
boundaries or, alternatively, support the case for the realignment of the boundaries of other 
partner agencies so that the benefits of coterminosity can be preserved? The very strong 
starting presumption will be that any new force areas should not subdivide an existing force 
area between two or more new forces and that new force areas should not cross government 
office regional boundaries (it follows that very compelling arguments would need to be 
submitted in support of any merger proposals which went contrary to these presumptions).  

                                                                                                                               
3
 “One of the striking conclusions of the work to quantify the risks facing forces is the emerging picture over 

the extent to which organised crime has stretched its tentacles beyond our cities. This has not been evident in 
information passed to NCIS previously, where only a limited number of forces have provided intelligence.” 
Closing the Gap 
4
 Summarised in Closing the Gap at pp.13-14 

Page 26



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 5 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

6. Identity – to what extent do the proposals build on strong historical or regional identities? 

7. Clarity of command and control and accountability – to what extent are the proposed 
governance arrangements for any new entity clear and unambiguous? 

8. Performance – to what extent do the proposals for restructuring minimise any risks to current 
performance during the transitional period and support further improvements in performance 
over the medium term? (Assessments under this heading should be made against the statutory 
performance indicators.)  

9. Costs and efficiency – to what extent will the proposals minimise the costs of change and 
maximise efficiency savings? 

Proposed options will need to demonstrate not only how the proposed arrangements 
outperform current ones, but also how they would outperform alternative options. 

In addition to considering these criteria, the Home Office is conducting a race and diversity impact 
assessment to understand any impacts of police amalgamations on BME communities and other 
groups which might be affected. 

3. Bedfordshire, Essex and Hertfordshire 

The protective service assessment of the options for the Eastern Region identified mergers of 
Cambridgeshire, Norfolk and Suffolk, and Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire and Essex as the options 
most likely to achieve national standards in protective services and to deliver clear benefits for the 
efficiency and effectiveness of policing in these areas. The cost benefit analysis has identified that 
the proposals are financially robust.  

Details of the protective service methodology can be found at Annex A. Four options were 
considered; the merger arrangement recommended above; an alternative split pairing Norfolk, 
Suffolk and Essex, and Cambridgeshire, Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire; a three-force split joining 
Cambridgeshire, Norfolk and Suffolk, Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire with Essex as a stand alone 
force; and federated arrangements including Cambridgeshire.  

Current forces
Force
size

(police

Population
Area

(square
miles)

Rural/Urban 
composition

Page 27



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 6 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

officers)
Urban Rural

Bedfordshire 1,232 576,218 475 20% 80%

Essex 3,230 1,635,605 1,415 26% 74%

Hertfordshire 2,145 1,041,319 632 40% 60%

Recommended
option:

Strategic Force 

Force
size

(police
officers)

Population
Area

(square
miles)

Rural/Urban 
composition

Bedfordshire, 
Essex & 
Hertfordshire

6,607 3,253,142 2,522 28% 72%

Current position 

“As with any other small force there are gaps in relation to protective services.” 

Outline Business Case, Bedfordshire, December 2005, p.19 

 “…there would be clear advantages in sharing good practice and knowledge within more 
strategic forces…”  Business Case, Essex, December 2005, p.72 

 “… ‘no change is not an option’ in relation to the provision of Protective Services in the Eastern 
region” Paper by Hertfordshire Chief Constable, December 2005, p.7 

The HMIC confidential national assessment of protective services found that within the six forces of 
the Eastern Region (Cambridgeshire, Suffolk, Norfolk, Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire and Essex) no 
force alone attained national standards in protective service provision.  The assessments identified 
key weaknesses across the three domains of intelligence, prevention and enforcement activity. Of 
the six forces Essex demonstrated higher levels of enforcement capability but the assessment still 
concluded that overall its performance in protective services was below national standards. Force 
performance across the region underpins the need for change. Existing and positive collaborative 
relationships in respect of protective service provision were apparent between the forces which 
would fall into a Northern merger (Norfolk, Suffolk and Cambridgeshire). This collaboration was 
noted to be of benefit by the HMIC assessors and should be considered in building the case for 
increasing strategic capability and capacity in the region.  

Recommended option: Southern Force merger (Essex, Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire) 

1. Protective service assessment summary 

It is acknowledged that two viable options exist within this region for two strategic forces comprising 
either a North / South split (Northern:  Norfolk, Cambridgeshire and Suffolk.  Southern:
Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire and Essex) or an East / West split (Eastern:  Norfolk, Essex, Suffolk.  
Western:  Cambridgeshire, Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire).  It is acknowledged that both proposals 
would provide the realistic prospect of delivering protective services to national standards. The 
financial cases for the two proposals and the general policing case do not distinguish greatly 
between the two.  Determining factors in reaching a final recommendation were; the level of current, 
well established collaboration arrangements across the three counties (Norfolk, Suffolk and 
Cambridgeshire) and the best fit with criminal markets.  It is also acknowledged that whichever new 
force contains Essex will be the stronger force due to its performance and exposure to risk.        

Page 28



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 7 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

The option which provides a logical fit for criminal markets and builds on existing collaborative 
arrangements was the two strategic force arrangement of a new Northern force (comprising a 
merger of Norfolk, Cambridgeshire and Suffolk) and a new Southern force (comprising a merger of 
Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire and Essex).   

The HMIC confidential national assessment of protective services in respect of Essex, 
Bedfordshire, and Hertfordshire overall found that none of the forces were able to demonstrate 
national standards across the range of the seven protective services, in particular serious and 
organised and counter terrorism. Essex was identified as the strongest of the three forces, 
particularly in preventative and enforcement activity. None of the forces performed well in respect of 
intelligence. An area of strength across the three forces was preventative and enforcement activity 
within roads policing. 

The implications for each of the protective services are as follows:  

a. Assessed for each protective service 

Major Crime:  At the time of the assessments, both Essex and Hertfordshire had established Major 
Incident Teams, in contrast to Bedfordshire which relied upon abstracting staff from BCUs to 
support major investigations. The merger of the three forces will build exposure and capacity in 
major crime to address the current shortfall in proactivity and ensure that gaps in resourcing are 
addressed across the new force area. In terms of major crime this amalgamation will provide a 
realistic prospect of achieving national standards and improving intelligence, prevention and 
enforcement activity.

Serious and Organised Crime:  Whilst Essex and Hertfordshire were able to demonstrate some 
limited proactive capability in this activity, Bedfordshire demonstrated a reactive response in relation 
to prevention and enforcement. The merger, and its profile of investment in this area, will provide a 
realistic prospect of increasing exposure, capacity and capability to meet national standards. It will 
reduce boundaries and should improve intelligence sharing, to understand and target criminal 
markets. 

Critical Incidents: Essex, Hertfordshire and Bedfordshire did not reach national standards in their 
HMIC Protective Service assessments. No force offered more than limited proactivity in terms of 
critical incident management, except Essex who demonstrated significant proactivity in the 
enforcement element. The merger of the three forces will create a force of sufficient size to offer 
potential to deliver to national standards and increased capability through shared exposure to risk.    

Civil Contingencies: None of the three forces were unable to demonstrate any more than limited 
proactivity in this area. The merger of the three forces will provide a force of sufficient size to deliver 
to national standards. It will draw on current expertise and collaboration arrangements, in particular 
expertise gained in planning and preparation for emergency procedures for the capital.   

Public Order:  Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire were unable to demonstrate anything other than 
limited proactivity across all three elements of this activity. In contrast, Essex demonstrated 
significant proactivity in both prevention and enforcement activity. The new force will provide a 
strong public order capability, with increased resilience and exposure to risk. The expertise within 
Essex provides confidence that this merger will offer the opportunity to deliver this service to 
national standards.  

Roads Policing: All three forces demonstrated significant prevention and enforcement capability, 
although all shared a common weakness in the intelligence element, which showed only limited 
proactivity. The merger of the three forces offers the potential to address the area of weakness, 
whilst building upon current strong performance in this area. 

Counter Terrorism:   Essex, Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire did not reach national standards in 
their HMIC Protective Service assessments with each force offering no more than limited 
proactivity. Hertfordshire provided only reactive capability in terms of intelligence, prevention and 

Page 29



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 8 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

enforcement.  Whilst the merger of three forces offers the opportunity to increase capability and 
capacity in this area the assessment recognised that there may be a requirement for this service to 
be delivered on a regional basis.  

b. Assessed against the design criteria 

Size: The three forces together would meet the establishment criteria providing a force of 6,607 
police officers and a total establishment of 11,225 staff.  The merger offers clear opportunities to 
increase capacity and resilience. 

Mix of capability and reduction in risk: The merger of these three forces will draw together 
existing expertise and exposure to risk in the current forces. It is recognised that this area presents 
a higher profile of risk than its Northern counterpart. There are opportunities presented through 
existing collaborations in the region (in areas such as civil contingencies) to improve expertise by 
increased exposure. Within the proposed Southern area merger there are also examples of good 
practice which also offer the prospect of further improving service delivery, (particularly in respect of 
Essex’s performance in civil contingencies, public order, major crime and roads policing).

Criminal markets: The two strategic force arrangements which provide for new Northern and 
Southern forces provide the most logical fit for understanding and proactively addressing criminality 
within the region.  There are clear links between Norfolk and Cambridgeshire and the resulting 
Southern strategic force has clear links with criminality emanating from London.

Geography:  The north/south split of this region does not appear to present any key geographic or 
transport issues. 

Coterminosity:  The three forces within this Southern force proposal sit within the Government 
Office boundary and share common boundaries.   

Identity:  The three forces involved in this merger share some collaboration arrangements and 
share criminal market issues.   

Clarity of command and control and accountability:  The three force merger in the southern part 
of the region will reduce boundaries and provides clearer lines of responsibility and accountability 
than currently. 

Performance:  As with the Northern force, the Southern force merger also provides the opportunity 
to improve performance within the protective services. In particular the increase in capacity in areas 
of serious and organised and major crime will help to move the new force towards delivering 
protective services to national standards. Whilst much of the improvement may be derived from 
brigading resources together, the investment planned in this merger provides increased resilience 
to protect neighbourhood policing.

Costs and efficiency: This criteria is considered below.  

2. Summary of financial assessment  

Business cases received from forces and authorities in December 2005 set out the level of costs 
and savings they expected to result from amalgamations.  A team of independent consultants 
experienced in mergers worked with the forces and authorities to ensure that these estimates were 
robust and to make adjustments where necessary.  These are indicative, more work will be done to 
refine the plans and projected costs and savings as the merger is implemented. 

To amalgamate Essex, Hertfordshire and Bedfordshire is projected to cost around £29 million. This 
cost will cover, for example, bringing together IT systems of the different forces, investing in 
supplies and services, and ensuring that any redundancies including those at senior level are 
handled fairly.

Page 30



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 9 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

Within a few years, the merger will begin to deliver net annual savings, through ongoing reductions 
in IT costs, reductions in police authorities and command teams from three to one, and savings in 
staff through redeployment and some natural wastage. The total annual saving from merging the 
forces is estimated at around £10 million.  

The estimated set-up costs and net savings from amalgamation are as follows: 

£m Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 

Set-up costs for 
amalgamation 

- 11.7 8.5 3.8 2.7 2.7 - - - - - 

Net savings 
projected from 
amalgamation 

- (4.3) (6.6) (9.9) (10.5) (10.5) (10.5) (10.5) (10.5) (10.5) (10.5) 

Options Not Supported 

The matrix below includes a summary of the confidential protective services assessment carried out 
by HMIC.

Option Compliant 
with design 
criteria

Protective services assessment 

East / West 
Split

The east west split of this region also offers the opportunity for 
protective services to be delivered to national standards. The 
difference in policing service to be delivered is not in itself a 
determining factor, nor is the financial case for each, which are 
broadly similar.

The determining factors in these two proposals are criminal markets 
and current collaborative arrangements: The criminal market links 
are clearer with a north/south split in that the southern part of the 
region are more able to identify with criminality emanating from 
London and there are clearer criminal links in the north, in particular 
between Cambridgeshire and Norfolk. The current collaborative 
arrangements of the Three Counties work, between Norfolk, 
Cambridgeshire and Suffolk, provides a foundation upon which to 
build.

Essex 
standalone

This standalone proposal falls short of the minimum resource criteria 
with 3230 police officers and a total establishment of 5748 staff. 
Concerns are raised about the option’s ability to future proof 
protective services to national standards.  Long term resilience is 
therefore an issue.

This option does not support the overall development of regional 
capability and would leave some of its neighbouring forces below 
minimum resourcing criteria and vulnerable in terms of current and 
projected performance.    

Hertfordshire

Bedfordshire 
merger

This merger would create a force of 3402 officers and 5953 total 
staff and is therefore below the minimum criteria. The business case 
does not articulate how the new force would develop its capability, 
capacity and resilience to bridge the gap in protective services. 
There are also concerns about the ability of the option to future proof 
and offer long term resilience in protective service provision.   

Page 31



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 10 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

As there is another viable option within the region which provides 
this level of future resilience along with increased capability and 
exposure to risk, this option is not supported.    

4. The overall case for change: protecting the public in the 21st century 

Closing the Gap conducted a confidential national assessment of protective services, carried out by 
HMIC with the support of key stakeholders. The confidential national assessment found significant 
weaknesses in the provision of protective services in England and Wales. The HMIC review team 
undertook an extensive examination of the 43 forces and produced an assessment for each force 
considering capacity and capability in each protective service based on key indicators in regard to 
intelligence, prevention and enforcement. Capacity in this context refers to the level of resources a 
force has to address an issue; capability refers to the skill and expertise of the force in doing so. 

The review found that only two forces displayed “reactive capability with some proactive capability” 
across all seven protective services.  

No force demonstrated “reactive capability with comprehensive proactive capability” across all 
protective services, although the two largest forces – Greater Manchester Police and the 
Metropolitan Police Service – achieved this for individual dimensions of intelligence, prevention or 
enforcement within a protective service.  

Weaknesses were evident in all of the protective services and especially in the handling of serious 
and organised crime, counter terrorism and public order, and particularly in intelligence across all of 
the protective services.  

Evidence from forces and authorities 

Business cases provided to the Home Office by forces and authorities in many cases 
acknowledged the present and growing challenge of providing strong protective services. As part of 
the consultation and review process, forces and authorities were asked to nominate their own 
protective service panels to score the delivery of protective services in their own organisations. 
HMIC and the Home Office provided a scoring spreadsheet along with guidance to forces and 
authorities to assist them.  

Only five forces scored themselves as currently configured above 75% in delivery of protective 
services. When these scores are regionally averaged, no region as a whole scored above 75% in 
its current configuration.  

These scores were not validated by HMIC and therefore do not include the element of external 
critical challenge which would ensure that they are robust. Given HMIC’s finding that force 
intelligence assessments of the Level 2 threat in their areas often had substantial gaps, these 
scores may overestimate the forces’ capability to deal with the threat. 

A changing policing environment 

Closing the Gap found that the current policing environment is characterised by ‘widespread 
enterprising organised criminality, proliferating international terrorism and domestic extremism; a 
premium on intelligence, expertise and smart use of capacity; and an increasingly risk concerned 
public and intrusive media’.  

In this environment there exists both a greater demand for effective provision of Level 2 services, 
and more intensive scrutiny of the quality of service by the public and media. 

Growing pressure on protective services: Overall crime levels have reduced by 35% since 1997, 
and the chances of being a victim of crime are at their lowest for 20 years. But despite these 

Page 32



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 11 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

successes police forces face some growing challenges: increasingly sophisticated organised 
criminality; a greater terrorist threat; and an increased workload to support partner organisations or 
as new investigative techniques become available. These challenges are likely to get worse rather 
than better if nothing is done to address the problem.  

Following the terrorist attacks of July 7 and 21, anticipated increases in workload caused by 
national and international terrorism over the next 1-5 years has led to a greater investment in this 
area of work by the Security Services. In addition the threshold at which intelligence is passed to 
Special Branches within forces has been lowered. This creates an increased workload for police 
forces which assist the Security Services and provide intelligence. In light of this ACPO have 
advised all forces to strengthen and develop their own Special Branch capability. 

“The anticipated workload in Counter-Terrorism is expected to increase over the next 12-24 
months due to…increase in the size of the Security Services and a corresponding increase in 
workload passed onto the Force.”5

The Government 2004 White Paper on organised crime noted that “…the threat we face from 
organised crime, often operating across international frontiers and in support of international 
terrorism, has probably never been greater”6 and that: 

“Trends in society and the world economy suggest that the threat to the UK from organised 
crime can only increase as criminals seize on new technologies and methods like identity theft 
and as they forge new alliances with international terrorists. We need to ensure our response 
not only keeps pace but stays several steps ahead.” 7

The Home Office estimates the harm caused to the UK by organised crime at over £20 billion 
annually. Combating this is the responsibility not only of specialist agencies such as the Serious 
Organised Crime Agency (SOCA) but also of local forces who play an essential role in providing the 
intelligence which feeds the investigation of organised criminals and in carrying out many of these 
investigations which often fall under Level 2. As the White Paper states,

“Local forces with their links to local communities should be providing the majority of all our 
criminal intelligence.”8

In line with this, Closing the Gap found that the forces with the strongest intelligence pictures on 
terrorism and extremism were those who had Special Branch resources located at BCU level 
providing the necessary ‘bottom-up’ drive to create a fuller picture of activity. 

Closing the Gap raised concerns with the quality of intelligence local forces have relating to 
organised criminal activity. HMIC’s assessment of risk around the country researched for the report 
revealed organised criminality in force areas previously thought to be low risk.  

This picture is supported by the rise in Class A drug offences over the past ten years, from 13,910 
in 1995 to 36,350 in 2004. Although overall drug offences fell 21% between 2003 and 2004, from 
133,970 to 105,570, Class A drug offences rose by 2% over the same period.9

Similarly, although the use of firearms in committing crime remains extremely rare (0.2% of all 
recorded crime excluding air weapons), the five years to 2003/04 has seen the number of recorded 
crimes involving a firearm almost double.10 An HMIC study found that from 1992 to 2003/04 the 
number of operations where police officers were issued with firearms increased from under 5,000 to 
more than 17,000. The most recent threat assessment from the National Criminal Intelligence 

                                                
5
 Kent Appendix 1 p.88 

6
 One Step Ahead: A 21st Century Strategy to Defeat Organised Crime, March 2004 p.1 

7
 One Step Ahead: A 21st Century Strategy to Defeat Organised Crime, March 2004 p.2 

8
 One Step Ahead: A 21st Century Strategy to Defeat Organised Crime, March 2004 p.27 

9
 HOSB 23/05, ‘Drug Offenders in England and Wales 2004’ Mwenda, December 2005 

10
 Crime in England and Wales 2003/04: Supplementary Volume 1: Homicide and Gun Crime, Povey, 2005  

Page 33



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 12 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

Service reported a shift in some cases of Class A drugs markets from metropolitan areas to smaller 
towns and cities following market saturation or successful law enforcement tactics, and noted that, 
“where newly arrived criminal groups have threatened the position of existing dealers, possession 
and use of firearms has begun to escalate.”11

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

1992-93 1993-94 1994-95 1995-96 1996-97 1997-98 1998-99 1999-00 2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04

Total Burglary

Vehicle crime
(theft of and from
vehicles)
Robbery

999 Calls

Heroin 
No. Seizures

Cocaine 
No. Seizures

Crack 
No. Seizures

BCS Disorder - Noisy
neighbours

BCS Disorder -
Teenagers

BCS Disorder - Litter

BCS Disorder -
Vandalism

BCS Disorder -
Racism

BCS Disorder - Drugs

VOLUME CRIME DOWN; ORGANISED CRIME UP

This evidence combines to form a picture of a threat likely to increase further if not addressed 
through improved capacity and capability of local police forces, the key partners in provision of 
intelligence and very often in terms of the response. 

Partner relationships: Police responsibilities and relationships with other agencies have changed 
as part of the drive for continuous improvement in the fight against crime. These changes provide 
opportunities to improve services further in the light of restructuring but also have implications for 
the workload of police forces in the future. 

The creation of the Serious Organised Crime Agency and transfer of responsibilities from the 
National Crime Squad and National Criminal Intelligence Service has changed the policing 
landscape in terms of the UK’s ability to tackle organised criminal gangs operating at the national 
and international level. As police forces and authorities have noted in their business cases; and as 
ACPO noted in its most recent strategic assessment, SOCA will require increased assistance and 
intelligence from police forces in order to successfully combat serious organised crime, 
representing an additional claim on resources. 

“The creation of SOCA will increase demand for Level 2 resources.”12

 “…the introduction of a new national law enforcement agency, the Serious Organised Crime 
Agency (SOCA), may place additional demands on the police service to address national-level 
crimes and may draw resources away from middle-level cross-border crimes.”13

In addition, as Closing the Gap noted, the transition from NCIS and NCS to SOCA, which will not 
cover all of the same issues, may potentially create a vacuum of resources and expertise. The 

                                                

11 NCIS UK Threat Assessment 2004/5 – 2005/6 
12 East Midlands December 2005 business case p.39 
13

 ACPO 2004 National Strategic Assessment p.3 

Page 34



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 13 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

report noted that this is “evident in the current reliance on the NCS to provide the more 
sophisticated surveillance, a controller for kidnap and extortion, and support for special command 
centres”.14

Similarly, Operation ‘Reflex’, which is a Home Office led project managed via the Director General 
of the Serious Organised Crime Agency (SOCA), and which focused on countering organised 
immigration crime and human trafficking, will provide funding for police forces only until March 
2008, after which this work should be absorbed into the regular work of strategic forces.  

Forces will need to be able to access the specialist expertise and the resources to address these 
demands themselves. 

Increasing cost of investigative techniques: Closing the Gap notes that “the costs and 
professional sophistication needed to provide adequate standards of protective services will 
become ever harder to deliver for smaller forces and we now firmly believe that some 
reorganisation of forces and reconfiguration of protective services is inescapable.”15

For example, a joint Home Office, ACPO and CPS stocktake on implementation of the Rape Action 
Plan 2002  found that fewer than ten forces have dedicated rape investigation teams yet these are 
regarded as best practice by ACPO. The ACPO working group on rape has noted that smaller 
forces are less likely to be able to provide these teams.16

In addition the cost of expert services is increasing well ahead of inflation – for example forensics at 
8% per annum. Closing the Gap reported estimates of a rise in forensic costs from £34 million in 
1990 to a predicted £200 million in 2006/7.17

The implication of this for forces is an increased need to share intelligence effectively and to get the 
most from existing resources. As one force noted in their business case: 

“Joining up with regional and international partners will be essential in tackling the technological 
challenges created by the Internet, criminality and technological developments.”18

Bichard Inquiry and IMPACT: The IMPACT programme is a mission critical programme to deliver 
improvements in the way that the police service manages and shares intelligence and other 
operational information. A major catalyst for the Programme was the Bichard Inquiry, set up in 
December 2003 by the Home Secretary following the conviction of Ian Huntley for the murders of 
Holly Wells and Jessica Chapman in Cambridgeshire in 2002. The Inquiry Report found 'systemic 
and corporate failures' in the way in which Humberside Police managed their intelligence systems, 
and found Cambridgeshire Constabulary to be at fault in its failure to request a records check on 
Huntley. The Report made 31 recommendations to address weaknesses in the management of 
information by the police service and the multi-agency provisions for the protection of children. The 
IMPACT Programme is directly addressing 7 of those recommendations. 

More broadly, Sir Michael Bichard noted that the disparate development of local IT systems, many 
of which do not communicate with each other, has inevitably led to real difficulty in accessing all 
relevant information, which has in turn resulted in poorly-informed decision-making.  Police forces 
need to address these problems urgently where they exist. 

As one force noted in their business case for reform: 

                                                
14

Closing the Gap, p.32 
15

Closing the Gap, p.17 
16

 Sept 2005, Home Office/ACPO/CPS, Stock take of implementation of the Rape Action Plan 2002, Results 
Report (unpublished) 
17

Closing the Gap, p.11 
18

 W Mids December 2005 business case Appendix B p.29

Page 35



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 14 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

“Despite both formal and informal collaborative arrangements across the region, the sharing of 
intelligence and management of offenders across boundaries is increasingly challenging without 
organisational unity. The existence of … significant defendant movements illustrates the significant 
gains the single strategic force option would bring to the management of criminality, intelligence and 
performance.”19

The IMPACT Programme aims to develop the business change and technical infrastructure across 
the police service necessary to improve the management and sharing of operational information.  It 
will also secure the longer-term future of the Police National Computer (PNC). IMPACT will enable 
police forces to access more and better quality information on criminals who have crossed force or 
business area boundaries, creating the potential to improve prevention and detection of crime and 
therefore enhance public protection.  

To ensure these benefits are delivered, police forces will need to dedicate greater resources to 
enforcement targeted against those offenders flagged by IMPACT. The system therefore increases 
the demand on force resources in this area and adds to pressure for change to improve handling of 
protective services 

The establishment of fewer, larger forces will support the Bichard implementation work and 
underlying issues since it will offer an opportunity to achieve greater national consistency and good 
practice in the management and handling of information across the police service. Larger strategic 
forces will have the ‘critical mass’ necessary to dedicate specialist expertise to this and are more 
likely to be able to offer teams the necessary level of exposure so that they can embed and improve 
their skills. 

Conversely, IMPACT will assist in force restructuring by providing the technical means of sharing 
information between disparate systems in the amalgamated forces. 

Civil Contingencies Act 2004: Introduced to address the improvements needed in civil protection 
following the fuel crisis and severe flooding in 2000, the Act places duties on forces to identify, 
develop and test plans for vulnerable sites and emergencies. The current forces are in varying 
states of compliance and restructuring provides an opportunity to share expertise across forces and 
to promote progress towards full compliance with the Act. A key aspect of the legislation is the 
requirement for cooperation between a range of partners including police, local authorities, other 
emergency services and NHS bodies.  

5. Benefits of change  

In order to fill the gap and to provide a full range of protective services forces need to have the 
attributes set out below. Increased demands on forces to develop these attributes without 
restructuring would place strains on available resources. To meet the required standard they would 
need extra resources which could only be drawn from resources currently dedicated to Level 1. 
Business cases developed by forces and authorities have consistently flagged this point and the 
views of the forces affected by this business case are quoted in the relevant options assessments 
above.

Closing the Gap found a correlation between size of force and ability to deliver protective services 
to the required standard to fill this gap. Smaller forces were less likely to have the capacity, 
capability and resilience to meet requirements, in particular to do so without abstracting officers 
from neighbourhood policing duties. The analysis, which scored forces from 1-4, found that 
although some smaller forces punched above their weight in terms of performance at Level 2, no 
force demonstrated ‘reactive capability, with comprehensive proactive capability’ (4) across all the 
protective services, and only the two largest forces averaged a rating of ‘reactive capability, with 
some proactive capability’ (3). Only the two largest forces achieved any ratings of 4 at all.

                                                
19

 W Mids Appendix B p.25 

Page 36



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 15 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

Forces which had more than 4,000 officers or 6,000 staff were more likely to be able to demonstrate 
good reactive capability across six of the seven protective services with some proactive capacity 
(the exception to this is strategic roads policing, which did not demonstrate a correlation with size of 
force). It should also be emphasised that the 4,000 threshold is indicative of capacity required 
taking into account growing future demands on the service. Forces which do not meet this threshold 
or which are close to it risk finding themselves inadequately ‘future-proofed’.  

In light of these findings Closing the Gap concluded that:

“Looking ahead the police service needs not only to deal effectively with volume crime, the 
current performance focus, but also have demonstrable readiness to tackle complex, volatile 
threats to individuals, neighbourhoods and businesses. This implies a major development in 
capability and to achieve this, changes must be made not only to the structure, but the whole 
configuration of policing at this level.” (original emphasis) 

Present force size ranges from 881 officers (City of London), to 31,073 officers (Metropolitan Police 
Service), with an average of around 2,500 (calculated excluding the MPS to avoid skewing results). 

At the time of inspection only seven forces met the 4,000 officer threshold: Greater Manchester, 
Merseyside, the Metropolitan Police Service, Northumbria, Thames Valley, West Midlands and 
West Yorkshire. The next largest with around 3,800 and 3,600 officers respectively were Hampshire 
and Kent. 

Increasing size of force alone will not guarantee improvements in protective services delivery; 
restructuring provides an additional opportunity to reconfigure and rebrigade services, to deliver the 
benefits identified below. Strong governance and leadership will be required in order to ensure that 
appropriate standards are met.  Moreover, it is not just size of force per se that is important for 
improving level 2 policing.  The scale of policing operations (in terms of size of population covered) 
will be important for the effective policing of extended criminal networks and counter terrorism. A 
larger scale of operations can also deliver effective level 2 services for larger populations at lower 
cost, a point discussed in more detail below.     

Benefits of restructuring  

The principal benefit from restructuring will be the creation of a higher level of capacity for delivering 
specialist protective services. There are a number of examples of specialist teams that currently 
exist across the different areas of protective services delivery. Examples include: 

• Major Investigation Teams (MITs)  

• Intelligence gathering and preventive policing 

• Armed response teams 

Crucially, specialist teams require a critical mass of police officer numbers in order to be 
operationally effective and in order to provide sufficient organisational “slack” to cope with variability 
in demand. Integrating existing force structures should deliver the necessary critical mass for 
improved specialization by: 

 Enabling a smaller force(s) to integrate with a larger force(s) that has an existing specialist 
protective service team in place.  For this to be effective and efficient it is vital that that 
sufficient capacity exists within existing protective services teams to cope with the additional 
demands that would arise through policing a larger population.     

 Releasing police officer and other staff time from activities that would otherwise be 
duplicated within a newly created strategic force.   

Police force restructuring is not a pre-requisite for improved specialisation. A significant uplift in the 
number of protective service teams operating around the country could be achieved within the 

Page 37



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 16 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

current 43 police force structure. This would either require a significant re-deployment of manpower 
from existing duties (including neighbourhood policing) or growth in police officer numbers. 

The development of increased level 2 specialisation through police force amalgamation has two 
principal advantages: 

• Economies of scale:  restructuring provides an opportunity for delivering an improved level 
of protective services coverage using fewer specialist teams than would be needed to 
deliver better protective services under a 43 force structure. This amounts to a more cost-
effective use of police resources.   

• Economies of scope: Fewer specialist teams will also be in a position to deliver a wider 
scope of service coverage at lower cost.  For example, a single intelligence team would 
have the necessary skills that could be applied to different level 2 policing issues (e.g. 
counter terrorism, monitoring extremism, organised criminal activity).        

• Avoiding under-utilisation of protective service capacity: In a 43 force structure there is 
a risk that specialist teams within certain areas of the country would be significantly under-
utilised given the lower frequency of major crimes and other level 2 incidents expected 
within smaller forces. Police officers can always be redeployed into other tasks while not 
engaging with their primary responsibilities (conducting major crime investigations, 
responding to firearms incidents etc.). However, the higher frequency of engagement that 
would be expected within a larger restructured police force could enhance specialist skills 
development and ultimately level 2 policing performance if specialist policing skills are partly 
accumulated through experience, as might be expected.  

Creating the capacity to implement specialist protective services should not be viewed as an end in 
itself, but as a mechanism for offering the potential for overall improvements in level 2 and 
neighbourhood policing performance.  

The benefits of enhanced specialisation 

Improvements in level 2 performance 

In terms of level 2 policing standards the principal advantages of greater specialisation arise from a 
“division of labour”: specialisation in itself implies less multi-tasking with a greater emphasis on 
skills development in relation to specific aspects of level 2 policing.  In principle this would improve 
the performance and the quality of service delivery, an effect that should be reinforced within larger 
strategic forces given that there is likely to be exposure to a greater volume of level 2 incidents and 
criminal activity: the “learning by doing” effect. 

A greater resilience for neighbourhood policing  

Specialist teams should offer improved resilience against major officer abstractions from 
neighbourhood policing duties.  Large numbers of officers may be required to handle public order 
incidents or major emergencies such as a chemical spill or a terrorist incident. More common than 
such extreme incidents, however, are surges in demand caused by, for example, major crime 
investigations.  

Increasing uncertainty in the demand for protective services will increase the risk of level 1 police 
officer abstractions.  Moreover, there is a tendency for smaller police forces to be faced with a 
larger degree of uncertainty as measured by monthly variability in level 2 related incidents.  For 
example, in forces with over 4000 officers the highest monthly homicide rate is on average 187% 
above average monthly homicide rate; however in forces with under 2000 officers it is 486% above 
the monthly average.20  Uncertainty can be accommodated by building in additional capacity into 

                                                
20

 Variation is high since the numbers involved are very low; however it is precisely the combination of rarity 
and surges in demand which challenges some smaller forces in dealing with this. 

Page 38



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 17 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

MITs and other specialised teams.  However, the smaller the force the greater the difficulty in 
resourcing this “spare” capacity.  Furthermore, lower average levels of demand within forces 
policing smaller populations will mean that additional capacity will be relatively under-used. 

Closing the Gap found that success in handling major crime without impacting on performance and 
capacity at Level 1 largely turns on whether a force has a Major Investigation Team or not. At the 
time of inspection, only 13 of the 43 forces had a fully resourced MIT.  

“Some [forces] have dedicated Major Investigation Teams … whereas others primarily rely upon the 
abstraction of Divisional personnel … Similarly, the investigative support structures … equally differ, 
frequently resulting in disruption to front line policing duties. Collectively, this denies a professional 
approach by skilled personnel to a specialist field of operation, which, if incorrectly managed, not 
only leaves the reputation of a force open to challenge, but has an adverse impact on sustainable 
and improve performance in relation to volume crime.”21

“[Major crime] long term abstractions were causing performance gaps for divisions in terms of 
detective capability.”22

Adequately resourced specialist protective service teams will not guarantee a force complete 
resilience or independence from mutual aid. HMIC are clear that even the largest force, faced with a 
major emergency spread over several sites, would abstract from BCUs and/or request mutual aid. 
However, there is a strong professional belief that specialist protective services, most notably MITs, 
would prevent substantial neighbourhood  police officer abstractions currently experienced by 
smaller forces that have yet to develop a greater level 2 policing capability. Given that there is 
statistical evidence showing that levels of volume crime are responsive to sudden shifts in policing 
manpower, the prevention of significant abstractions occurring for significant periods of time could 
make important contributions to neighbourhood policing performance.  

Cost savings through re-structuring 

Force integration provides an opportunity for rationalising existing support services and command 
structures. It is anticipated that important savings could be delivered across the following business 
areas: HR, IT and communications, finance, procurement, governance, supplies, premises and 
transport.

The achievement of savings in some areas could in principle be delivered without a major 
restructuring of the police service – although the rollout of efficiency programmes such as sharing 
support services across all police forces will be significantly promoted by a reconfigured landscape 
of fewer, more strategic forces.  

However some savings, for example in command teams and those created by bringing together 
protective service teams from different forces, could not be achieved without restructuring. The 
following are some illustrative examples of potential savings brought about through economies of 
scale through restructuring of protective services: 

• Annually recurring savings in delivery of protective services. These savings would derive 
from:

1. Reduction in senior command staff required 

2. Redeployment of staff from one protective service area to another 

3. Utilisation of existing resources to cover a greater area 

                                                
21

East Midlands Submission, 23 December 2005, p.41 

22
Lancashire Final Business Case, December 2005, p.48

Page 39



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 18 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

5.1 Summary table of benefits resulting from better protective services 

Protective 
service 

How do better protective services deliver benefits to the public? 

Major crime 
(homicide) 

Increased use of specialist  
and dedicated teams  

Better management and 
understanding of intelligence 

Clearer direction, leadership  
and scrutiny of major crime 

Consistent, independent review 
mechanisms for the review of  
current and closed cases 

Improvement in quality of investigations without 
adverse impact on Level 1 policing 

Increasing the chances of early intervention and 
prevention of crime 

Increasing the chances of early intervention and 
prevention of crime 

Improving the quality and standards of services 

Counter 
terrorism and 
domestic 
extremism

Improved investment in  
development of intelligence from the 
bottom up, providing intelligence 
capacity at the community level  

Better sharing of information and 
intelligence between forces 

Mechanisms for early  
identification of terrorist  
and extremist activity 

Dedicated specialist  
resources 

Increased awareness  
amongst frontline staff  

Increasing the chances of early intervention and 
prevention of attacks 

Increasing the chances of early intervention and 
prevention of attacks 

Increasing the chances of early intervention and 
prevention of attacks 

Improved capacity to respond to incidents, and 
greater capacity to practise response  

Better and safer response from staff who 
understand the risks, critical issues, and 
responsibilities

Serious and 
organised 
crime 

Increased specialist capacity  

Improved gathering and handling of 
community intelligence 

Better sharing of information 
and intelligence between forces  

A stronger picture of the extent  
of organised crime nationwide 

Improved quality of investigations  

Increased capacity to disrupt organised crime 
groups and prevent crime 

Increased seizure of criminal assets 

Increasing the chances of catching or disrupting 
organised criminals 

Increasing the chances of catching or disrupting 
organised criminals 

Improving our ability to put resources where the 
problems are 

Page 40



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 19 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

Critical
incident 
management 

Dedicated expert capacity 
and increased ability to  
invest in high quality training  

Increased ability to provide  
dedicated firearms units not divided 
between two or more roles 

Proactively gathering and assessing 
community intelligence  

Improving the ability of police forces to gain and 
keep public confidence through improved 
handling of sensitive situations 

Improving the ability of police forces to gain and 
keep public confidence through improved 
handling of sensitive situations 

A better understanding of communities    and 
thereby early identification of tensions within 
and between communities. Enhanced links with 
hard to reach groups/communities.  

Public order Greater resilience 

Forces operate in a state of 
preparedness with appropriate  
and well rehearsed plans  

Greater capacity and  
enhanced expertise 

Increased experience of  
public order commanders / sufficiently 
trained, experienced and equipped 
officers 

Improved gathering and handling  
of community intelligence 

Increased resources to handle public order 
events without impacting on Level 1 policing  

Timely initial and continued response to public 
disorder with minimal impact upon local policing 

Forces consider a wide range of  
situations that have the potential for public 
order rather than the traditional areas.  

Improved quality in handling of public order 
incidents 

Increasing the chance of preventing or 
minimising disturbances early on.  

Civil
contingencies 
and
emergency 
management 

Greater resilience and capacity 

Increased experience of  
emergency commanders 

Increased resources to handle civil 
contingencies 

Increased capacity to rehearse mobilisation 
plans, leading to a swifter and better response 

Improved quality in handling of emergencies.  

Strategic
roads policing 

Greater strategic oversight 

Enhanced resources 
& expertise 

Dedicated expert capacity 

Increased disruption of organised criminals on 
the roads 

Development of preventative measures 
contributing towards casualty reduction.  

Fewer officers taking two or more roles 

Annex A: Review 
Methodology and 
Stakeholder Engagement 

Stakeholder Engagement

Following the Home Secretary’s 
letter of 22 September, the Police 
Structures Review Unit was 
established within the Home Office 
to support forces in developing and 

Police 

Structures 

Review Unit

Stakeholder Group

• Police Federation

• Superintendents Association

• CPOSA

• UNISON

• National Black Police 

Association

• British Association for Women 

in Policing

• Gay Police AssociationWider stakeholders

• DEFRA

• Cabinet Office

• Government Offices

• Audit Commission

• Victim Support

Forces and 

authorities

Local communities 

and stakeholders

Police 

staff

Police 

officers

Steering Group

• APA

• ACPO

• No. 10

• ODPM

• Treasury

• HMCS

• CPS

• OCJR

• NOMS

• Judiciary

• Dept for Transport

• Welsh Assembly

• LGA

• Attorney-General

• DCA

Page 41



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 20 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

assessing options for restructuring. The Review Unit, directed by a Chief Constable and managed 
by the Home Office, also included representatives from the following organisations: 

• Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary 

• Association of Police Authorities  

• Her Majesty’s Courts Service  

• Crown Prosecution Service  

• National Offender Management Service  

• Office of Criminal Justice Reform 

• Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy 

Core stakeholders including the tripartite partners and criminal justice agencies were engaged 
directly in the development of the reform programme throughout as members of the Police 
Structures Review Unit. These agencies were also engaged at a senior level through the 
programme Steering Group alongside other government departments with a direct interest in 
restructuring. Police staff associations have been and will continue to be involved in the process 
through the Stakeholder Group which serves as a two-way channel of communication between 
police staff and officers, and the Police Structures Review Unit.  

At the same time, a wide-ranging review of the potential impacts generated by a move to a smaller 
number of strategic forces across the Home Office and other Government departments was 
conducted by a Home Office team. The review covered over 200 teams across Government who 
have a policy or operational interest in the police, identifying over 500 impacts which have informed 
the cost, benefit and risk assessments of strategic force options, and will be incorporated into 
implementation planning.  

Consultation with local communities and stakeholders has been driven by police forces and 
authorities. Details of how they have done so in each case are available in their individual business 
cases submitted to the Home Secretary in December 2005. 

Development of business cases by forces and authorities (Oct – Dec 2005) 

The Review Unit wrote out to police forces and authorities on 7 October providing guidance on the 
development of business cases and assessment of options. The Review Unit recommended that:

“…each option (which is judged to be viable) should undergo a staged assessment process 
which captures both the service level issues (specifically relating to protective service provision) 
and the strategic organisational requirements to support all aspects of policing.” (Home Office 
Guidance p.4) 

In order to achieve this forces and authorities were provided with a toolkit enabling the application 
of Multi-Attribute Rating Techniques, Cost Benefit and Risk Analysis to assess options. The toolkits 
were based on HM Treasury guidance and refined in conjunction with the Centre for Decision 
making at Leeds University Business School.  They were prepared by a joint Home Office and 
HMIC project team with advice from financial and statistical specialists.  

Assessment of business cases by HMIC/Home Office team (January – February 2006) 

The assessments were undertaken by a panel of Home Office and HM Inspectorate of 
Constabulary experts during January 2006 and moderation took place in early February 2006.   

Page 42



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 21 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

The Panels applied the criteria outlined by the Home Secretary in his letter of 22nd September 2005 
(in respect of size, mix of capability, criminal markets, geography, co-terminosity, identify, clarity of 
command and control, accountability, performance and efficiency) and focused on assessing the 
following issues:

• Predicted ability of each option to meet the national standards in protective service provision 
(as defined by ACPO and HMIC).  

• Each option’s ability to maintain and develop the other key functions of policing, including 
the resilience of neighbourhood policing.    

• Overall strategic fit within the regional and national landscape.  

The Protective Service Panels consisted of Home Office and HMIC professionals with knowledge 
and experience of protective service provision and service inspection.  The Panel process was 
supported by Police Structures Review Unit liaison officers with local knowledge of the context in 
each force and region. The Association of Chief Police Officers and Association of Police 
Authorities were invited to observe the panel process.  The assessments looked at submissions 
from forces and authorities, baseline assessments by HMIC and protective service assessment.  

The findings of the panels were subject to review and moderation by senior Home Office and HMIC 
personnel to ensure that the Home Secretary’s criteria, and panel assessment scores were applied 
in a consistent way.  In respect of protective service provision, the profile of each of the seven 
protective services within each option was assessed and scored on a scale of 1 – 4.  The same 
criteria were used for this assessment as had been used by HMIC for the protective services 
assessment in Closing the Gap, and this is the same test which will be applied when HMIC review 
the performance in delivering protective services following any changes, and will therefore be a test 
of the outcome of any restructuring process.  

The assessment also considered whether options met the Home Office criteria for establishment 
(number of staff) and maintained force, partnership, Government Office and national boundaries, 
and whether the emerging picture provided comprehensive coverage of viable options, to ensure 
that no area would be left with gaps in resilience or capacity. In addition, a final assessment was 
made as to whether an option had local professional support. 

At the same time a group of independent consultants was employed to assist the Police Structures 
Review Unit. Their remit was to assess the outline business cases for change submitted by forces 
and authorities in December 2005.  In particular, they were tasked to assess and report on the 
plans which the cases were based upon and the associated projections for costs and savings. The 
aim was to develop a view of the various options for change submitted by the forces and 
authorities, their robustness and practicality; and to suggest areas for possible adjustment of the 
cases in the light of the assessments made.

In order to achieve this, the consultants worked closely with forces and authorities, with support 
from PSRU Force Liaison Officers and Home Office Analysts.  The consultants also worked with 
PSRU staff to ensure a consistent and coherent national picture was built up, based on emerging 
best practice and operational requirements.  

Annex B: Monitoring and success measures 

Delivery of these objectives will be monitored through the comprehensive Policing Performance 
Assessment Framework and by HMIC’s annual assessment of protective services: 

Enable forces to meet 
the three core 
responsibilities of 
policing:

Success measures Monitoring 

Page 43



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 22 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

1. Support for local and 
neighbourhood policing 

• Continued improvement in reducing 
crime, investigating crime, providing 
assistance and protecting the public 

• Demonstration of local delivery by 
success against local priorities 

• Rollout of the neighbourhood policing 
commitment by 2008 

• Policing Performance 
Assessment 
Framework (PPAF) 

• Local policing domain 
of PPAF, including 
Neighbourhood
Policing Baseline 

2. Provision of protective 
services to national 
standards

• Improvement in delivery of all seven 
protective services 

• Improvement in the ‘strategic 
management’ element of baseline 
assessments 

• PPAF Statutory 
Performance Indicators 

• PPAF Baseline 
assessments 

• HMIC annual 
assessments 

3. Modern and affordable 
support services and 
strategic development  

• Achievement of local efficiency targets 

• Improved efficiency and productivity 

• Force efficiency targets 

• PPAF Statutory 
Performance Indicators 
(under development) 

Ensure that the structure 
is ‘future-proofed’ against 
the growing demand for 
policing at Level 2 

• Increased capability in protective 
services  

• HMIC annual 
assessments 

• PPAF outcome 
focused Statutory 
Performance Indicators 
(such as asset 
recovery)

Page 44



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 23 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

Annex C: Options considered and discounted by forces  

The following only includes those options which were discounted by all forces which considered 
them.

Eastern region  

Option Discounted  Reason 

Bedfordshire, 
Cambridgeshire, Norfolk 
merger :

Essex/Hertfordshire/ 
Suffolk 

Bedfordshire  
Essex  

Lack of fit with criminal market 
Norfolk as a coastal force has little in common with the 
policing approach and identity of Bedfordshire 
No shared border or geographical links between 
Bedfordshire and Norfolk  

Bedfordshire, 
Cambridgeshire, Norfolk, 
Suffolk merger: 

Essex/Hertfordshire 

Bedfordshire  
Essex 
Norfolk  

Lack of fit with criminal markets  
Norfolk and Suffolk as coastal forces have little in 
common with the policing approach and identity of 
Bedfordshire 
No shared border or geographical links between 
Bedfordshire and Norfolk or Suffolk. 
Herts on possible merger with Essex: From an 
operational Hertfordshire perspective any merger must 
involve Bedfordshire, because of the very significant 
impact that Luton has on cross border crime with 
Hertfordshire. No further work has been done on this 
option.

3 force option:  

Bedfordshire  / 
Hertfordshire  

Essex Stand alone / 

Norfolk/Suffolk/Camb 

Bedfordshire 
Norfolk 

Beds – regarding Herts/Beds merger
Insufficient police officer and total staff numbers  
Uncertain fit with the other consequent regional 
strategic force (Norfolk, Suffolk, Cambridgeshire, 
Essex)  

Norfolk Re – 3 strategic forces 
Norfolk Constabulary and Police Authority support the 
Norfolk, Camb and Suffolk amalgamation. 
However, Essex Police consists of 5,385 staff and 
Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Police combined 
consists of 5,639 staff.  Therefore neither meets the 
Home Office design criteria in respect of size a 
minimum of 6,000 total staff.

Bed, Herts, Cambs, 
Essex merger  

Bedfordshire  Insufficient police officer and total staff numbers in the 
other consequent regional strategic force (Norfolk and 
Suffolk)  

Regional Federation of 
forces 

Bedfordshire  
Suffolk  

Not felt viable due to command and control issues  
unlikely that this option would provide efficiency 
savings or investment opportunities 

Bedfordshire /Thames 
Valley

Bedfordshire  Presents a range of implications for criminal justice 
and other agencies 
Would breach Government Office boundaries with no 
compelling reason to do so, since viable options are 
available within the region.  
Not mutually supported; Thames Valley have 
assessed this option and concluded it as less likely to 
deliver protective services to minimum standards than 
other options within their region  

Single Regional Force Although this was viable option there was recognition 
amongst all force/authorities that there were more 

Page 45



Police Force Restructuring 

Page 24 of 24

Issued: 20/03/2006 

effective and viable options for the region.  

Bedfordshire/Cambridges
hire/
Hertfordshire/Norfolk  

Essex/Suffolk 

Essex  Not viable – more effective options that could be 
progressed.  

All Forces stay as they 
are

Norfolk  
Suffolk 
Hertfordshire  

Norfolk: This option was generally not considered 
viable bearing in mind the outcome of the HMIC 
Closing the Gap report in terms of providing the 
necessary level of protective service provision. 
Suffolk in reference to itself: This option fails to meet 
the suggested criteria in terms of officer numbers or 
staff size 
Hertfordshire: Do not have the critical mass to be a 
strategic force 

Beds/Thames Valley  

Herts/Essex  

Norfolk/Suffolk/Cambs 

Norfolk  Although amalgamating Norfolk, Suffolk and 
Cambridgeshire is considered a viable option, there 
was insufficient evidence to support Bedfordshire 
going out of the region in view of the requirement to 
make a ‘compelling case’. 

Collaboration  Suffolk  Problematic as lines of command may be unclear. 
It also failed to meet the suggested police staffing 
criteria.
In addition, this option would provide reduced 
efficiency savings and investment opportunities and 
was not, therefore, investigated further. 

Cambridgeshire merging 
with Lincolnshire and or 
Northamptonshire in 
addition to combinations 
of forces within the 
Eastern Region 

Cambridgeshire Police 
Force

No compelling case could be made for mergers with 
forces outside of the region.  

Page 46



 

Page 47



 

Page 48



 

Page 49



 

Page 50



 

Page 51



 

Page 52



 

Page 53



 

Page 54



 

Page 55



 

Page 56



   

  
EP

PI
N

G
 F

O
R

ES
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T 
C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

  
TH

E 
EX

EC
U

TI
VE

 W
O

R
K

 P
R

O
G

R
A

M
M

E 
20

06
/0

7 
  

(C
O

VE
R

IN
G

 S
TA

TU
TO

R
Y 

PE
R

IO
D

 
JU

N
E 

20
06

 T
O

 J
U

N
E 

20
07

) 
  

IN
C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

N
G

 T
H

E 
FO

R
W

A
R

D
 P

LA
N

 
 

 

(C
O

VE
R

IN
G

 S
TA

TU
TO

R
Y 

PE
R

IO
D

 
JU

N
E 

20
06

 T
O

 S
EP

TE
M

B
ER

 2
00

6)
 

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 57



 
EP

PI
N

G
 F

O
R

ES
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T 
C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 PO
R

TF
O

LI
O

 –
 F

IN
A

N
C

E,
 P

ER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T,

 &
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TE

 S
U

PP
O

R
T 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 

 IT
EM

 
K

EY
 D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
D

A
TE

 O
F 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

TA
K

ER
 

C
O

N
SU

LT
A

TI
O

N
 

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
EN

TS
 

R
EP

R
ES

EN
TA

TI
O

N
 

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
EN

TS
 

B
A

C
K

G
R

O
U

N
D

 
PA

PE
R

S 
Fu

ll 
B

V
PP

 
P

ub
lis

h 
by

 3
0 

Ju
ne

 
20

06
 

5-
Ju

n-
06

 
29

-J
un

-0
6 

C
ab

in
et

 
C

ou
nc

il 
A

ll 
M

em
be

rs
 

S
te

ve
 T

au
tz

 
01

99
2 

56
41

80
 

Fi
le

 p
ap

er
s 

in
 P

M
U

 

C
ou

nc
il 

P
la

n 
A

pp
ro

va
l o

f n
ew

 
fo

rm
at

 a
nd

 c
on

te
nt

 
5 

Ju
ne

 2
00

6 
29

 J
un

e 
20

06
 

C
ab

in
et

 
C

ou
nc

il 
Al

l M
em

be
rs

 
S

ta
nd

in
g 

P
an

el
 

S
te

ve
 T

au
tz

 
01

99
2 

56
41

80
 

Fi
le

 p
ap

er
s 

in
 P

M
U

 

Q
ua

rte
rly

 In
te

rn
al

 
Au

di
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

R
ep

or
ts

 0
5/

06
 

To
 n

ot
e 

pr
og

re
ss

 
ag

ai
ns

t t
he

 A
ud

it 
P

la
n 

17
 J

ul
y 

20
06

 
Fi

na
nc

e 
C

ab
in

et
 

C
om

m
itt

ee
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t B

oa
rd

  
Jo

e 
A

ck
er

m
an

 
01

99
2 

56
44

6 
A

ud
it 

R
ep

or
ts

 a
nd

 
fil

es
 

A
nn

ua
l A

cc
ou

nt
s 

  

A
pp

ro
va

l o
f 

A
cc

ou
nt

s 
19

 J
un

e 
20

06
 

29
 J

un
e 

20
06

 
Fi

na
nc

e 
C

om
. 

C
ou

nc
il 

M
an

ag
em

en
t B

oa
rd

 
B

ob
 P

al
m

er
/P

et
er

 
M

ad
do

ck
 

01
99

2 
56

42
79

 

Fi
le

 p
ap

er
s 

in
 

A
cc

ou
nt

an
cy

 

R
e-

us
e 

of
 P

ub
lic

 
S

ec
to

r 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
R

eg
ul

at
io

ns
 

R
at

ify
 C

or
po

ra
te

 
Po

lic
y 

4-
S

ep
-0

6 
C

ab
in

et
 

O
&

S
 C

on
st

itu
tio

na
l 

A
ffa

irs
 S

ta
nd

in
g 

P
an

el
, 

M
an

ag
em

en
t B

oa
rd

 

Ia
n 

W
ille

tt 
 

01
99

2 
56

42
43

 
Fr

ee
do

m
 o

f 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
Po

lic
y 

 

V
io

le
nc

e 
at

 w
or

k 
A

pp
ro

va
l o

f p
ol

ic
y 

4-
S

ep
-0

6 
C

ab
in

et
 

S
M

T 
Tr

ad
e 

U
ni

on
s 

To
ny

 T
id

ey
 

01
99

2 
56

40
54

 
Fi

le
 p

ap
er

s 
in

 H
R

 

R
ec

ru
itm

en
t a

nd
 

re
te

nt
io

n 
R

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
ac

tiv
ity

/fu
tu

re
 

op
tio

ns
 

18
-D

ec
-0

6 
C

ab
in

et
 

Tr
ad

e 
U

ni
on

s 
To

ny
 T

id
ey

 
01

99
2 

56
40

54
 

Fi
le

 p
ap

er
s 

in
 H

R
 

A
ge

 
D

is
cr

im
in

at
io

n 
R

eg
ul

at
io

ns
 

A
pp

ro
va

l o
f P

ol
ic

y 
4-

S
ep

-0
6 

C
ab

in
et

 
S

M
T,

 T
ra

de
 U

ni
on

s,
 

JC
C

 
To

ny
 T

id
ey

 
01

99
2 

56
40

54
 

Fi
le

 p
ap

er
s 

in
 H

R
 

C
hi

ld
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
Po

lic
y 

A
pp

ro
va

l o
f P

ol
ic

y 
4-

S
ep

-0
6 

C
ab

in
et

 
S

M
T,

 T
ra

de
 U

ni
on

s,
 

JC
C

 
To

ny
 T

id
ey

 
01

99
2 

56
40

54
 

Fi
le

 p
ap

er
s 

in
 H

R
 

W
or

k 
E

xp
er

ie
nc

e 
Po

lic
y 

A
pp

ro
va

l o
f P

ol
ic

y 
4-

S
ep

-0
6 

C
ab

in
et

 
S

M
T,

 T
ra

de
 U

ni
on

s,
 

JC
C

 
To

ny
 T

id
ey

 
01

99
2 

56
40

54
 

Fi
le

 p
ap

er
s 

in
 H

R
 

S
ta

ff 
C

od
e 

of
 

C
on

du
ct

 
A

pp
ro

va
l o

f P
ol

ic
y 

4-
S

ep
-0

6 
C

ab
in

et
 

S
M

T,
 T

ra
de

 U
ni

on
s,

 
JC

C
 

To
ny

 T
id

ey
 

01
99

2 
56

40
54

 
Fi

le
 p

ap
er

s 
in

 H
R

 

 

Page 58



 
EP

PI
N

G
 F

O
R

ES
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T 
C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 PO
R

TF
O

LI
O

 –
 C

U
ST

O
M

ER
 S

ER
VI

C
ES

, M
ED

IA
, C

O
M

M
U

N
IC

A
TI

O
N

S 
&

 IC
T 

 IT
EM

 
K

EY
 D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
D

A
TE

 O
F 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

TA
K

ER
 

C
O

N
SU

LT
A

TI
O

N
 

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
EN

TS
 

R
EP

R
ES

EN
TA

TI
O

N
 

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
EN

TS
 

B
A

C
K

G
R

O
U

N
D

 
PA

PE
R

S 
e-

G
ov

er
nm

en
t 

R
et

ur
n 

6 
R

at
ify

 th
e 

re
tu

rn
 

29
 J

un
e 

20
06

 
C

ou
nc

il 
O

&
S

 C
us

to
m

er
 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
IC

T 
S

ta
nd

in
g 

P
an

el
, 

M
an

ag
em

en
t B

oa
rd

 

A
dr

ia
n 

S
co

tt 
 

01
99

2 
56

44
57

 
IE

G
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
, 

E
O

LP
 B

us
in

es
s 

P
la

n 
 

C
us

to
m

er
 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
Tr

an
sf

or
m

at
io

n 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e 

To
 a

gr
ee

 th
e 

Pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

Pl
an

 
10

 J
ul

y 
20

06
 

C
ab

in
et

 
O

&
S

 C
us

to
m

er
 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
IC

T 
M

an
ag

em
en

t B
oa

rd
 

an
d 

S
en

io
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t T

ea
m

 

A
dr

ia
n 

S
co

tt 
 

01
99

2 
56

44
57

 
C

S
TP

 S
co

pi
ng

 
D

oc
um

en
t 

Si
ng

le
 N

on
 

em
er

ge
nc

y 
N

um
be

r (
SN

E
N

) 

To
 a

gr
ee

 
pa

rtn
er

sh
ip

 
pr

op
os

al
s 

4 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 2
00

6 
C

ab
in

et
 

O
&

S
 C

us
to

m
er

 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

IC
T 

S
ta

nd
in

g 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
B

oa
rd

 

A
dr

ia
n 

S
co

tt 
 

01
99

2 
56

44
57

 
S

N
E

N
 P

ro
gr

am
m

e 
C

on
ce

pt
s 

of
 

O
pe

ra
tio

n 
(H

om
e 

O
ffi

ce
) 

IC
T 

S
er

vi
ce

 
re

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
– 

O
ut

co
m

e 
R

ev
ie

w
 

C
on

si
de

r o
pt

io
ns

 fo
r 

ch
an

ge
 

13
 N

ov
em

be
r 

20
06

 
C

ab
in

et
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t B

oa
rd

 
O

&
S 

C
us

to
m

er
 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
IC

T 
S

ta
nd

in
g 

P
an

el
 

A
dr

ia
n 

S
co

tt 
 

01
99

2 
56

44
57

 
 

e-
G

ov
er

nm
en

t 
R

et
ur

n 
7 

 
R

at
ify

 th
e 

re
tu

rn
 

14
 D

ec
em

be
r 

20
06

 
C

ou
nc

il 
O

&
S 

C
us

to
m

er
 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
IC

T 
S

ta
nd

in
g 

P
an

el
, 

M
an

ag
em

en
t B

oa
rd

 

A
dr

ia
n 

S
co

tt 
01

99
2 

56
44

57
 

IE
G

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

, 
E

O
LP

 B
us

in
es

s 
P

la
n 

U
pg

ra
di

ng
 o

f 
re

cr
ui

tm
en

t 
w

eb
si

te
 

A
pp

ro
va

l o
f 

vi
re

m
en

t 
26

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
06

 
P

or
tfo

lio
 H

ol
de

r 
M

B
 

To
ny

 T
id

ey
 

01
99

2 
56

40
54

 
Fi

le
 p

ap
er

s 
in

 H
R

 

Fo
re

st
er

 –
 

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

 fo
r 

re
-te

nd
er

in
g.

 
   

P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

an
d 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n 

ac
ro

ss
 

al
l w

ar
ds

 

17
 A

ug
us

t 2
00

6 
Po

rtf
ol

io
 H

ol
de

r 
Po

rtf
ol

io
 H

ol
de

r 
T 

C
ar

ne
 

P
ub

lic
 R

el
at

io
ns

 
01

99
2 

56
40

39
 

Te
nd

er
 d

oc
um

en
ts

 

Page 59



 
EP

PI
N

G
 F

O
R

ES
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T 
C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
PO

R
TF

O
LI

O
 –

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y 

W
EL

LB
EI

N
G

 
 IT

EM
 

K
EY

 D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

D
A

TE
 O

F 
D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
TA

K
ER

 
C

O
N

SU
LT

A
TI

O
N

 
A

R
R

A
N

G
EM

EN
TS

 
R

EP
R

ES
EN

TA
TI

O
N

 
A

R
R

A
N

G
EM

EN
TS

 
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 

PA
PE

R
S 

G
ra

nt
 A

id
 

20
06

/0
7 

– 
A

llo
ca

tio
n 

of
 

B
ud

ge
t 

A
pp

lic
at

io
ns

 fo
r 

D
et

er
m

in
at

io
n 

26
 J

un
e 

20
06

 
P

or
tfo

lio
 H

ol
de

r 
P

or
tfo

lio
 H

ol
de

r 
C

hr
is

 O
ve

re
nd

 
01

99
2 

- 5
64

24
7 

Fi
le

 p
ap

er
s 

in
 R

D
S 

  
 

Page 60



 
EP

PI
N

G
 F

O
R

ES
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T 
C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
PO

R
TF

O
LI

O
 –

 E
N

VI
R

O
N

M
EN

TA
L 

PR
O

TE
C

TI
O

N
 

 
IT

EM
 

K
EY

 
D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
D

A
TE

 O
F 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

TA
K

ER
 

C
O

N
SU

LT
A

TI
O

N
 

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
EN

TS
 

R
EP

R
ES

EN
TA

TI
O

N
 

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
EN

TS
 

B
A

C
K

G
R

O
U

N
D

 
PA

PE
R

S 
 Th

er
e 

ar
e 

no
 K

ey
 D

ec
is

io
ns

 fo
r t

hi
s 

Po
rt

fo
lio

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

pe
rio

d 
Ju

ne
 to

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 2

00
6 

 
 

 

Page 61



 
EP

PI
N

G
 F

O
R

ES
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T 
C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
PO

R
TF

O
LI

O
 –

 L
EI

SU
R

E 
&

 Y
O

U
N

G
 P

EO
PL

E 
 

IT
EM

 
K

EY
 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

D
A

TE
 O

F 
D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
TA

K
ER

 
C

O
N

SU
LT

A
TI

O
N

 
A

R
R

A
N

G
EM

EN
TS

R
EP

R
ES

EN
TA

TI
O

N
A

R
R

A
N

G
EM

EN
TS

 
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 

PA
PE

R
S 

Tr
ee

 S
tra

te
gy

 
Po

lic
y 

To
 re

co
m

m
en

d 
fu

tu
re

 p
ol

ic
y 

w
ith

 
re

ga
rd

 to
 

H
ig

hw
ay

s,
 H

ou
si

ng
 

an
d 

Le
is

ur
e 

Tr
ee

s 

4 
S

ep
t 2

00
6 

C
ab

in
et

 
H

ou
si

ng
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

D
 M

ac
na

b 
01

99
2 

56
42

60
 

 

 

Page 62



 
EP

PI
N

G
 F

O
R

ES
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T 
C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
PO

R
TF

O
LI

O
 - 

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
 A

N
D

 M
A

IN
TE

N
A

N
C

E 
 IT

EM
 

K
EY

 
D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
D

A
TE

 O
F 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

TA
K

ER
 

C
O

N
SU

LT
A

TI
O

N
 

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
EN

TS
R

EP
R

ES
EN

TA
TI

O
N

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
EN

TS
 

B
A

C
K

G
R

O
U

N
D

 
PA

PE
R

S 
 Th

er
e 

ar
e 

no
 K

ey
 D

ec
is

io
ns

 fo
r t

hi
s 

Po
rt

fo
lio

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

pe
rio

d 
Ju

ne
 to

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 2

00
6 

 

Page 63



 
EP

PI
N

G
 F

O
R

ES
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T 
C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
PO

R
TF

O
LI

O
 –

 L
EA

D
ER

’S
 

 IT
EM

 
K

EY
 D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
D

A
TE

 O
F 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

TA
K

ER
 

C
O

N
SU

LT
A

TI
O

N
 

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
N

TS
 

R
EP

R
ES

EN
TA

TI
O

N
 

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
EN

TS
 

B
A

C
K

G
R

O
U

N
D

 
PA

PE
R

S 
R

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
em

er
ge

nc
y 

pl
an

ni
ng

 
de

ci
si

on
 m

ak
in

g 
 

D
ec

is
io

n 
m

ak
in

g 
in

 
em

er
ge

nc
y 

si
tu

at
io

ns
 

4-
S

ep
-0

6 
 26

-S
ep

-0
6 

C
ab

in
et

 
 C

ou
nc

il 
 

P
ar

tn
er

 a
ge

nc
ie

s 
O

&
S 

P
/F

 H
ol

de
r –

 
C

om
m

un
ity

 W
el

lb
ei

ng
 

M
 T

ip
pi

ng
  

01
99

2 
56

42
80

 
R

ev
ie

w
 re

po
rt 

w
he

n 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 

 

Page 64



 
EP

PI
N

G
 F

O
R

ES
T 

D
IS

TR
IC

T 
C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
PO

R
TF

O
LI

O
 –

 H
O

U
SI

N
G

 
 IT

EM
 

K
EY

 
D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
D

A
TE

 O
F 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

TA
K

ER
 

C
O

N
SU

LT
A

TI
O

N
 

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
EN

TS
R

EP
R

ES
EN

TA
TI

O
N

A
R

R
A

N
G

EM
EN

TS
 

B
A

C
K

G
R

O
U

N
D

 
PA

PE
R

S 
R

es
po

ns
e 

R
ep

ai
r 

Ta
rg

et
 T

im
es

 –
 

R
ou

tin
e 

 

To
 re

vi
ew

 ti
m

es
 

10
-J

ul
-0

6 
C

ab
in

et
 

Te
na

nt
s 

Fe
d 

P
 P

le
dg

er
 

01
99

2 
56

42
48

 
 

H
om

el
es

sn
es

s 
S

tra
te

gy
 

To
 a

pp
ro

ve
 re

vi
se

d 
st

ra
te

gy
 

27
-J

un
-0

6 
H

ou
si

ng
 P

or
tfo

lio
 

H
ol

de
r 

H
ou

si
ng

 S
cr

ut
in

y 
P

an
el

 
R

 W
al

la
ce

 
01

99
2 

56
44

90
 

 

R
ev

is
ed

 H
ou

si
ng

 
S

tra
te

gy
 

To
 a

pp
ro

ve
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 

29
-J

un
-0

6 
C

ou
nc

il 
H

ou
si

ng
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

&
 

va
rio

us
 o

th
er

s 
A

 H
al

l 
01

99
2 

56
40

04
 

 

In
te

rim
 R

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
Al

lo
ca

tio
n 

S
ch

em
e 

To
 c

on
si

de
r 

co
nv

er
si

on
 o

f n
on

-
se

cu
re

 te
na

nc
ie

s 
to

 s
ec

ur
e 

27
-J

un
-0

6 
H

ou
si

ng
 P

or
tfo

lio
 

H
ol

de
r 

R
S

L’
s/

Te
na

nt
s 

Fe
d 

R
 W

ils
on

 
01

99
2 

56
44

19
 

 

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

A
llo

ca
tio

ns
 

S
ch

em
e 

To
 re

co
m

m
en

d 
ch

an
ge

s 
4-

S
ep

-0
6 

C
ab

in
et

 
Te

na
nt

s 
Fe

d/
R

S
L’

s 
Lo

ca
l C

ou
nc

ils
/H

ou
si

ng
 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
P

an
el

. 

R
 W

ils
on

 
01

99
2 

56
44

19
 

 

O
ff 

st
re

et
 P

ar
ki

ng
 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e 

To
 c

on
si

de
r 

sc
he

m
es

 fo
r n

ex
t 

ye
ar

 

26
-S

ep
-0

6 
H

ou
si

ng
 P

or
tfo

lio
 

H
ol

de
r 

R
es

id
en

ts
 o

f i
de

nt
ifi

ed
 

sc
he

m
es

 
P

 P
le

dg
er

 
01

99
2 

56
42

48
 

In
di

vi
du

al
 s

ch
em

e 
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
 

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

H
ou

si
ng

 
A

llo
ca

tio
ns

 
S

ch
em

e 

To
 re

co
m

m
en

d 
ch

an
ge

s 
26

-S
ep

-0
6 

H
ou

si
ng

 P
or

tfo
lio

 
H

ol
de

r 
Te

na
nt

s 
Fe

d/
R

S
L’

s 
Lo

ca
l C

ou
nc

ils
/H

ou
si

ng
 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
P

an
el

. 

R
 W

ils
on

  
01

99
2 

56
44

19
 

C
ur

re
nt

 S
ch

em
e 

Lo
ca

l S
up

po
rti

ng
 

P
eo

pl
e 

S
tra

te
gy

 
To

 a
pp

ro
ve

 th
e 

ne
w

 s
tra

te
gy

 
26

-M
ar

-0
6 

H
ou

si
ng

 P
or

tfo
lio

 
H

ol
de

r 
H

ou
si

ng
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

P
an

el
 

In
cl

us
iv

e 
Fo

ru
m

 
R

 W
ils

on
  

01
99

2 
56

44
19

 
C

ur
re

nt
 S

tra
te

gy
 

  
   

  

Page 65



     
 

EP
PI

N
G

 F
O

R
ES

T 
D

IS
TR

IC
T 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 PO

R
TF

O
LI

O
 –

 P
LA

N
N

IN
G

 &
 E

C
O

N
O

M
IC

 D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
   

  
   

 
IT

EM
 

K
EY

 D
EC

IS
IO

N
 

D
A

TE
 O

F 
D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
D

EC
IS

IO
N

 
TA

K
ER

 
C

O
N

SU
LT

A
TI

O
N

 
A

R
R

A
N

G
EM

EN
TS

 
R

EP
R

ES
EN

TA
TI

O
N

 
A

R
R

A
N

G
EM

EN
TS

 
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 

PA
PE

R
S  

P
ha

se
 1

  
H

ab
ita

t S
ur

ve
y 

up
da

te
 

 

 
10

 J
ul

y 
20

06
 

C
ab

in
et

 
 

Ia
n 

W
hi

te
 

01
99

2 
56

40
66

 
 

Lo
ca

l P
la

n 
In

qu
iry

 
In

sp
ec

to
rs

 R
ep

or
t 

 

 
10

 J
ul

y 
20

06
 

C
ab

in
et

 
 

Ia
n 

W
hi

te
 

01
99

2 
56

40
66

 
 

D
oc

um
en

t F
ee

s 
&

 
C

ha
rg

es
 

 
10

 J
ul

y 
20

06
 

C
ab

in
et

 
 

Jo
hn

 P
re

st
on

 
01

99
2 

56
41

11
 

 

S
ta

te
m

en
t o

f 
C

om
m

un
ity

 
In

vo
lv

em
en

t 

 
10

 J
ul

y 
20

06
 

D
is

tri
ct

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

C
om

m
itt

ee
  

 
H

en
ry

 S
ta

m
p 

01
99

2 
56

43
25

 
 

            

Page 66



 3

Report to Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 
Date of meeting: TBA 
 
Portfolio:  Environmental Protection/Housing 
 
Subject:  Maximum Length of Vehicle Crossovers – Call 
in  
 
Officer contact for further information:  J Gilbert 
 
Committee Secretary:  Simon Hill – Ext 4249 
 
 
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
To consider the call – in of Cabinet decision C/134/2005-06 regarding the maximum length of 
cross-overs. 
 
Report: 
 
1. In accordance with rule 20 of the Overview and Scrutiny Rules five members have 

called in a Cabinet decision, taking on 10 April 2006. This decision relates to the 
Cabinet consideration of the report of the Task and Finish Panel on Parking in 
Residential Areas. The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
determined that consideration of the call should be referred to the next Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

 
2. Attached to this report are: 
 

(a) Copies of all documentation submitted to the Cabinet on which the decision 
was based; 

 
(b) A copy of the written notification of the "call in" including the names of the 
relevant Councillors who requested the "call in" and their grounds for so doing. 

 
Consideration of the Call – in 
 
3. In accordance with the Council’s Protocol (attached) the consideration of call-ins by 

the Committee should be considered in the following manner: 
 
 (a) the representative of the Councillors calling in the decision shall describe their 

concerns; 
 
 (b) the Portfolio Holder shall then respond (in this case it may be more 

appropriate for the Chairman of the Task and Finish Panel also to be asked to speak); 
 
 (c) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel will then debate the 

issues involved.  The Chairman of the meeting shall have the discretion to vary the 
way in which evidence is gathered including speakers and public participation if 
appropriate but shall seeking a response from the initiating Councillor(s) and the 
Portfolio Holder before formulating its recommendations; 

 
 (d) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel has the following 

options: 
 

 Agenda Item 7

Page 67



 4

(i) confirm the decision, which may then be implemented immediately, or  
 

(ii) refer the decision back to the decision taker for further consideration setting 
out in writing the nature of its concerns, or  

 
(iii) refer the matter to full Council in the event that the Committee or Panel 

considers the decision to be contrary to the policy framework of the Council or 
contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the budget. 

 
 (e) If it appears that the review of a decision of the Executive cannot be 

completed at one meeting, the Executive or decision taker will be informed, indicating 
any preliminary views the Committee or Panel may have and a proposed timescale 
for the completion of the review.  The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee/Panel shall, if necessary, consult with the Leader of the Council regarding 
the urgency of the proposed decision or any other related matter; 

 
 (f) The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel 

shall sum up the recommendations to be submitted to the Executive and these shall 
be incorporated in full in the Minutes or report of the meeting; 

 
 (g) In cases where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel 

determines that a review of the decision is not justified or that, having reviewed the 
decision of the Executive, it has no adverse comment to make, the Committee or 
Panel shall ensure that its decision is published in the Members' Bulletin; 

 
 (h) In the circumstances outlined in (g) above, the decision of the Executive or 

Decision Taker may be implemented with effect from the date of that meeting; 
 
 (i) A report detailing any appropriate recommendations of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel shall be reported to the Decision Taker 
 
 (j) In presenting the recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

or delegated Panel, the Chairman may make general comments on the 
Committee's/Panel’s recommendations, answer questions and respond to comments 
or new proposals made by the Executive at that meeting; and 

 
 (k) The report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel shall 

be sent in draft to all its Members for approval prior to their submission to the Decision 
Taker. 

 
 (l) Minority reports may be made by members of Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee or delegated Panel in accordance with the Protocol for that purpose. 
 
4. If, having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated 

Panel is still concerned about it, then it may, subject to the procedures outlined in 
Rule 16(a) or (b) in attached , refer it back to the decision making person or body for 
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns or refer the matter to 
full Council.  If referred to the decision maker they shall then reconsider within a 
further 5 working days, or in the case of a Cabinet decision, as soon as practically 
possible amending the decision or not, before adopting a final decision. 

 
5. If the matter was referred to full Council and the Council does not object to a decision 

which has been made, then no further action is necessary and the decision will be 
effective in accordance with the provision below.  However, if the Council does object, 
it has no power to make decisions in respect of an executive decision unless it is 
contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly consistent with the 
budget.  Unless that is the case, the Council will refer any decision to which it objects 

Page 68



 5

back to the decision-making person or body, together with the Council’s views on the 
decision.  That decision-making body or person shall choose whether to amend the 
decision or not before reaching a final decision and implementing it.  Where the 
decision was taken by the Executive as a whole or a committee of it, a meeting will be 
convened to reconsider within 14 working days of the Council request.   Where the 
decision was made by an individual, the individual will reconsider within 14 working 
days of the Council request. 

 
6. If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the decision back to the 

decision-making body or person, the decision will become effective on the date of the 
Council meeting or expiry of the period in which the Council meeting should have 
been held, whichever is the earlier. 

 
7. The Committee are asked to consider the decision taken by the Cabinet and report 

accordingly. 
 

 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Cabinet  
 
Report Reference: C/134/2005-06. 
Date of meeting: 10 April 2006.  
 
Subject:  Parking in Residential Areas –  
Report of Task and Finish Panel on Register  
of Development Proposals. 
 
Contact for further information:   Councillor Ken Angold – Stephens. 
 
Democratic Services Officer:  Gary Woodhall   (0192 – 56 4470). 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
 Loss of Highways Agency: 
 

(1) That, although highways issues are now a matter for ECC Highways, 
parking is such an important issue and is likely to get worse , the District 
Council retain an interest in securing the improvements for residents; 

 
(2) That the operation of the Highways Local Service Agreement be 

routinely monitored by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
 

(3) That consideration be given to the establishment of a local forum to 
discuss highways issues and managing a database of priorities, 
particularly parking schemes, within the District; 

 
(4) That the Highways schedules of works in the District be published in the 

Members' Bulletin so that all members can keep abreast of planned 
works in their area; 

 
The terms of the LSA: 

 
(5) That the Portfolio Holder for Civil Engineering and Maintenance discuss 

the non specific nature of the LSA with the Head of Environmental 
Services and Highways in order to decide whether the following points 
should be raised in the local customisation section: 

 
(a) Paragraph 4.1 County Routes - The need for an additional sentence to 

read ‘In particular the Highways Authority will consult with the District 
Council on major roads when up-grading or re-surfacing works are to be 
carried out so that the issue of on-street parking may be considered with 
a view to improving the flow of traffic, providing safe provision for 
pedestrians, and protecting the environment’. 

 
(b) Paragraph 4.2 Local Roads - The need for an additional sentence after 

‘……..respective Councils’ to read ‘This includes considering changes to 
the road lay-out to improve on-street parking provision if thought 
desirable by the District Council’. 

 
(c) Paragraph 4.3 the last bullet point referring to items not included in the 

LSA merely says ‘On street parking’.  The need for clarification e.g. On 
street parking management and enforcement regulations’. 

 
(d) The need to address Highways approach to enforcement in the LSA e.g. 

Page 71



where residents are crossing pavements illegally to park on their front 
drives. 

 
Residents Parking Schemes: 

 
(6) That the Residents Parking Schemes in Epping, Loughton and Buckhurst 

Hill, approved by the Cabinet in 2003, be progressed as a matter of 
urgency and should take priority over traffic calming measures except 
when it may be more cost-effective as part of a traffic management 
scheme which includes parking considerations. 

 
(7) That wider parking reviews and residential parking schemes be funded 

and carried out systematically across the District in response to 
concerns expressed by residents and Councillors, especially in roads 
close to areas where approved parking schemes are being implemented; 

 
(8) That Housing Services liaise with Highways to progress parking 

schemes on Housing land as soon as possible and up-date their 
database accordingly; 

 
(9) That Housing Services review with Highways the sequence of decisions 

leading to highways improvements on Housing land, in particular, at 
what stage residents should be consulted; 

 
(10) That the annual budget for District funded traffic and parking schemes 

(currently £200,000pa) be maintained until the funding division between 
ECC and EFDC for such improvements becomes clearer. 

 
 (11) That a database and recommendations be maintained by Environmental 

Services on non-housing land with priorities set along the lines of those 
for Housing land, and that the Portfolio Holder for Civil Engineering and 
Maintenance decide the priorities in liaison with the Head of 
Environmental Services. 

 
Cross-overs: 

(12) That the maximum length of a cross over remain at 6 metres  

(13) That the specification for cross-overs on Housing land should include a 
requirement for surfacing to be porous and bound, but not shingle, so 
that  surface water will not drain onto the road or, the drains and any 
remaining open area to be landscaped to minimise the impact on the 
street scene; 

 
(14) That Housing Services guidelines include a statement that when cross-

overs are considered the overall impact on the street scene will be 
considered; 

 
(15) That Highways be encouraged by negotiation through the Joint Member 

Panel to adopt the proposals outlined in (12) and (13) above;  
 

Enforcement: 
 

(16) That Highways and the District Council should be more pro-active in 
enforcing parking regimes and cross-overs to avoid damage to kerbs, 
pavements, statutory undertakings, verges and greenswards preferably 
through persuasion rather than legal proceedings or physical barriers, 
which should only be used as a last resort. 

 
Page 72



(17) That the relevant Portfolio Holders monitor the progress made with the 
recommendations and report on a regular basis to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

 
Background: 
 
1. The inability to park at or close to home has become one of the major concerns of 

residents of our District.  This is a national problem, not exclusive to parts of our 
district.  The increase in car ownership is set to continue for some years to come and, 
in general, councils have been slow to recognise the importance of this issue to their 
constituents.  The proportion of households owning two or more cars has risen from 
6% to 28% (more in the SE of England) since the 1960s and this has had a major 
impact in residential areas. 

 
2. On various public surveys, traffic congestion and lack of parking is the primary issue 

that people raise, followed by litter and anti-social behaviour etc. Whilst parking 
provision is not a statutory task of councils it would not be prudent to ignore the 
strength of public feeling on this issue. 

 
3. The RAC Foundation report entitled ‘Motoring towards 2050: parking in transport 

policy’ highlighted the following issues: 
 

• Parking is quite simply, just about the hottest issue in motoring and one of the 
subjects most likely to cause ill-feeling towards local authorities; 

 
• Parking is fundamental to the lives of motorists: not only does parking (or lack of 

it) generate strong feelings, but it can determine where we live, work, shop and 
play; 

 
• Unless more on-street and off-street parking spaces are provided, there will not 

be adequate capacity to cope with the growth of car demand by 2030; 
 

• Parking is an essential part of not just transport planning and policy but social 
and economic policy too.  Local authorities should not underestimate its 
importance to their residents. 

 
Issues: 
 
4. The proposals are divided into general Highways issues (particularly the new 

arrangements for highways management under ECC) parking on Housing land and 
non-Housing land, residential parking schemes, cross-overs on Housing land non-
Housing land and enforcement. 

 
General Highways Issues: 
 
5. Highways issues are now a matter for ECC Highways and parking issues on non-

Housing land have to be dealt with through the relevant County Councillor or directly 
through the Highways Area Office in Harlow.  Nevertheless this Panel regards parking 
as such an important issue that is likely to get worse in the future as car ownership 
rises, that the District Council should retain an interest in securing the improvements it 
deems important for residents, even though ultimate decisions rest with ECC 
Highways. 

 
6. The Panel is concerned about the possible loss of a local focus and knowledge under 

the new arrangements through the LSA but noted assurances given by the Area 
Manager that this would not happen.  It is also noted that telephone calls and e-mails 
to Harlow are now acknowledged and deadlines for replies are given.  In time it is 
hoped that Members will be given specific telephone numbers of officers with the 
appropriate responsibilities for the Epping Forest District.  We were assured that the 

Page 73



O & S Committee will be monitoring the effectiveness of the new arrangements. 
 
7. The routine liaison meetings with Highways twice a year with all the District Councils 

through the Joint Member Panels is thought to be adequate for dealing with strategic 
issues but the Panel feels that another forum is needed to discuss issues specific to 
Epping Forest District.  We suggest the O & S Committee take a view on how this 
should be carried out but suggest this could take the form of a routine meeting 
between Highways officers, the Portfolio Holder, the Head of Environmental Services, 
and a Housing Officer, initially at not less than three monthly intervals. 

 
8. The Panel is further concerned about how Members will be informed of impending 

works in their area.  The recommended procedure is that Highways inform the Head 
of Environmental Services and the Portfolio Holder as early as possible so that 
schedules can be included in the Members Bulletin sufficiently in advance for 
Members' to be able to consult with residents if they feel there is a need, or respond 
with any representations they may wish to make about the proposed works. 

 
9. The Panel notes that the Cabinet minutes of the 27 May 2003 made the following 

decisions: 
 

• That where parking review and traffic management priorities coincide, the process be 
combined; and   

 
• That notwithstanding the agreed objective traffic management assessment criteria, 

where traffic management schemes would benefit from localised revised parking 
arrangements and parking review outcomes would benefit from localised revised 
traffic management, these be considered in any proposals put forward’ 
 
We see no reason for this to change now that highways are managed directly by 
ECC, even though the funding streams may be different. We therefore suggest that 
the LSA is clarified to take into account the view expressed in the above minute and 
specifically: 

 
(a) Paragraph 4.1 County Routes.  An additional sentence to read ‘In particular 

the Highways Authority will consult with the District Council on major roads 
when up-grading or re-surfacing works are to be carried out so that the issue 
of on-street parking may be considered with a view to improving the flow of 
traffic, providing safe provision for pedestrians and protecting the 
environment’; 

 
(b) Paragraph 4.2 Local Roads.  An addition sentence after ‘……respective 

Councils’ to read ‘This includes changes to the road lay-out to improve on-
street parking provision if thought desirable by Epping Forest District Council; 

 
(c) Paragraph 4.3 the last bullet point referring to items not included in the LSA 

merely says ‘On street parking’.  This needs clarification e.g. ‘On street 
parking management and enforcement regulations’; 

 
(d) There is no mention of Highways approach to enforcement in the LSA e.g. 

where residents are crossing pavements illegally to park in their front drives.  
We feel this should also be mentioned in the LSA. 

 
Residential Parking Schemes: 
 
10. The Panel notes that the Epping and Buckhurst Hill residential parking schemes are 

incomplete although both are now progressing to a conclusion by early 2006 but that 
the Loughton scheme has not commenced yet (other than considering roads directly 
affected by the TCE scheme). 

 
Page 74



11. Approval for carrying out all these works was agreed by the Cabinet in 2003 and it is 
of major concern that these have not progressed more quickly. Although the schedule 
of traffic calming and parking schemes were tabled at the Cabinet meeting on 27 May 
2003, these were mostly confined to localised areas, such as High Streets, where 
complainants had been most vocal, but the same report also stated that ‘in the past 
the Council had experienced difficulties which had arisen from undertaking a scheme 
in limited area, only then to receive complaints about effects in the surrounding area’ 
and ‘Whilst an area based approached altered individual priorities a little, the 
advantages of taking a holistic view were considered to outweigh the disadvantages’.  

 
12. It is the source of considerable disquiet from residents in vulnerable roads, particularly 

Loughton residents who were promised action a long time ago, and this Panel 
expects that action will be taken to progress these schemes without further delay. 

 
Parking on Housing Land: 
 
13. Housing has a comprehensive database of schemes, surveyed, costed and 

prioritised, for roads on Housing land; however implementation has been slow with 
the result that budgets have been carried forward year on year.  Current budgets are 
thought adequate at present but should it prove possible to speed up implementation 
of schemes the budget may have to be reviewed.  It is noted that reassurances were 
given by the West Artea Highways Manager that the current underspends on these 
budgets, attributed to staff shortages and delays associated with the LSA 
implementation will be resolved in 2006/7. 

 
14. One scheme seems to have been withdrawn due to residents' opposition despite 

compelling reasons for them to support the scheme and their initial enthusiasm. It is 
recommended that a housing Manager re-visits this scheme with a view to confirming, 
amending or deleting it as appropriate.  

 
15. The Assistant Head of Housing Services has agreed to examine the database, look 

again at any anomalies or changes to the original priorities, re-issue the database and 
forward any revised proposals to Highways that are within the current budget 
provision.  Monitoring the progress of schemes should be carried out routinely and 
any significant slippage reported to the O & S Co-ordinating Committee. 

 
16. Highways do a technical audit of the site proposed by Housing, undertake a risk 

assessment and give an estimate for the works before Housing management prioritise 
schemes within the budget allocation and undertake consultation with residents.  The 
Panel was asked to consider whether residents should be consulted first so that a 
negative response or an unreasonable cost does not lead to a waste of Highways and 
officers' time.  Whilst this has obvious merit it does run the risk of raising expectations 
with residents, but handled sensitively it may be the better approach and we would 
recommend a discussion between Housing Officers and Highways Officers to re-
examine the current procedure. 

 
Parking on non-Housing Land: 
 
17. There is no equivalent priority database for parking schemes on non-Housing land 

although a list of proposals is kept.  It is not clear how the proposed schemes are 
identified.  Prioritisation is carried out by the Portfolio Holder for Civil Engineering and 
Maintenance 

 
18. We understand that highways has no funding available to provide parking bays or 

other improvements to create more parking on strategic or non-strategic roads 
although where costs are reasonable some contribution from Highways would not be 
ruled out. 

 
19. There are many areas across the District where grass verges have been destroyed by 

Page 75



cars parked on them or where pavements are used, sometimes causing obstruction to 
pedestrians. 

 
20. Unless funding is provided by the District Council these areas will continue to decline 

and parking on the verges will continue to have a detrimental impact on the street 
scene.  As above, Highways do not have a budget for the additional work involved 
although a contribution towards the costs has not been ruled out if the work is 
simultaneous with other highways improvements. 

 
21. It is therefore recommended that funding for kerb re-alignments or parking bays on 

non-Housing land should continue to be provided by the District Council and that this 
issue should receive a higher priority than it has received in the past in order to relieve 
congestion, improve parking provision and/or improve the street scene. 

 
22. Once an improvement has been identified as worthwhile by the Portfolio Holder it is 

suggested that it becomes the responsibility of the Head of Environmental Services to 
obtain estimates from Highways and for the Portfolio Holder to then make a decision 
within delegated powers or a recommendation to Cabinet if the cost exceeds 
delegated powers. 

 
23. We understand these proposals are consistent with the report C/082/2005-6 to 

Cabinet on the 14th November 2005. 
 

Cross-overs on Housing Land: 
 
24. Housing have comprehensive policies on the approval of cross-overs on Housing 

land.  They are being revised to take into account the new arrangements with 
Highways. 

 
25. On Housing Land, it is recommended that the policy makes clear the need for front 

garden surfacing to be porous (but not shingle which tends to drag on to the road) in 
order to limit the amount of surface water entering the drains. A number of 
alternatives are available. 

 
Landscaping of the remaining unsurfaced area should be emphasised to minimise the 
impact on the street scene and to retain as much green area as possible. 

 
26. It is also recommended that when cross-overs are considered the overall impact on 

the road is also considered, bearing in mind that one cross-over loses on-street 
parking equivalent to approximately one and a half spaces.  In a worst case scenario 
a large row of cross-overs can lead to no available parking on the road for visitors or 
for other residents with no cross-over. 

 
27. Highways criteria states that cross-overs will not be agreed to where the length of the 

front garden from the house wall to the pavement is less than 4.8m.  This should also 
be made clear in the Housing policies. 

 
28. We believe the maximum length of a cross-over across greensward should remain at 

6m. 
 
Cross-overs on non-Housing Land: 
 
29. This is no longer a matter for the District Council and residents should be advised to 

channel their requests directly to Highways although, of course, Members will be 
available to residents in their area to give advice. 

 
30. We suggest that Highways should be recommended, as on Housing land, to 

incorporate in their policies that when cross-overs are considered the overall impact 
on the road is also considered, bearing in mind that one cross-over loses on-street 

Page 76



parking equivalent to approximately one and a half spaces.  In a worst case scenario 
a large row of cross-overs can lead to no available parking on the road for visitors or 
for other residents with no cross-over. 

 
31. Within reason, residents can, do what they like on their own land, but the Panel 

recommends that Highways should insist that porous surfacing (other than shingle), 
must be used to avoid drainage on to the highway or into the drains.  This may be 
enforceable through the Department of the Environment Regulations, design Bulletin 
32 ‘ No water from private property may be channelled on to the highway’. 

 
Enforcement: 
 
32. In theory, enforcement, can be applied to residents who cross the pavement illegally 

to park in their front drives or who park persistently on grass verges, causing 
consequential damage. In the latter case the Essex Act which forbids parking on 
verges and common land could be invoked. 

 
33. Illegally crossing pavements is a matter for Highways, whereas damaged verges and 

greenswards are the responsibility of the District Council.  
 
34. In both cases enforcement is likely to be difficult and costly with minimal fines being 

imposed. 
 
35. The preferred route is to use persuasion and both the District Council and Highways 

should be encouraged to be more pro-active in this area.  
 
36. Where persuasion has failed, physical means could be used such as barriers to deny 

access but this would be a last resort and very unlikely to be used except in the most 
serious situations. 

 
Conclusions: 
 
37. The introduction to this report highlighted the importance of parking to residents near 

to their homes as well as when they go about their business, but equally residents 
value our open spaces and want to see them well-managed, preserved as far as 
possible and safe from environmental damage.  We believe that the Council, needs to 
tread very carefully between these two conflicting demands and solutions will have to 
be tailor-made for each location, sometimes using imaginative solutions. 

 
38. This Panel feels that parking issues within the District have not had the attention they 

deserve and that this needs addressing if severe congestion or gridlock in some 
roads, both primary and local, is to be avoided in the future. 

 
39. The Panel is of the opinion that the Council ignores tackling this issue at its peril as 

many roads have already exceeded or are at saturation level in terms of parking.  If a 
more determined effort is not made in this area we will face a situation of an ever 
deteriorating environment and the destruction of our green spaces as well as serious 
public discontent with the Council. 

 
Views of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:  

 
40. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered and supported this report at its 

meeting on 8 December 2005 subject to a number of changes. These changes made 
clear that the current maximum length for crossovers should remain at 6 metres, that 
the proposed surfacing for vehicle crossovers be porous and bound to allow drainage 
and facilitate maintenance work. The Committee also amended the recommendations 
to propose that progress made with the proposals be reviewed on a regular basis by 
the Portfolio Holder and reported to the OSC.  

Page 77



Page 78

This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Minute Extract – 10 April 2006 –Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish 
Panel Report - Parking in Residential Areas 
 
The Chairman of the Register of Development Proposals Task and Finish Scrutiny Panel 
presented a report in relation to parking in residential areas. The Cabinet were informed that the 
Panel had attempted to regularise the Council’s approach to parking issues throughout the 
District. The Panel had offered suggestions for the local customisation section of the Highways 
Local Service Agreement for the Civil Engineering and Maintenance Portfolio Holder, Head of 
Environmental Services and Essex County Council as the Highway Authority to consider. The 
Panel had also considered it important for the Council to monitor the operation of the Local 
Service Agreement, via the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and that consideration should be 
given to the establishment of a Local Forum for the discussion of highways issues.  
 
The Panel had considered parking to be a particularly important issue within the District and had 
proposed that the residents’ parking schemes for Epping, Loughton and Buckhurst Hill, which 
the Cabinet had approved in 2003, should be implemented without delay and take priority over 
traffic calming measures. The Panel felt that the current crossover arrangements should be 
strengthened, and that their impact upon the existing street scene should also be considered. 
Finally, the Panel had proposed that the enforcement of parking schemes and crossovers, by 
both the Council and the Highways Agency, should be performed in a more pro-active manner.  
The Head of Environmental Services reported that the Highways Local Service Agreement had 
not yet been finalised, as further discussions were necessary with regard to the customised 
sections. There was a further meeting scheduled in the near future with the Head of Highways 
and Transportation at Essex County Council. The Cabinet agreed that a letter should be written 
to the County Portfolio Holder for Highways and Transportation, signed by the Leader of the 
Council, requesting that the Local Service Agreement be dealt with as a matter of urgency. The 
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee felt that the County Portfolio Holder for 
Highways and Transportation should be invited to attend a forthcoming Overview and Scrutiny 
meeting; the Leader of Council agreed that the invitation should be incorporated in the letter to 
be written by the Head of Environmental Services.  
 
 
The Head of Environmental Services reported that no local forum currently existed and 
reminded the Cabinet that the Council had representation on the West Essex Joint Member 
Panel that considered Highways issues. It was suggested that the local forum should be a 
member body to support the Council’s representative on the West Essex Joint Member Panel, 
however the Cabinet only agreed to approve the establishment of a local forum with no 
recommendation on its composition.  
 
The Head of Finance clarified for the Cabinet that the agreed budget for District funded traffic 
and parking schemes was in the sum of £200,000 per annum. However, funding had been 
brought forward into 2006/07 for parking reviews and associated traffic management measures, 
thus the current budget profile was: 
 
· 2006/07 - £490,000; 
· 2007/08 - £0; 
· 2008/09 - £200,000; and  
· 2009/10 - £200,000. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
Loss of Highways Agency: 
 
(1) That, although highways issues are now a matter for Essex County Council (ECC) 
Highways, an interest be retained by the Council in parking issues and securing subsequent 
improvements for residents; 

Page 79



(2) That the operation of the Highways Local Service Agreement (LSA) be routinely monitored 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
 
(3) That the establishment of a local forum to discuss highways issues and managing a 
database of priorities, particularly parking schemes, within the District be approved; 
 
(4) That, in order to notify members of planned works in their area, the Highways schedules of 
works for the District be published in the Members' Bulletin; 
 
The terms of the LSA: 
 
(5) That the Portfolio Holder for Civil Engineering and Maintenance be authorised to discuss the 
non-specific nature of the LSA with the Head of Environmental Services and ECC Highways in 
order to decide whether the following points should be raised in the local customisation section: 
 
(a) Paragraph 4.1 County Routes - The need for an additional sentence to read ‘In particular the 
Highways Authority will consult with the District Council on major roads when up-grading or re-
surfacing works are to be carried out so that the issue of on-street parking may be considered 
with a view to improving the flow of traffic, providing safe provision for pedestrians, and 
protecting the environment’; 
 
(b) Paragraph 4.2 Local Roads - The need for an additional sentence after ‘…respective 
Councils’ to read ‘This includes considering changes to the road lay-out to improve on-street 
parking provision if thought desirable by the District Council’; 
 
(c) Paragraph 4.3 the last bullet point referring to items not included in the LSA merely says ‘On 
street parking’, this needs clarification e.g. on-street parking management and enforcement 
regulations’; 
 
(d) The need to address Highways approach to enforcement in the LSA, e.g. where residents 
are crossing pavements illegally to park on their front drives. 
 
Residents Parking Schemes: 
 
(6) That the Residents Parking Schemes in Epping, Loughton and Buckhurst Hill, approved by 
the Cabinet in 2003, be progressed as a matter of urgency and take priority over traffic calming 
measures except when it may be more cost-effective as part of a traffic management scheme 
which includes parking considerations. 
 
(7) That, in response to concerns expressed by residents and Councillors, wider parking 
reviews and residential parking schemes be funded and carried out systematically across the 
District, especially in roads close to areas where approved parking schemes had been 
implemented; 
 
(8) That, in order to progress parking schemes on Housing land as soon as possible, Housing 
Services liaise with ECC Highways and up-date their database accordingly; 
 
(9) That the sequence of decisions leading to highways improvements on Housing land be 
reviewed with ECC Highways by Housing Services, and in particular at what stage residents 
should be consulted; 
 
(10) That the annual budget for District funded traffic and parking schemes (currently 
£200,000pa) be maintained until the funding division between ECC and EFDC for such 
improvements becomes clearer; 
 

Page 80



(11) That a database and recommendations be maintained by Environmental Services on non-
housing land with priorities set along the lines of those for Housing land and that the priorities be 
decided by the Portfolio Holder for Civil Engineering and Maintenance in liaison with the Head of 
Environmental Services; 
 
Cross-overs: 
 
(12) That the maximum length of a cross over be maintained at 6 metres  
 
(13) That the specification for cross-overs on Housing land include a requirement for surfacing 
to be porous and bound, but not shingle, so that surface water will not drain onto the road or the 
drains, and any remaining open area be landscaped to minimise the impact on the street scene; 
 
(14) That Housing Services guidelines include a statement that when cross-overs are 
considered the overall impact on the street scene be considered; 
 
(15) That ECC Highways be encouraged by negotiation through the Joint Member Panel to 
adopt the proposals outlined in resolutions (12) and (13) above;  
 
Enforcement: 
 
(16) That ECC Highways and the District Council be more pro-active in enforcing parking 
regimes and cross-overs to avoid damage to kerbs, pavements, statutory undertakings, verges 
and greenswards preferably through persuasion rather than legal proceedings or physical 
barriers, which should only be used as a last resort. 
 
(17) That the relevant Portfolio Holders monitor the progress made with the recommendations 
and report on a regular basis to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and 
 
Correspondence: 
 
(18) That the Head of Environmental Services draft a letter to the ECC Portfolio Holder for 
Highways and Transportation, to be signed by the Leader of the Council, requesting: 
 
(a) that the LSA be dealt with as a matter of urgency; and 
 
(b) that the ECC Portfolio Holder for Highways and Transportation be invited to a meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Reasons for Decision: 
The Task and Finish Panel felt that parking issues had not had their deserved attention and that 
this needed correcting if severe gridlock or congestion on some primary and local roads were to 
be avoided in the future. Parking was important to residents, both at their homes and 
workplaces, but many roads had already exceeded saturation level in terms of parking. The 
Panel felt that action had to be taken otherwise the Council risked an ever-deteriorating 
environment as well as serious public discontent. 
 
Other Options Considered and Rejected: 
To implement some or none of the Task and Finish Panel’s recommendations. 
 

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



Notice of Call-in Received 17 May 2006 

Page 83



Page 84

This page is intentionally left blank



 3

Annex 3 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
APPENDIX 1 

 
 
PROTOCOL ON CONSIDERATION AND REPORTING ON EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
CALLED IN BY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY  
 
1. Purpose of Protocol 
 

(a) To codify how the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel 
should deal with "call in" items. 

 
(b) To codify how the Executive should respond to reports by Overview and 
Scrutiny on decisions which have been called in. 

 
2. Validation of "Call In" 
 
2.1 All "call in" requests shall be made in writing in accordance with the Council's 

constitution.  "Call in" requests shall only be made by members of the Council who 
are not members of the Executive.  The "call in" shall be validated by the Chief 
Executive and referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for consideration in 
accordance with the provisions of the constitution. 

 
3. Consideration of "Call In" Items by Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
3.1 Consideration of Call-ins shall be the responsibility of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee which will decide whether to consider the issue itself or direct a Panel to 
undertake it and report back to the decision maker. "Call in" items shall be referred to 
the next available date for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel.  
The provisions of the Overview and Scrutiny Rules in the Council's constitution will 
apply to "call in" requests which need to be dealt with more quickly. 

 
3.2 At its meeting, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel will receive: 
 

(a) copies of all documentation submitted to the Executive on which the decision 
was based; 

 
(b) a copy of the written notification of the "call in" including the names of the 
relevant Councillors who requested the "call in" and their grounds for so doing;  and  

 
(c) any other relevant documentation. 

 
3.3 The relevant Executive Portfolio Holder and at least one of the members who 

activated the "call in" and who shall act as spokesperson for those members, shall 
attend the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel meeting. 

 
3.4 The "call in" decision shall be considered in the following manner: 
 
 (a) the representative of the Councillors calling in the decision shall describe their 

concerns; 
 
 (b) the Portfolio Holder shall then respond  
 

Page 85



 4

 (c) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel will then debate the 
issues involved.  The Chairman of the meeting shall have the discretion to vary the 
way in which evidence is gathered including speakers and public participation if 
appropriate but shall seeking a response from the initiating Councillor(s) and the 
Portfolio Holder before formulating its recommendations; 

 
 (d) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel has the following 

options: 
 

(i) confirm the decision, which may then be implemented immediately, or  
 

(ii) refer the decision back to the decision taker for further consideration setting 
out in writing the nature of its concerns, or  

 
(iii) refer the matter to full Council in the event that the Committee or Panel 

considers the decision to be contrary to the policy framework of the Council or 
contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the budget. 

 
 (e) If it appears that the review of a decision of the Executive cannot be 

completed at one meeting, the Executive or decision taker will be informed, indicating 
any preliminary views the Committee or Panel may have and a proposed timescale 
for the completion of the review.  The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee/Panel shall, if necessary, consult with the Leader of the Council regarding 
the urgency of the proposed decision or any other related matter; 

 
 (f) The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel 

shall sum up the recommendations to be submitted to the Executive and these shall 
be incorporated in full in the Minutes or report of the meeting; 

 
 (g) In cases where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel 

determines that a review of the decision is not justified or that, having reviewed the 
decision of the Executive, it has no adverse comment to make, the Committee or 
Panel shall ensure that its decision is published in the Members' Bulletin; 

 
 (h) In the circumstances outlined in (g) above, the decision of the Executive or 

Decision Taker may be implemented with effect from the date of that meeting; 
 
 (i) A report detailing any appropriate recommendations of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel shall be reported to the Decision Taker 
 
 (j) In presenting the recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

or delegated Panel, the Chairman may make general comments on the 
Committee's/Panel’s recommendations, answer questions and respond to comments 
or new proposals made by the Executive at that meeting;  and 

 
 (k) The report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel shall 

be sent in draft to all its Members for approval prior to their submission to the Decision 
Taker. 

 
 (l) Minority reports may be made by members of Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee or delegated Panel in accordance with the Protocol for that purpose. 
 

Page 86



 5

4. Consideration of Reports on "Call In" Items by the Executive 
 
4.1 The report of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel will be referred 

in the first instance to the relevant Portfolio Holder(s) for the executive function 
concerned. 

 
4.2 If the Executive decision is one which the Portfolio Holder(s) has delegated powers to 

make, he or she shall consider the written proposals of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or delegated Panel, must consult the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and delegated Panel Chairmen if he or she is minded to accept or reject them.  In 
doing so the Portfolio Holder will ensure that, in recording that decision, the reasons 
for accepting, rejecting or amending those views are set out in the decision notice. 

 
4.3 If the Executive decision is one which the Executive itself or a Committee of the 

Executive (acting under delegated powers) is competent to take, the relevant Portfolio 
Holder will consider the proposals of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or 
delegated Panel and refer them, with his or her written response, to the decision 
making body concerned. 

 
4.4 At a meeting of the Executive or of any Committee of the Executive, the following 

documentation shall be submitted: 
 
 (a) the agreed report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel 

and any other supporting documents considered by it; 
 
 (b) a report of the Portfolio Holder indicating the response to the proposals of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel, indicating the options available 
and recommendation for acceptance, rejection or alteration of those proposals with 
reasons;  and 

 
 (c) any other information. 
 
4.5 The Executive or Committee of the Executive shall consider the matter as follows: 
 
 (a) the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel 

shall present the views and recommendations of the Committee/Panel based on the 
report of the relevant OSC meeting and respond to questions, make general 
comments and respond to new proposals as appropriate; 

 
 (b) the relevant Portfolio Holder shall then respond by presenting his report and 

recommendations on the proposals of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or 
delegated Panel; 

 
 (c) the Executive (or Committee thereof) shall then consider the original decision, 

the views of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel and any 
proposals by the Portfolio Holder;  and 

 
 (d) the Executive (or Executive Committee) will then make a final decision on 

whether to re-affirm the original decision, amend the original decision or substitute a 
new decision.  This decision shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting together 
with supporting reasons. 

 
4.6 Where a Committee of the Executive is required to report to the full Executive on any 

matter, it shall submit a recommendation on action proposed to the Executive as part 
of the minutes of the meeting. 

 

Page 87



 6

5. Implementation of Decisions When Cabinet Control or Membership Changes 
 
5.1 Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 3.4(g) and (h) above, where political 

control of the Cabinet or Cabinet membership changes following the Annual Council 
meeting each year, any decision made by the Executive and supported by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel following a "call-in" but not 
implemented before the changes occur, shall stand referred to the Cabinet for further 
review before action is taken. 

 
6. Consideration of "Call In" Reports of Overview and Scrutiny Committees made 

to the Full Council 
 
6.1 In some circumstances, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel 

may choose to refer the results of their consideration of "call in" items to the full 
Council, rather than the Executive in those instances set out in paragraph 3.4 (d) (iii) 
above and 6.2 below.  With any necessary modification the "call in" shall be dealt with 
at the Council meeting in accordance with paragraphs 4.1 - 4.5 above. 

 
6.2 In considering whether to report to the full Council, the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee or delegated Panel shall take account of the advice of the proper officer 
on: 

 
 (a) whether the Council may properly determine the matter if the function is 

delegated to the Executive; 
 
 (b) whether the Executive decision affects the policy or budget framework of the 

Authority and should properly be determined by the Council; 
 
 (c) whether the Executive decision relates to a matter which either reserved to the 

full Council by the constitution or by resolution;  and 
 
 (d) any other advice which indicates that, for whatever reason, a report to the 

Executive is more appropriate to the proper despatch of Council business. 
 
7. Restriction on "Call In" 
 
7.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall at all times be aware that the decisions of 

the regulatory or non-executive bodies of the Council are not subject to "call in". 
 
7.2 The "call in" procedure shall also not apply to any recommendation by the Cabinet to 

the full Council. 

Page 88



 7

 
8. Definitions 
 
8.1 For the purpose of this Protocol, the following definitions shall apply: 
 
 (a) "Executive" 
 
 This term should be interpreted as referring to the Cabinet, a Cabinet Committee or 

an individual Portfolio Holder acting under delegated powers. 
 
 (b) "Decision"  
 

Denotes a decision on an Executive function by the Cabinet, a Committee of the 
Cabinet or of an individual Portfolio Holder. 

 
(c) “Decision Taker” 

 
This means the Cabinet, a Cabinet Committee or an individual Portfolio Holder who 
made the original decision. 
 

9. Review of Protocol 
 
9.1 This Protocol will be reviewed by the Council as part of its constitution as and when 

appropriate. 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



Page 90

This page is intentionally left blank



O
ve

rv
ie

w
 a

nd
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

W
or

k 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
– 

20
06

/0
7 

 
A

s 
at

 1
9 

Ju
ne

 2
00

6 
  

Ite
m

 
R

ep
or

t 
D

ea
dl

in
e/

Pr
io

rit
y 

 
Pr

og
re

ss
/C

om
m

en
ts

 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
of

 
Fu

tu
re

 M
ee

tin
gs

 
H

ou
si

ng
 S

ta
nd

in
g 

P
an

el
 

 
(1

) A
nn

ua
l E

th
ni

c 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f H

ou
si

ng
 A

pp
lic

an
ts

 
M

ed
iu

m
 

To
 b

e 
re

po
rte

d 
to

 2
7 

Ju
ly

 2
00

6 
m

tg
 

(2
) U

pd
at

ed
 d

ra
ft 

H
ou

si
ng

 
S

tra
te

gy
 

H
ig

h 
 

D
el

ay
ed

 –
 D

ue
 to

 o
th

er
 c

om
m

itm
en

ts
 it

 is
 h

op
ed

 th
at

 th
e 

up
da

te
d 

dr
af

t H
ou

si
ng

 S
tra

te
gy

 c
an

 b
e 

re
po

rte
d 

to
 th

e 
ne

xt
 m

ee
tin

g 
of

 th
e 

P
an

el
 

(3
) E

m
pt

y 
P

ro
pe

rty
 S

tra
te

gy
 

H
ig

h 
 

To
 b

e 
re

po
rte

d 
to

 2
7 

Ju
ly

 2
00

6 
m

tg
 

(4
) H

ou
si

ng
 S

er
vi

ce
 S

tra
te

gy
 o

n 
th

e 
P

riv
at

e 
R

en
te

d 
S

ec
to

r 
Lo

w
 

To
 b

e 
re

po
rte

d 
to

 2
7 

Ju
ly

 2
00

6 
m

tg
 

(5
) H

ou
si

ng
 S

er
vi

ce
 S

tra
te

gy
 o

n 
E

m
pt

y 
C

ou
nc

il 
P

ro
pe

rti
es

 
Lo

w
  

D
el

ay
ed

 –
 A

 fi
rs

t d
ra

ft 
ha

s 
be

en
 p

ro
du

ce
d,

 w
hi

ch
 w

ill
 b

e 
re

po
rte

d 
to

 th
e 

P
an

el
’s

 n
ex

t m
ee

tin
g,

 a
fte

r i
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

fin
al

is
ed

 
(6

) A
nn

ua
l R

ev
ie

w
 o

f t
he

 H
ou

si
ng

 
A

llo
ca

tio
ns

 S
ch

em
e 

 H
ig

h 
 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
00

6 

(7
) S

ix
-m

on
th

ly
 P

ro
gr

es
s 

R
ep

or
t 

on
 L

oc
al

 S
up

po
rti

ng
 P

eo
pl

e 
S

tra
te

gy
 A

ct
io

n 
P

la
n 

M
ed

iu
m

  
O

ct
ob

er
 2

00
6 

(8
) P

riv
at

e 
S

ec
to

r H
ou

si
ng

 
A

ss
is

ta
nc

e 
P

ol
ic

y 
H

ig
h 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
00

6 

(9
) S

ix
-m

on
th

ly
 P

ro
gr

es
s 

R
ep

or
t 

on
 H

ou
si

ng
 S

tra
te

gy
 A

ct
io

n 
P

la
n 

M
ed

iu
m

  
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

07
 

(1
0)

 U
pd

at
ed

 d
ra

ft 
H

R
A

 B
us

in
es

s 
P

la
n 

 H
ig

h 
 

A
pr

il 
20

07
  

27
 J

ul
y,

 3
1 

O
ct

ob
er

 
20

06
, 

30
 J

an
ua

ry
 3

0 
A

pr
il 

 
20

07
. 

   

Agenda Item 8

Page 91



Ite
m

 
R

ep
or

t 
D

ea
dl

in
e/

Pr
io

rit
y 

 
Pr

og
re

ss
/C

om
m

en
ts

 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
of

 
Fu

tu
re

 M
ee

tin
gs

 
(1

1)
 U

pd
at

ed
 d

ra
ft 

Lo
ca

l 
S

up
po

rti
ng

 P
eo

pl
e 

S
tra

te
gy

 
H

ig
h 

 
A

pr
il 

20
07

  

(1
2)

 Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 C
ho

ic
e 

B
as

ed
 L

et
tin

gs
 

H
ig

h 
 

Fi
na

l R
ep

or
t A

pr
il 

20
07

 

 

C
on

st
itu

tio
na

l a
nd

 M
em

be
r S

er
vi

ce
s 

S
ta

nd
in

g 
P

an
el

 
 (1

) C
ou

nc
il 

M
ee

tin
gs

 –
 

C
om

pl
et

io
n 

of
 R

ev
ie

w
 o

f F
ut

ur
e 

R
ol

e.
 

Ju
ne

 2
00

6 
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 –

 P
an

el
’s

 re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 s
ub

m
itt

ed
 to

 th
is

 
m

ee
tin

g.
  

(2
) R

ev
ie

w
 o

f A
re

a 
P

la
nn

in
g 

S
ub

 
– 

C
om

m
itt

ee
s 

 
A

ug
us

t 2
00

6 
U

nd
er

w
ay

 –
 P

rin
ci

pl
es

 a
gr

ee
d 

at
 la

st
 m

ee
tin

g 
to

 b
e 

se
nt

 
ou

t f
or

 fu
rth

er
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n.
 R

es
ul

ts
 o

f t
hi

s 
w

ill
 b

e 
re

po
rte

d 
to

 P
an

el
 o

n 
3 

Ju
ly

 2
00

6.
 

(3
) C

om
pl

ai
nt

s 
A

ga
in

st
 

C
ou

nc
ill

or
s 

– 
R

ev
ie

w
 o

f S
up

po
rt.

  
O

ct
ob

er
 2

00
6 

U
nd

er
w

ay
 –

 R
ep

or
t t

o 
be

 s
ub

m
itt

ed
 to

 1
0 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
00

6 
m

tg
 

(4
) R

ev
ie

w
 o

f C
ha

ng
es

 in
 th

e 
le

ga
l r

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

 c
on

ce
rn

in
g 

po
st

al
 v

ot
in

g 
an

d 
re

so
ur

ce
 

im
pl

ic
at

io
ns

/ p
ro

ce
du

re
s 

fo
r 

el
ec

to
ra

l r
eg

is
tra

tio
n.

  

O
ct

ob
er

 2
00

6 
U

nd
er

w
ay

 –
 B

ill
 to

 b
e 

de
al

t w
ith

 b
y 

P
ar

lia
m

en
t i

n 
A

ut
um

n 
20

06
 

(5
) R

ev
ie

w
 o

f M
ay

 2
00

6 
E

le
ct

io
ns

  
Ju

ly
 2

00
6 

 
To

 b
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 b

y 
P

an
el

 in
 J

ul
y 

20
06

 
(6

) C
om

pl
et

io
n 

of
 R

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
P

ar
lia

m
en

ta
ry

 C
on

st
itu

en
ci

es
.  

B
y 

M
ay

 2
00

6 
(s

ub
je

ct
 

to
 O

P
D

M
) t

im
et

ab
le

 
Po

ss
ib

le
 re

se
rv

e 
lis

t i
te

m
 a

s 
aw

ai
tin

g 
go

ve
rn

m
en

t 
pr

op
os

al
s 

 
(7

) R
e-

us
e 

of
 P

ub
lic

 S
ec

to
r 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

G
ui

de
lin

es
  

A
ug

us
t 2

00
6 

 
N

ew
 T

as
k 

in
he

rit
ed

 fr
om

 C
us

to
m

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

IC
T 

S
ta

nd
in

g 
P

an
el

 
   

3 
Ju

ly
 

7 
A

ug
us

t, 
 

10
 O

ct
ob

er
, 4

  
D

ec
em

be
r 2

00
6,

 8
 

Fe
br

ua
ry

, 2
 A

pr
il 

20
07

 

(8
) R

ev
ie

w
 o

f C
ab

in
et

 
A

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

  
A

ug
us

t 2
00

6 
 

R
ep

or
t t

o 
be

 s
ub

m
itt

ed
 to

 7
 A

ug
us

t 2
00

6 
m

tg
  

 

Page 92



Ite
m

 
R

ep
or

t 
D

ea
dl

in
e/

Pr
io

rit
y 

 
Pr

og
re

ss
/C

om
m

en
ts

 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
of

 
Fu

tu
re

 M
ee

tin
gs

 
(9

) R
ev

ie
w

 o
f C

iv
ic

 C
er

em
on

y 
 

Ju
ly

 2
00

6 
 

U
nd

er
w

ay
  

 
E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l a

nd
 P

la
nn

in
g 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
S

ta
nd

in
g 

P
an

el
 

 
(1

) E
ss

ex
 C

ou
nt

y 
Jo

in
t W

as
te

 
P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t P

ro
ce

ss
 

O
ng

oi
ng

  
U

nd
er

w
ay

 –
 P

an
el

 to
 c

on
si

de
r d

ec
is

io
ns

 o
f t

he
 W

es
t 

E
ss

ex
 W

as
te

 J
oi

nt
 M

an
ag

em
en

t C
om

m
itt

ee
 a

s 
an

d 
w

he
n 

th
ey

 b
ec

om
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
 

(2
) N

ew
 L

oc
al

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
S

ch
em

e 
 

O
ng

oi
ng

  
 

(3
) 

R
e 

us
e 

of
 b

ui
ld

in
gs

 in
 th

e 
G

re
en

 B
el

t 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 2
00

6 
 

U
nd

er
w

ay
 –

 F
ur

th
er

 re
po

rt 
to

 b
e 

su
bm

itt
ed

 to
 P

an
el

 o
n 

26
 

Ju
ne

 2
00

6 
(4

) E
as

t o
f E

ng
la

nd
 P

la
n 

 
S

um
m

er
 2

00
6 

U
nd

er
w

ay
: F

in
di

ng
s 

of
 E

xa
m

in
at

io
n 

in
 P

ub
lic

 a
w

ai
te

d 
 

(5
) P

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
/C

om
m

un
ity

 
W

ar
de

ns
  

S
ep

te
m

be
r 2

00
6 

U
nd

er
w

ay
 - 

E
ss

ex
 P

ol
ic

e 
an

d 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 R
en

ew
al

 
U

ni
t t

o 
at

te
nd

 2
6 

Ju
ne

 2
00

6 
m

tg
.  

(6
) O

ng
oi

ng
 T

ra
ve

lle
r I

ss
ue

s 
 

O
ng

oi
ng

 
N

ew
 it

em
 –

 a
dd

ed
 b

y 
O

S
C

 o
n 

16
 M

ar
ch

 2
00

6 
(7

) P
la

nn
in

g 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 –

  
m

on
ito

rin
g 

of
 e

nf
or

ce
m

en
t 

fig
ur

es
/o

ut
co

m
es

 

O
ng

oi
ng

 
N

ew
 it

em
 –

 a
dd

ed
 b

y 
O

S
C

 o
n 

16
 M

ar
ch

 2
00

6 

(8
) W

as
te

 M
an

ag
em

en
t –

 S
iz

e 
of

 
W

he
el

ed
 B

in
s 

 
TB

A
 

N
ew

 it
em

 –
 a

dd
ed

 b
y 

O
S

C
 o

n 
16

 M
ar

ch
 2

00
6 

26
 J

un
e,

 2
9 

A
ug

us
t, 

30
 O

ct
ob

er
, 1

9 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

00
6,

 2
6 

Fe
br

ua
ry

, 2
6 

A
pr

il 
20

07
. 

Fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 M
an

ag
em

en
t S

ta
nd

in
g 

P
an

el
 

 (1
) B

es
t V

al
ue

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 D
at

a 
Q

ua
rte

rly
  

U
nd

er
w

ay
: M

on
ito

rin
g 

of
 B

V
P

P
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

n 
on

 1
 J

un
e 

20
06

. T
he

 P
an

el
s 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 o
n 

K
P

Is
 to

 b
e 

re
fe

rr
ed

 to
 C

ab
in

et
. 

D
ra

ft 
B

es
t V

al
ue

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 P
la

n 
20

06
/0

7 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 o
n 

25
 A

pr
il 

20
06

. 
(2

) P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 (S
er

vi
ce

s 
to

 b
e 

sc
ru

tin
is

ed
 in

 R
ot

at
io

n)
  

 
U

nd
er

w
ay

: L
an

d 
C

ha
rg

es
 a

nd
 L

eg
al

 a
nd

 A
dm

in
is

tra
tio

n 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

to
 b

e 
sc

ru
tin

is
ed

 a
t n

ex
t m

ee
tin

g.
 

15
 A

ug
us

t, 
14

 
N

ov
em

be
r 2

00
5,

 1
5 

Ja
nu

ar
y,

  
12

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
20

07
 

Page 93



Ite
m

 
R

ep
or

t 
D

ea
dl

in
e/

Pr
io

rit
y 

 
Pr

og
re

ss
/C

om
m

en
ts

 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
of

 
Fu

tu
re

 M
ee

tin
gs

 
(3

) Q
ua

rte
rly

 F
in

an
ci

al
 M

on
ito

rin
g 

 
20

06
/0

7 
U

nd
er

w
ay

: Q
ua

rte
rly

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

to
 b

e 
su

bm
itt

ed
 to

 th
e 

P
an

el
 o

n 
15

 A
ug

us
t 2

00
6.

  
(4

) A
nn

ua
l A

ud
it 

P
la

n 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 2

00
7 

R
ef

er
re

d 
by

 O
S

C
 o

n 
2 

M
ar

ch
 2

00
6 

(5
) R

ev
ie

w
 o

f L
oc

al
 L

an
d 

ch
ar

ge
s 

 
 

U
nd

er
w

ay
: R

ep
or

t w
en

t t
o 

th
e 

1 
Ju

ne
 m

ee
tin

g,
 a

no
th

er
 

re
po

rt 
w

as
 re

qu
es

te
d 

fo
r t

he
 1

4 
N

ov
em

be
r m

ee
tin

g 
up

da
tin

g 
th

e 
pa

ne
l o

n 
th

e 
la

te
st

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

ts
.  

(6
) L

oc
al

 A
re

a 
A

gr
ee

m
en

ts
 

 
P

an
el

 to
 m

on
ito

r P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 In
di

ca
to

rs
 fo

r t
he

 
A

gr
ee

m
en

ts
.  

(7
) D

ra
ft 

C
ou

nc
il 

P
la

n 
20

06
-2

01
0 

 
U

nd
er

w
ay

. 

 

(8
) B

ud
ge

t P
ap

er
s 

 
To

 b
e 

re
po

rte
d 

at
 th

e 
N

ov
em

be
r, 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

&
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

m
ee

tin
gs

. 
N

ov
. m

ee
tin

g 
to

 c
on

si
de

r g
ro

w
th

/ s
av

in
gs

; 
Ja

n.
 m

ee
tin

g 
to

 c
on

si
de

r t
he

 d
et

ai
le

d 
bu

dg
et

; &
 

Fe
b.

 m
ee

tin
g 

fo
r l

as
t c

om
m

en
ts

 p
rio

r t
o 

fo
rm

al
 ta

x 
se

tti
ng

 

 

C
us

to
m

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

IC
T 

S
ta

nd
in

g 
P

an
el

 
 (1

) C
us

to
m

er
 C

on
ta

ct
 C

en
tre

  
 

R
ep

or
t o

n 
C

us
to

m
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
Tr

an
sf

or
m

at
io

n 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e 
P

la
n 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 o

n 
12

 J
un

e 
20

06
  

12
 J

un
e,

 1
4 

A
ug

us
t, 

16
 O

ct
ob

er
,1

2 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

00
6,

 7
 

Fe
br

ua
ry

, 1
9 

A
pr

il 
20

07
. 

(2
) R

ev
ie

w
 o

f C
ou

nc
il’

s 
IE

G
 

S
tra

te
gy

  
 

R
ep

or
t o

n 
IE

G
6 

to
 b

e 
su

bm
itt

ed
 to

 th
e 

P
an

el
 in

 S
um

m
er

 
20

06
 

 

Ta
sk

 a
nd

 F
in

is
h 

P
an

el
 o

n 
Le

is
ur

e 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

 
(1

) F
ut

ur
e 

M
an

ag
em

en
t o

f 
W

al
th

am
 A

bb
ey

 S
po

rts
 C

en
tre

  
 

N
ew

 P
ro

po
sa

l s
ub

m
itt

ed
 in

 M
ar

ch
 2

00
6 

  
TB

A
 

 

Page 94



Ite
m

 
R

ep
or

t 
D

ea
dl

in
e/

Pr
io

rit
y 

 
Pr

og
re

ss
/C

om
m

en
ts

 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
of

 
Fu

tu
re

 M
ee

tin
gs

 
(2

) R
ev

ie
w

 o
f F

ut
ur

e 
M

an
ag

em
en

t o
f t

he
 R

od
in

g 
V

al
le

y 
M

ea
do

w
s 

Lo
ca

l N
at

ur
e 

R
es

er
ve

  

 
D

itt
o 

 

(3
) R

ev
ie

w
 o

f A
rts

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
in

 th
e 

D
is

tri
ct

  
 

D
itt

o 
 

(4
) D

is
tri

ct
 C

ou
nc

il’
s 

R
ol

e 
an

d 
in

vo
lv

em
en

t i
n 

O
ut

do
or

 a
nd

 
C

om
m

un
ity

 E
ve

nt
s 

 

 
D

itt
o 

 

 

To
w

n 
C

en
tre

 a
nd

 C
ar

 P
ar

ks
 T

as
k 

an
d 

Fi
ni

sh
 P

an
el

 
 

(1
) F

ut
ur

e 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f T
ow

n 
C

en
tre

s 
in

 th
e 

D
is

tri
ct

  
 

N
ew

 P
ro

po
sa

l s
ub

m
itt

ed
 in

 M
ar

ch
 2

00
6 

  

(2
) R

ol
e 

of
 C

ar
 P

ar
ks

 a
nd

 P
ar

ki
ng

 
in

 g
en

er
al

 in
 re

la
tio

n 
to

 T
ow

n 
C

en
tre

s 

 
D

itt
o 

TB
A

 

C
rim

e 
an

d 
D

is
or

de
r T

as
k 

an
d 

Fi
ni

sh
 P

an
el

 
 C

rim
e 

an
d 

D
is

or
de

r A
ct

 1
99

8 
-  

G
ov

er
nm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
 a

nd
 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

  

 
N

ew
 P

ro
po

sa
l s

ub
m

itt
ed

 in
 M

ar
ch

 2
00

6 
  

27
 J

un
e 

20
06

 
     

Page 95



Lo
ca

l S
tra

te
gi

c 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 T

as
k 

an
d 

Fi
ni

sh
 P

an
el

 
 R

ev
ie

w
 o

f G
ov

er
nm

en
t 

C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

pa
pe

r ‘
Lo

ca
l 

S
tra

te
gi

c 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s 

 - 
sh

ap
in

g 
th

ei
r f

ut
ur

e’
  

         

N
ew

 P
ro

po
sa

l s
ub

m
itt

ed
 in

 M
ar

ch
 2

00
6 

24
 J

ul
y 

20
06

 

O
ld

er
 a

nd
 D

is
ab

le
d 

P
er

so
ns

 T
as

k 
an

d 
Fi

ni
sh

 P
an

el
 

 
R

ev
ie

w
 o

f S
er

vi
ce

s 
pr

ov
id

ed
 b

y 
th

is
 C

ou
nc

il 
an

d 
as

so
ci

at
ed

 
vo

lu
nt

ar
y 

ag
en

ci
es

 to
 o

ld
er

 
pe

rs
on

s 
an

d 
th

e 
di

sa
bl

ed
.  

       

N
ew

 P
ro

po
sa

l s
ub

m
itt

ed
 in

 M
ar

ch
 2

00
6 

 Fi
rs

t m
ee

tin
g 

on
 2

2 
Ju

ne
 2

00
6 

to
 fo

rm
ul

at
e 

te
rm

s 
of

 
re

fe
re

nc
e 

an
d 

sc
op

e 
re

vi
ew

 

22
 J

un
e 

20
06

  

Tr
av

el
le

r I
ss

ue
s 

Ta
sk

 a
nd

 F
in

is
h 

P
an

el
 - 

 
 

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f p

ar
tic

ul
ar

 u
na

ut
ho

ris
ed

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

ts
 e

nc
am

pm
en

ts
 a

nd
 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

 fo
r ‘

to
le

ra
te

d’
 s

ite
s 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t G

ui
da

nc
e 

an
d 

D
is

tri
ct

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 fo
r R

ac
ia

l E
qu

al
ity

 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 

O
ut

st
an

di
ng

 P
W

G
2 

m
at

te
rs

  

A
t i

ts
 la

st
 m

ee
tin

g 
on

 8
 J

un
e 

20
06

, t
he

 P
an

el
 re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

th
at

 it
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 d
is

ba
nd

ed
 a

nd
 th

at
 

th
e 

ou
ts

ta
nd

in
g 

ite
m

s 
be

 re
fe

rr
ed

 to
 th

e 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
l a

nd
 P

la
nn

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

 P
an

el
 fo

r 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n.

 

Page 96



O
ve

rv
ie

w
 a

nd
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

C
om

m
itt

ee
 

 
(1

) L
ia

is
on

 w
ith

 L
on

do
n 

U
nd

er
gr

ou
nd

 L
td

  
O

ng
oi

ng
 o

n 
si

x 
m

on
th

ly
 b

as
is

. 
 

(2
) L

ia
is

on
 o

n 
H

ig
hw

ay
s 

Lo
ca

l 
S

er
vi

ce
 A

gr
ee

m
en

t  
TB

A
 

 

(3
) S

cr
ut

in
y 

of
 o

rg
an

is
ed

 b
od

ie
s 

- 
P

C
T 

 
 

(4
) L

ia
is

on
 w

ith
 P

rin
ci

pa
l o

f 
E

pp
in

g 
Fo

re
st

 C
ol

le
ge

  
M

ay
 2

00
6 

H
el

d 
at

 2
5 

M
ay

 2
00

6 
m

ee
tin

g 

(5
) L

ia
is

on
 w

ith
 E

ss
ex

 P
ol

ic
e 

– 
M

er
ge

r P
ro

po
sa

ls
   

Ju
ly

 2
00

6 
E

ss
ex

 P
ol

ic
e 

to
 a

tte
nd

 th
is

 m
ee

tin
g 

(6
) L

ia
is

on
 w

ith
 E

ss
ex

 P
ol

ic
e 

– 
 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 P

ol
ic

in
g 

In
iti

at
iv

e 
  

TB
A

 
 

(6
) D

ra
ft 

C
ou

nc
il 

P
la

n 
20

06
-2

01
0 

Ju
ly

 2
00

6 
 

S
ub

m
itt

ed
 to

 th
is

 m
ee

tin
g 

(7
) L

ia
is

on
 w

ith
 L

ea
de

r a
nd

 
C

ab
in

et
  

Ju
ly

 2
00

6 
Li

ai
so

n 
to

 c
on

si
de

r a
nd

 c
om

m
en

t o
n 

th
e 

C
ab

in
et

 a
nd

 
S

cr
ut

in
y 

pl
an

s 
fo

r y
ea

r a
he

ad
 

(8
) O

S
 R

ev
ie

w
 S

em
in

ar
 

O
S

 T
ra

in
in

g 
fo

r M
em

be
rs

  
M

em
be

r T
ra

in
in

g 
20

07
/0

8 
 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
00

6.
  

 

6 
Ju

ly
, 3

1 
A

ug
us

t, 
5 

O
ct

ob
er

, 
9 

N
ov

em
be

r, 
7 

D
ec

em
be

r 2
00

6,
 1

 
Fe

br
ua

ry
, 8

 M
ar

ch
, 

5 
A

pr
il 

20
07

. 

 

Page 97



Page 98

This page is intentionally left blank



TERMS OF REFERENCE – TASK AND FINISH 
 
 

  
Title:   Crime and Disorder 
 
 
 Status:  Task and finish 
 
 
 
 Terms of Reference: 
 

1. To consider and recommend … 
 
2.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 Source: 
 

 
 
 
 Reporting Deadlines: 
 
 
 
 
 Work Programme 2005/6 
 

 First Meeting –  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Item 
 
 

Priority 
 

Report 
Deadline 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Agenda Item 11

Page 99



Chairman: 
 
 Chairman:  Councillor  
 
 Vice-Chairman:  Councillor  
 
 
 
 

Page 100



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REPORT OF THE TRAVELLERS TASK AND FINISH 
PANEL 

 
 
 

JULY 2006 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact for enquiries: 
John Gilbert/ John Preston, Lead Officer 
Epping Forest Forest District Council, Civic Offices 
Epping Forest, CM16 4BZ 
jgilbert@Epping Forestforestdc.gov.uk 
01992 56 4062 

Agenda Item 12

Page 101



EFDC Travellers Task and Finish Panel Report 2

1. Chairman’s Forward 
 

Site Specific Issues  
 
This Panel started with a task to consider issues about a site in Paynes Lane, Nazeing following 
discussions at the Cabinet in March 2004. Subsequently we were asked to consider other sites at 
Birchfield, Stapleford Tawney and Neverest, Hamlet Hill. 
 
At an early stage in our work we benefited from a group of Members and officers who were involved 
in the Panel attending a course at Newmarket on 21 July 2005, and we were also given a guided 
tour of the District on 14 July 2005 to see existing and ex traveller sites. These included the public 
site at the Hop Gardens Stanford Rivers, and many smaller private sites particularly in the Nazeing 
and Roydon area. We were not able to see the Birchfield site that day, and generally we did not go 
onto the sites. The exception to that was the Paynes Lane site, which we looked at in some detail. 
We saw one tolerated site, and some areas of land that have acted as occasional stopping places 
for those “in transit.” 
 
We benefited from attendance of a group of residents from Paynes Lane area at our meeting on 19 
September 2005, and I would like to record my thanks to Margaret O’ Connor, Steve Satwick, 
Robert Smith and Lawrie Berry. 
 
Policy Issues 
 
Our terms of reference were extended to cover matters of policy. During the last year we have been 
aware that a number of important changes were being made, or were in contemplation.  At our 
meeting on 8 June 2006 we received a copy of the new government Circular (ODPM 01/2006), and 
of the Essex wide Traveller Needs Assessment, which has involved an extensive direct dialogue 
with travellers. We were due to receive a copy of the report from the Commission for Racial 
Equality. 
 
 
I give my personal thanks to the Head of Environmental Services and the Head of Planning 
Services - the Lead Officers of the Panel for their assistance to me, not only advising the Panel, but 
also for organising and acting as secretary at its meetings for most of the year until Zoe Folley was 
able to assist. 
 
 
Councillor P McMillan 
Chairman 
Traveller Task and Finish Panel  
June 2006 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



EFDC Travellers Task and Finish Panel Report 3

2. Terms of Reference  
 

 
We were tasked with considering and formulating recommendations on the following matters: 
 
Site Specific Issues  
 
(a)  the arrangements for dealing with unauthorised development on traveller owned sites within 
the district, with particular reference to Paynes Lane, Nazeing Birchfield, Stapleford Tawney; and 
Hamlet Hill, Roydon; 
 
(b) the management of travellers who enter onto land within the district with a view to 
unauthorised encampment, with particular reference to the legal remedies available; interactions 
with other agencies such as Essex Police and Essex County Council; and the provision of 
emergency and/or transit sites within the district; 
 
(c) arrangements for ‘tolerated’ sites; 
 
Policy Issues  
 
(d) Government’s guidance on the needs of travellers in the context of the Council’s review of its 
District Local Plan and the Essex Housing Needs Assessment; 
 
(e) the results of the Commission for Racial Equality’s (CRE) study on traveller issues in which 
this Council participated, once published; and 
 
(f) any further outstanding matters not specifically covered in (a) to (e) above arising from the 
last meeting of Policy Working Group 2. 
 
 
In considering the above, we consulted local residents in respect of the Paynes Lane site, and 
gathered evidence by attendance at the course at Newmarket run by the East Of England Regional 
Assembly, by the tour of sites and by seeking information from officers with detailed knowledge of 
the issues and sites in the District, including the Head of Service for Environmental Services and the 
Head of Planning and Economic Development, together with the Environmental Health Manager Jim 
Nolan, the Principal Environmental Health Officer Sue Stranders, and Senior Environmental 
Technical Health Officer Richard Gardiner. Most recently we were provided with a draft list of 
existing and historic sites within the District, which we want Planning Services to complete and keep 
up to date. We recommend accordingly.  
 
Perhaps the only thing we did not do was engage with travellers directly, but we were very aware 
that the Essex Needs Assessment, and the CRE investigation (entitled ‘‘Common Ground’ Equality 
Good Race Relations and Sites for Gypsies and Irish Travellers’) were doing this at the same time. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 103



EFDC Travellers Task and Finish Panel Report 4

 
Specific Sites 

 
Paynes Lane 
 
We concluded that the original decision made by the Cabinet in March 2004 concerning the 
remediation of the site following the departure of the traveller occupants  was too costly and risky. 
We noted that actions by residents have effectively secured the site. We considered whether a 
solution from a nearby landowner might have merit, but no formal application for planning 
permission has been made, and officers have been instructed to proceed with clearance of the top 
of the site. We made a report to the Cabinet on 5 September 2005 recommending that work be 
carried out to clear the site and funding arrangements for this. The Cabinet endorsed our proposals. 
At our last meeting in June 2006 we considered the progress made with these recommendations 
and urged that they be pursued bearing in mind the assurances offered over this at our discussions 
with the residents of area. 
 
Birchfield 
 
We noted that a major appeal decision had not gone in favour of the travellers, and that Cabinet had 
agreed clearance of the top of the site; in particular because fly tipping was increasingly taking 
place. We noted that an injunction had been obtained, but that a further Public Inquiry was 
scheduled. Works to clear the site are underway. We are recommending that the action previously 
agreed by the Council be pursued.  
 
Hamlet Hill  
 
We noted that the Neverest site had its entrance blocked by mounds, and had been vacated.  It is 
less visible than the above two sites. 
 
Tolerated sites 
 
At our meeting on 19 September 2005 we considered three such sites, together with the pros and 
cons of whether the tolerance could be changed so as to enable the sites to be the subject of 
applications to become authorised. We considered that this would have to be reviewed, and would 
need to account for other reports that we were due to consider. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



EFDC Travellers Task and Finish Panel Report 5

Policy Issues 
 
Definition  
 
We noted that recent Government Circulars have changed the definition of a traveller. The former 
description classified Travellers as “Persons of a nomadic habit of life, whatever their race or origin.” 
This quoted section 16 of the Caravan Sites Act 1968. Case law has also indicated that nomadic 
activity had to be for an economic purpose. The new policy defines Travellers as “ Persons of 
nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on grounds only of 
their own or their family’s or dependant’s educational or health needs or old age have ceased to 
travel temporarily or permanently, but excluding members of an organised group of travelling 
showpeople or circus people travelling together as such.”  
 
Latest Circular  
 
In addition to the above, the most recent circular (ODPM 01/2006) published on 2 February 2006, 
has changed a number of other significant matters, such the approach expected of the District 
Council; in particular in the Local Development Framework.  
 
Site Provision  
 
We noted that the desire of the traveller for education for children or healthcare has led to many 
seeking sites where those facilities are close at hand, and this in turn has led to some frictions with 
the settled population. Various solutions to these issues have been attempted ranging from Council 
provision of sites to placing the onus upon travellers to bring forward their own sites. The latest 
circular points to major failures in these approaches, in part because of the numbers without an 
authorised site, and also having regard to statistics regarding the health of the traveller communities 
or their educational attainment. The Government is now seeking to ensure that traveller’s housing 
needs are assessed in much the same way as the needs of the rest of the population for housing, 
and that significantly more provision is made. Members saw positive examples of traveller 
communities a little way outside towns elsewhere in East Anglia when they went to Newmarket. 
 
The Local Context – Issues for consideration  
 
We agreed that the local context for Epping Forest has to be recognised as different, even just 
reflecting the following points; 
 

• Land prices here are very high, particularly in the urban areas, and where there is much 
competition for land for other uses. Many other Government policies push development first 
to such built up locations. 

• All of our rural areas are Metropolitan Green Belt, and within the Green Belt there are many 
other constraints to the development of land, such as Lee Valley Regional Park, Epping 
Forest, floodplains. 

• Notwithstanding those constraints, extensive provision has already been made (irrespective 
of whether it was granted by the Council or at appeal) Epping Forest compares well with 
other Essex Councils who do not have all those constraints. 

• Our Local Plan has contained a permissive traveller policy; if very special circumstances can 
be demonstrated. 

• Two of the large sites that have been problematic appear to have been occupied irrespective 
of planning constraints, and may simply be close to employment opportunities in London and 
the suburbs, and close to the national motorway network. 

• Little respect has been shown in the development of those sites, or their subsequent use for 
tipping of waste. The human rights of travellers are being considered; whilst this is of course 
important, we should not forget that the settled community share similar rights.  

Page 105



EFDC Travellers Task and Finish Panel Report 6

 
The Circular appears to expect that sites will be found in urban areas; this may be optimistic locally. 
 
The Circular may allow for future urban extensions required by the East of England Plan to provide 
allocations for travellers as well as all other types of housing; this would be much fairer. 
 
The expectation that the Council will be able to make a case to exceptionally take land out of the 
Green Belt so as to provide for travellers is likely to be a more drawn out than a swift solution. 
 
The Essex wide Traveller Needs Assessment 
 
We noted that this document had secured an extensive dialogue directly with the traveller 
community, many of whom regarded Essex as home, and tended to correlate with points in the 
circular; for example that travelling to fairs is less prevalent, whilst travelling to employment from a 
settled site has become more normal.  In addition points about health, (death of young children) or 
different educational achievement of the younger generation were similar. We noted how Epping 
Forest compared to the other Councils in Essex both as regards public and private sector provision. 
We noted that Essex had undertaken such an analysis, which the Circular now expected. The need 
arising from authorised sites does not appear high, but the numbers of unauthorised sites are of 
concern, although one needs to understand the details of each of those. The Assessment also 
needs to advise the local development framework. 
 
We concluded that the above policy matters are not in the nature of a piece of work that can be 
finished quickly, and accordingly we are proposing that the outstanding the terms of reference be 
passed to the Environment and Planning Standing Panel for completion.  
 

Conclusion 
 
Our considerations have given us a much better appreciation of the many difficult issues that are 
relevant in considering both the needs of travellers, and the local context of making acceptable 
provision for them. We have been faced with significant changes to the advice that the Government 
gives, the details of the travellers needs from an up to date survey, and that these matters are 
ongoing policy matters which our Panel is not able to continue with. 
 
We have considered specific local sites and the difficulties which have arisen therewith, and which 
are requiring significant expenditure; whilst noting that more positive examples exist elsewhere, it is 
difficult to see those circumstances being able to be replicated locally. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



EFDC Travellers Task and Finish Panel Report 7

Recommendations  
 
(1) That the work undertaken by the Task and Finish Panel on Traveller Issues be noted 
and; 
 
(2) That the measures previously agreed by the Council to secure the clearance of the 
top level of the sites at Paynes Lane continue now without further delay and the actions 
agreed for Birchfield continue in the same manner and; 
 
(3) That the Task and Finish Panel be disbanded given that the outstanding work plan 
items require long term consideration not suited to Task and Finish Review and; 
 
(4) That in view of recommendation (3) above the outstanding items be referred to 
Environmental and Planning Services Standing Panel for ongoing consideration and action 
namely: 
 
(a) The monitoring of recommendation (3) above; 
 
(b) The monitoring and review of the position regarding tolerated sites and;  
 
(c) The management of travellers who enter onto land within the district with a view to 
unauthorised encampment, with particular reference to the legal remedies available 
;interactions with other agencies such as Essex Police and Essex County Council; and the 
provision of emergency and/or transit sites within the district; 
 
(e) Government’s guidance on the needs of travellers in the context of the Council’s 
review of its District Local Plan and the Essex Housing Needs Assessment; 
 
(f) The results of the Commission for Racial Equality’s study on traveller issues in which 
this Council participated, once published; 
 
(5) That the draft list of existing and historic sites within the District produced by 
Planning Services be completed and updated and made available to the Panel 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



G:\C\9OVEREN\DRAFT REPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 6 JULY 2006.doc 

Report to Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Date of meeting: 6 June 2006 
  
Subject: Council Meetings - Future Role 
Officer contact for further information:  C Overend 
 
Committee Secretary: Z Folley (ext 4532) 
 

 
Recommendation:  
That the proposed enhancements to Council procedures set out in this report be 
approved and appropriate amendments be made to the Council’s Constitution 
accordingly  

 
Report  
 
(a) Scope of Review and Consultation Undertaken 

 
1. (Chairman of Constitution and Members Services Scrutiny Panel)  Following the 
introduction of revised political decision-making arrangements and adoption of a new 
Constitution, revised Terms of Reference for the Full Council were agreed. 

 
2. When reviewing constitutional matters, at its meeting on 25 November 2003, the 
Overview and Scrutiny Co-ordinating Group noted that the volume of business being referred to 
the Council from Cabinet was more limited.  In the early stages of drafting the Constitution, it 
was acknowledged that a new role should be developed for the Council. 

 
3. Since political modernisation, debates at Council meetings have concentrated on 
referred items, appointments to outside bodies and Committees, and to motions and questions.  
It is recognised that Council meetings may not be achieving Members' aspirations for providing 
a major forum for debates of interest to the local community. 

 
4. During the 2004/05 Council year, the then Policy Working Group began a review of the 
types of item being considered and determined at Council meetings and the options for 
enhancing debate.  The work on the review was continued by this Panel as it fell within its 
purview under the revised arrangements which came into effect from the commencement of the 
2005/06 Council year. 

 
5. A number of visits to other local authority Council meetings were undertaken and a 
comprehensive review has now been completed.  We have identified a number of additional 
items that might be appropriate for discussion and determination by the Full Council itself, and 
identified other potential revisions to the terms of reference we feel would enhance debate and 
encourage greater public interest. 

 
6. Subsequent to the conclusion of the review we also surveyed all Members of Council, in 
the form of a questionnaire, on the potential enhancements we had identified.  The results of the 
survey indicated that, in each instance, Members were in favour of the enhancements 
proposed. 

 
 

Agenda Item 13

Page 109



G:\C\9OVEREN\DRAFT REPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 6 JULY 2006.doc 

 
(b) Key Areas Selected 
 
From a range of measures assessed, we have identified a number of enhancements we are 
proposing should be introduced during the 2006/07 Council year, details of which are set out 
below.  There are other enhancements (such as the Council in Committee/Seminar concept) 
which we feel could be brought in at a later stage once the other measures have become 
established. 
 
(i) 'State of the District' debates 
 
We were keen to introduce of 'State of the District' debates, having been impressed by the 
successful introduction of this item at other local authorities such as Arun, Ashfield, Breckland, 
Fenland, Rother, Salisbury and Welwyn Hatfield.  We have stressed the need for these debates 
to result in positive outcomes, for the meetings to be held once a year and to be linked in to 
Best Value/Council Plan and budgetary process. 
 
State of the District debates focus on the key issues faced not just by the authority, but by the 
areas and communities within the District.  Such debates symbolise an outward looking Council 
and often involve, as part of the meeting, representatives of other stakeholders and the public 
generally, as part of a community planning process. 
 
If other Members of the Council are supportive of this, officers will work on the detailed 
operational arrangements with a view to the first 'State of the District' debate being held during 
Autumn 2006. 
 
(ii) 'Single Issue' Council meetings 
 
We noted that provision already exists in the Constitution for such debates.  The issue is about 
how this provision should be used and the approach to be taken in achieving the desired 
outcome. 
 
Reference was made to the informal public seminar recently held on wheeled bins.  The option 
could be used for similar discussion using a similar approach.  The debates might be held 
before formal Council meetings.  In relation to choosing topics for discussion, it was noted that 
this could be rotated between the Groups 'State of the District' debates could also bring forward 
issues for the sessions. 
 
We agreed that this option should be pursued and suggested that only one debate be held in 
the first instance as a pilot.  Again we feel action should be taken to ensure that meetings are 
followed up to secure a 'positive outcome'.  This could be undertaken, for example, by a specific 
Task and Finish Panel. 
 
(iii) Reports from Overview and Scrutiny/Leader/Portfolio Holders 
 
We agreed that this should involve a written report being submitted to every meeting by each of 
the Portfolio Holders, the Leader and the Overview and Scrutiny Chairman on current work 
falling within their spheres of responsibility.  The information in their reports should be taken as 
read and be subject to questions by Members without notice.  We are proposing that twenty 
minutes be allocated under this item to each of the three areas and that it should cover any 
issue under their remit. 

 
We have agreed that a protocol be devised for determining the number of questions each 
Group/individual Member would be entitled to ask during the item and that the question of 

Page 110



G:\C\9OVEREN\DRAFT REPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 6 JULY 2006.doc 

whether the protocol should take account of the 'pro rata' arrangements will need to be looked 
at. 
 
(iv) Questions by Members 
 
We have agreed that, alongside a provision for verbal questions, provision should still exist for 
written questions under notice.  We are proposing that there be one agenda item for Members 
questions and this cover both option (iii) above and written questions and the twenty minute slot 
referred to in that option cover both written and verbal questions.  
 
(v) Questions by the Public 
 
The District Council, along with many other local authorities has had difficulty in encouraging the 
public to submit their questions and participate in the process.  We have agreed that publicity 
arrangements for this should be re-assessed.  Suggestions for potential improvements include 
information on the website, local newspapers and an updated version of the booklet providing 
guidance to the general public. We have also agreed that the operational arrangements 
connected with questions from the public should be reviewed to identify ways of making them 
more customer friendly.  
 
(c) Constitutional Changes 
 
We noted that the officers will be looking at the operational arrangements, including any 
protocols required in respect of the new arrangements and will be reporting back on these in 
due course.  In the meantime details of the constitutional changes necessitated 
to the Council Procedure Rules are identified in bold in Appendixes attached. 

 

Page 111



Page 112

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

APPENDIX 
 
ARTICLE 4 - THE FULL COUNCIL 
 
4.01 Terms of Reference 
 

The Council, and only the Council, will exercise the following functions: 
 

(a) Adoption of and changes to the Constitution; 
 

(b) Approval of, adoption of and revisions to the policy framework and the 
budget.  (The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different 
services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the Council Tax base, setting the 
Council Tax and decisions relating to the control of the Council's borrowing 
requirement, the control of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits); 

 
(c) Adoption of the following: 

 
 Asset Management Plan 
 

Best Value Performance Plan 
 
Capital Strategy 

 
Community Plan/Strategy 

 
 Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy 
 
 Cultural Strategy 
 
 Development Plan 
 
 Plans and Strategies, which comprise the Development Plan 
 
 Economic Development Strategy 
 
 Housing Investment Programme 
 
 Local Agenda 21 Strategy 
 
 Local Transport Plan 
 
 Social Inclusion Strategy 
 
 Other plans which it decides, as a matter of local choice, should be the responsibility 

of the Council to adopt; 
 

(d) Approval of any application to the Secretary of State in respect of any 
Housing Land transfer.  i.e. the approval or adoption of applications (whether in draft 
form or not) to the Secretary of State for approval of a programme of disposal of 500 
or more properties to a person under the Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban 
Development Act 1993 or to dispose of land used for residential purposes where 
approval is required under Sections 32 or 43 of the Housing Act 1985; 

 
(e) Adoption of the District Council's Codes of Conduct; 

Page 113



2 

 
(f) Subject to the urgency procedure, contained in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution, making decisions about any matter in 
the discharge of an executive function which is covered by the policy framework or 
the budget where the decision maker is minded to make it in a manner which would 
be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to/or not wholly in accordance with 
the budget; 

 
(g) Election/Appointment of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Council; 

 
(h) Appointing the Leader and members of the Cabinet; 

 
(i) Appointments to Committees and Sub Committees; 

 
(j) Agreeing and amending the terms of reference for Committees, deciding on 
their composition and making appointments to them; 

 
(k) Appointing representatives to outside bodies; 

 
(l) Adopting an allowances scheme under Article 2.05; 

 
(m) Confirming the appointment or dismissal of the Head of Paid Service; 

 
(n) Making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and promoting 
or opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills; 

 
(o) All local choice functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution which the 
Council decides should be undertaken by itself rather than the executive; 

 
(p) Inviting contributions from relevant community groups or representatives; 

 
(q) Agreeing and supporting the community engagement activities including the 
following: 

 
 - working with external partners; 
 

- offering opportunities for 'public interaction sessions' community 
spokespersons etc.; 

 
 - recognising Council achievements;  
 

(r) Delegations from community groups may be invited. 
 
 (s) State of the District debate; 
 
 (t) Single issue debates;  and 
 
 (u) Receipt of written reports from the Leader, Chairman of Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee and each of the Portfolio Holders outlining 
progress on on-going issues within their areas of responsibility. 

 
(v) Receipt of questions from Members and consideration of responses and 

subsequent debate thereon on matters failing within the responsibility 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and each of the Portfolio 
Holders.  

Page 114



3 

4.02 Council Meetings 
 
 There are three types of Council meeting: 
 
 (a) the annual meeting; 
 
 (b) ordinary meetings;  and 
 
 (c) extraordinary meetings. 
 
4.03 Responsibility for Functions 
 
 The Council will keep up-to-date the tables in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out 

the responsibilities for the Council's functions which are not the responsibility of the 
Executive. 

 
 
 
 

G\C\OVEREND\08OVEREN\APPENDIX 1 

 
 

Page 115



Page 116

This page is intentionally left blank



E1 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
 

 
CONTENTS 
 
Rule  
 
1. Annual Meeting of the Council 
 
2. Ordinary Meetings  
 
3. Extraordinary Meetings  
 
4. Time and Place of Meetings  
 
5. Notice and Summons to Meetings  
 
6. Chairman of Meeting  
 
7. Quorum  
 
8. Duration of Meeting  
 
9. Questions by the Public  
 
10. Questions by Members  
 
11. Motions on Notice  
 
12. Motions without Notice  
 
13. Rules of Debate  
 
14. Previous Decisions and Motions  
 
15. Voting  
 
16. Voting on Appointments  
 
17. Minutes  
 
18. Record of Attendance  
 
19. Exclusion of public  
 
20. Members' Conduct  
 
21. Disturbance of Public  
 
22. Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules  
 
23. Planning Applications 
 
24. Application to the Executive, Committees and Sub-Committees  
 

Page 117



E2 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
 
 
1. ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 
 
In a year when there is an ordinary election of councillors, the annual meeting will take place 
within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing councillors.  In any other year, the annual 
meeting will take place in March, April or May. 
 
The annual meeting will: 
 
(i) elect a person to preside if the Chairman of Council is not present; 
 
(ii) elect the Chairman of Council; 
 
(iii) elect the Vice-Chairman of Council; 
 
(iv) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
 
(v) receive any announcements from the Chairman; 
 
(vi) elect the leader and deputy leader; 
 
(vii) agree the number of members to be appointed to the executive and appoint those 

members of the cabinet; 
 
(viii) appoint at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a Standards Committee 

Policy Working Groups and such other committees as the Council considers 
appropriate to deal with matters which are neither reserved to the Council nor are 
executive functions as set out in Part 3, Table 1 of this Constitution; 

 
(ix) appoint Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen to those bodies; 
 
(x) agree the scheme of delegation or such part of it as the Constitution determines it is 

for the Council to agree as set out in Part 3 Table 3 of this Constitution); 
 
(xi) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year; 
 
(xii) consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting; 
 
(xiii) receive a work programme for the Executive and a joint work programme for 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees for the ensuing year;  and 
 
(xiv) be notified of Group Leaders and Deputies and Group representatives on relevant 

Committees. 
 
1.2 Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies 
 
At the annual meeting, the council meeting will: 
 
(i) decide which committees to establish for the municipal year; 
 

Page 118



E3 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

(ii) decide the size and terms of reference for those committees;
 
 
(iii) decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with the political 

balance rules; 
 
(iv) receive nominations of councillors to serve on each committee and outside body;  

and 
 
(v) appoint to those committees and outside bodies except where such appointments 
are exercisable only by the executive. 
 
2. ORDINARY MEETINGS 
 
2.1 Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a programme 
decided at the Council’s annual meeting.  Ordinary meetings will: 
 
(i) elect a person to preside if the Chairman and Vice-Chairman are not present; 
 
(ii) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
 
(iii) receive any declarations of interest from members; 
 
(iv) receive any announcements from the Chairman, Leader of the Council, members of 

the Executive; 
 
(v) receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public and members of the 

Council in relation to matters which in the opinion of the person presiding at the 
meeting are relevant to the business of the meeting; 

 
(vi) receive written reports from the Leader, Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and each of the Portfolio Holders and receive questions and 
answers on any of those reports (see Section 10 below); 

 
(vii) receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the business of joint 

arrangements and external organisations; 
 
(viii) consider motions; 
 
(ix) receive questions; 
 
(ix) consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting, including 

consideration of proposals from the executive in relation to the Council’s budget and 
policy framework and reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees for debate, 
including annual reports for both Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the 
Executive on their activities in April of each Council year; 

 
(x) any matter of public concern allocated to any ordinary Council meeting for the 

purpose of debate; 
 
(xi) deal with any items of business deemed by the Chairman as urgent business in 

accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Page 119



E4 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

2.2 State of the District Debates 
 
 (i) Calling of debate 
 
 The Leader will call a State of the District debate annually on a date and in a 

form to be agreed with the Chairman. 
 
 (ii) Form of debate 
 
 The Leader will decide the form of debate, with the aim of enabling the widest 

possible public involvement and publicity.  This may include holding 
workshops and other events prior to or during the State of the District debate. 

 
 (iii) Results of debate 
 
 The results of the debate will be disseminated as widely as possible within the 

community and to agencies and organisations in the area;  and considered by 
the Leader in proposing the budget and policy framework to the Council for the 
coming year. 

 
2.3 Single Issue Council Meetings 
 
 The Leader may, from time to time, call for a Council meeting to be held 

dealing with a single issue of critical importance to the residents of the District.  
The normal rules of debate will apply in the case of 'single issue' Council 
meetings. 

 
3. EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS 
 
3.1 Calling Extraordinary Meetings 
 
Those listed below may request the Proper Officer to call Council meetings in addition to 
ordinary meetings: 
 
(i) the Council by resolution; 
 
(ii) the Chairman of the Council; 
 
(iii) the Monitoring Officer;  and 
 
(iv) any five members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented to the 

Chairman of the Council and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has failed to call 
a meeting within seven days of the presentation of the requisition. 

 
3.2 Business 
 
An extraordinary meeting of the Council shall transact the business set out in the agenda. 
 
4. TIME AND PLACE OF MEETINGS 
 

Page 120



E5 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

Meetings of the Council shall be held at the Civic Offices, High Street, Epping at 7.00 p.m. or 
at such other time or venue as the Chairman of the Council may determine in consultation 
with the Chief Executive.  All business at Council meetings shall be completed by 10.00 p.m. 
 
5. NOTICE AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS 
 
The Chief Executive will give notice to the public of the time and place of any meeting in 
accordance with the Access to Information Rules.  At least five clear days before a meeting, 
the Chief Executive will send a summons signed by him or her by post to every member of 
the Council, leave it at their usual place of residence or posted or delivered to some other 
address that a member may notify in writing.  The summons will give the date, time and 
place of each meeting and specify the business to be transacted, and will be accompanied 
by such reports as are available. 
 
6. CHAIRMAN OF MEETING 
 
The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Chairman.  
Where these rules apply to Committee and Sub-Committee meetings, references to the 
Chairman also include the Chairman of Committees, Sub-Committees, Boards and Panels. 
 
7. QUORUM 
 
The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of members.  During any 
meeting if the Chairman counts the number of members present and declares there is not a 
quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately.  Remaining business will be 
considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman.  If he/she does not fix a date, the 
remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting. 
 
8. DURATION OF MEETING 
 
(1) All business of the Council requiring to be transacted in the presence of the press 

and public shall be completed by 10.00 p.m. at the latest. 
 
(2) At the time appointed under (1) above, the Chairman shall permit the completion of 

debate on any item still under consideration, and at his or her discretion, any other 
remaining business whereupon the Council shall proceed to exclude the public and 
press. 

 
(3) Any public business remaining to be dealt with shall be deferred until after the 

completion of the private part of the meeting, including items submitted for report 
rather than decision. 

 
9. QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC 
 
9.1 General 
 
Members of the public may ask questions of members of the Executive at ordinary meetings 
of the Council. 
 
9.2 Order of Questions 
 

Page 121



E6 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

Questions will be asked in the order in which notice of them was received, except that the 
Chairman may group together similar questions. 
 
9.3 Notice of Questions 
 
A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing or by 
electronic mail to the Chief Executive no later than midday seven days before the day of the 
meeting.  Each question must give the name and address of the questioner and must name 
the member of the Council to whom it is to be put. 
 
9.4 Number of Questions 
 
At any one meeting no person may submit more than two questions and no more than two 
such questions may be asked on behalf of one organisation. 
 
9.5 Scope of Questions 
 
The Chief Executive may reject a question if it: 
 
(a) is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility or which affects 

the District; 
 
(b) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
 
(c) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of the 

Council in the past six months;  or 
 
(d) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 
 
 
9.6 Record of Questions 
 
The Chief Executive will enter each question in a book open to public inspection and will 
immediately send a copy of the question to the member to whom it is to be put.  Rejected 
questions will include reasons for rejection.  Copies of all questions will be circulated to all 
members on the agenda for the relevant Council meeting which will be made available to the 
public attending the meeting. 
 
9.7 Asking the Question at the Meeting 
 
The Chairman will invite the questioner to put the question to the member named in the 
notice.  If a questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to be present, they 
may ask the Chairman to put the question on their behalf.  The Chairman may ask the 
question on the questioner’s behalf, indicate that a written reply will be given or decide, in 
the absence of the questioner, that the question will not be dealt with. 
 
9.8 Supplemental Question 
 
A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one supplementary question 
without notice to the member who has replied to his or her original question.  A 
supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply .  The 
Chairman may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds in Rule 9.5 above. 

Page 122



E7 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

 
9.9 Written Answers 
 
Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either because of lack 
of time or because of the non-attendance of the member to whom it was to be put, will be 
dealt with by a written answer. 
 
9.10 Reference of Question to the Executive or a Committee/Sub-Committee 
 
Unless the Chairman decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on any question, 
but any member may move that a matter raised by a question be referred to the Executive.  
Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on without discussion. 
 
10. QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 
 
10.1 On Reports of the Executive or Committees 
 
A member of the Council may ask the Leader, or the Chairman of a Committee any question 
without notice on an item of the report of the Executive or a Committee when that item is 
being received or under consideration by the Council. 
 
10.2 Questions Following Notice at Full Council 
 
Subject to Rule 10.4, a member of the Council may ask: 
 
(a) the Chairman; 
 
(b) a member of the Executive;  or 
 
(c) the Chairman of any Committee or Sub-Committee 
 
(d) a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or 

which affects the Epping Forest District. 
 
10.3 Notice of Questions 
 
A member may only ask a question under Rule 10.2 if either: 
 
(a) they have given at least seven working days notice in writing of the question to the 

Chief Executive;  or 
 
(b) the question relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of the Chairman to 

whom the question is to be put and the content of the question is given to the Chief 
Executive by 10.00 a.m. on the day of the meeting. 

 
10.4 Replies to Questions 
 
An answer may take the form of: 
 
(a) direct oral answer; 
 

Page 123



E8 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

(b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published 
work, a reference to that publication;  or 

 
(c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer circulated later 

to the questioner. 
 
Answers to questions falling within categories (a) and (b) above shall be made available to 
the member asking the question one hour before the meeting of the Council at which the 
question will be put.  Answers to questions under (c) above will be circulated to all 
councillors. 
 
10.5 Supplementary Question 
 
A member asking a question under Rule 10.2 may ask one supplementary question without 
notice of the member to whom the first question was asked.  The supplementary question 
must arise directly out of the original question or the reply and be only for the purpose of 
elucidation. 
 
10.6 Questions without notice at full Council 
 
A member of the Council may ask the Leader, Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny or 
any member of the Cabinet any question without notice on any non-operational matter 
in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affect the 
administrative area covered by the Epping Forest District or part of it or the 
inhabitants of that area or some of them, or which relates to a written response given 
by the Leader, Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Committee or a member of the 
Cabinet. 
 
10.7 Response to a question without notice 
 
An answer to a question without notice may take the form of 
 
(a) direct oral answer from the Leader or, at the request of the Leader, from 
another member of the Cabinet; 
 
(b) direct oral answer from the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
or, at their request, from another member dealing with that issue as part of an 
Overview and Scrutiny review; 
 
(c) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 
published work, a reference to that publication; 
 
(d) where the reply cannot be conveniently be given orally, a written answer 
circulated later to the questioner;  or 
 
 
 

Page 124



E9 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

10.6 Limit on the Number of Questions 
 
The Chairman shall have discretion to limit the number of questions to be asked at any 
Council meeting.  Any question which cannot be dealt with will receive a written reply. 
 
11. MOTIONS ON NOTICE 
 
11.1 Notice of Motion 
 
Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 12, written notice of every 
motion, signed by at least the mover and seconder of the proposed motion, must be 
delivered to the Chief Executive not later than seven days before the date of the meeting.  
These will be entered in a book open to public inspection. 
 
11.2 Motions to be set out in Agenda 
 
Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order in which 
each notice was received, unless the member giving notice states, in writing, that they 
propose to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it. 
 
11.3 Scope of Motions 
 
Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which affect the 
Epping Forest District. 
 
12. MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 
 
The following motions may be moved without notice: 
 
(a) to appoint a Chairman of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 
 
(b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 
 
(c) to change the order of business in the agenda; 
 
(d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 
 
(e) to appoint a committee or member arising from an item on the summons for the 

meeting; 
 
(f) to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of the Executive, Committees or 

officers and any resolutions following from them; 
 
(g) to withdraw a motion; 
 
(h) to amend a motion; 
 
(i) to proceed to the next business; 
 
(j) closure motion - that the question be now put (see Procedure Rule 13.11); 
 
(k) closure motion - to adjourn a debate (see Procedure Rule 13.11); 

Page 125



E10 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

 
(l) closure motion - to adjourn a meeting (see Procedure Rule 13.11); 
 
(m) that Rule 8 (relating to completion of business in public session0 be waived to permit 

the public session to continue beyond 10.00 p.m. 
 
(n) to suspend a particular council procedure rule; 
 
(o) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules; 
 
(p) not to hear further a member named under Rule 20.3 or to exclude them from the 

meeting under Rule 20.4; 
 
(q) to extend the time allowed for any member's speech under Rule 13.4;  and 
 
(r) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this Constitution. 
 
13. RULES OF DEBATE 
 
13.1 No Speeches until Motion Seconded 
 
No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and explained the 
purpose of it until the motion has been seconded. 
 
13.2 Right to Require Motion in Writing 
 
Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Chairman may require it to be 
written down and handed to him/her before it is discussed. 
 
13.3 Seconder’s Speech 
 
When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their speech until later in 
the debate. 
 
13.4 Content and Length of Speeches 
 
Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal explanation or 
point of order.  No speech may exceed five minutes without the consent of the Council. 
 
13.5 When a Member may Speak Again 
 
A member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of 
debate, except: 
 
(a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another member; 
 
(b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since he/she last 

spoke; 
 
(c) if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another member, to speak on 

the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which he/she spoke was carried); 
 

Page 126



E11 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

(d) in exercise of a right of reply; 
 
(e) on a point of order;  and 
 
(f) by way of personal explanation. 
 
13.6 Amendments to Motions 
 
(a) An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either be: 
 
(i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration or 

reconsideration; 
 
(ii) to leave out words; 
 
(iii) to leave out words and insert or add others;  or 
 
(iv) to insert or add words. 
 
as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to negate the motion. 
 
(b) only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time.  No further 

amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been 
disposed of. 

 
(c) if an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may be 

moved. 
 
(d) if an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original 

motion becoming the substantive motion to which any further amendments may be 
moved. 

 
(e) after an amendment has been carried, the Chairman will read out the amended 

motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put it to the 
vote. 

 
13.7 Alteration of Motion 
 
(a) A member may alter a motion of which he/she has given notice with the consent of 

the Council.  The Council's consent will be signified without discussion. 
 
(b) A member may alter a motion which he/she has moved without notice with the 

consent of both the Council and the seconder.  The Council's consent will be 
signified without discussion. 

 
(c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made. 
 

Page 127



E12 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

13.8 Withdrawal of Motion 
 
A member may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with the consent of both the 
meeting and the seconder.  The Council's consent will be signified without discussion.  No 
member may speak on the motion after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it 
unless permission is refused by the Council. 
 
13.9 Right of Reply 
 
(a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the motion, 

immediately before it is put to the vote. 
 
(b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of reply at 

the close of the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise speak on it. 
 
(c) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on his or her 

amendment. 
 
13.10 Motions which may be Moved during Debate 
 
When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the following 
procedural motions: 
 
(a) to withdraw a motion; 
 
(b) to amend a motion; 
 
(c) to proceed to the next business; 
 
(d) that the question be now put; 
 
(e) to adjourn a debate; 
 
(f) to adjourn a meeting; 
 
(g) that Rule 8 (relating to completion of business in public session be waived to permit 

the public session to continue beyond 10.00 p.m. 
 
(h) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules;  

and 
 
(i) to not hear further a member named under Rule 20.3 or to exclude them from the 

meeting under Rule 20.4. 
 
13.11 Closure Motions 
 
A member may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of a speech of 
another member: 
 
(i) to proceed to the next business; 
 
(ii) that the question be now put; 

Page 128



E13 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

 
(iii) to adjourn a debate;  or 
 
(iv) to adjourn a meeting. 
 
(a) If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Chairman rules the item 

has been sufficiently discussed, he or she will give the mover of the original motion a 
right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote. 

 
(b) If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Chairman rules the item 

has been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote.  If it 
is passed he/she will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply before 
putting his/her motion to the vote. 

 
(c) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and the 

Chairman thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably 
be so discussed on that occasion, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote 
without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply. 

 
13.12 Point of Order 
 
A member may raise a point of order at any time.  The Chairman will hear them immediately. 
A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure or 
the law.  The member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which he/she considers it 
has been broken.  The ruling of the Chairman on the matter will be final. 
 
13.13 Personal Explanation 
 
A member may make a personal explanation at any time.  A personal explanation may only 
relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the member which may appear to have 
been misunderstood in the present debate.  The ruling of the Chairman on the admissibility 
of a personal explanation will be final. 
 
14. PREVIOUS DECISIONS AND MOTIONS 
 
14.1 Motion to Rescind a Previous Decision 
 
A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within the past 
six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is signed by at least 15 members. 
 
14.2 Motion Similar to One Previously Rejected 
 
A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting of 
Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion or amendment 
is signed by at least 15 members.  Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no one can 
propose a similar motion or amendment for six months. 
 

Page 129



E14 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

15. VOTING 
 
15.1 Majority 
 
Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple majority 
of those members voting and present in the room at the time the question was put. 
 
15.2 Chairman’s Casting Vote 
 
If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chairman will have a second or 
casting vote.  The exercise of this second or casting vote shall be in accordance with 
Article 5 (paragraph 5) of the Constitution. 
 
15.3 Show of Hands 
 
Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rules 16.4 and 16.5, the Chairman will take the 
vote by show of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. 
 
15.4 Recorded Vote 
 
If five members present at the meeting require it, the names for and against the motion or 
amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and entered into the 
minutes. 
 
15.5 Right to Require Individual Vote to be Recorded 
 
Where any member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will be so 
recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained 
from voting. 
 
16. VOTING ON APPOINTMENTS 
 
16.1 Voting on Appointments 
 
If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there is not a 
clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person with the least 
number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken.  The process will continue 
until there is a majority of votes for one person. 
 
17. MINUTES 
 
17.1 Signing the Minutes 
 
The Chairman will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable meeting.  The 
Chairman will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct record.  
The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy. 
 
17.2 Extraordinary Meetings 
 
Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the minutes is 
a meeting called under paragraph 3 of schedule 12 to the Local Government Act 1972 (an 
Extraordinary Meeting), then the next following meeting (being a meeting called otherwise 

Page 130



E15 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

than under that paragraph) will be treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes of 
paragraph 41(1) and (2) of schedule 12 relating to signing of minutes. 
 
17.3 Form of Minutes 
 
Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the exact form and order in which the 
Chairman put them. 
 
18. RECORD OF ATTENDANCE 
 
All members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their names on the 
attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to assist with the record of 
attendance. 
 
19. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 
 
Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the Access 
to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution or Rule 21 (Disturbance by Public). 
 
20. MEMBERS’ CONDUCT 
 
20.1 Standing to Speak 
 
When a member speaks at full Council they must stand and address the meeting through 
the Chairman.  If more than one member stands, the Chairman will ask one to speak and the 
others must sit.  Other members must remain seated whilst a member is speaking unless 
they wish to make a point of order or a point of personal explanation. 
 
20.2 Chairman Standing 
 
When the Chairman stands during a debate, any member speaking at the time must stop 
and sit down.  The meeting must be silent. 
 
20.3 Member not to be Heard Further 
 
If a member persistently disregards the ruling of the Chairman by behaving improperly or 
offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Chairman may move that the member be 
not heard further.  If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion. 
 
20.4 Member to Leave the Meeting 
 
If the member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the Chairman 
may move that either the member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for a 
specified period.  If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion. 
 
20.5 General Disturbance 
 
If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Chairman may 
adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary. 
 

Page 131



E16 
Rev:  2 

g\c\New Council Constitution\TEMPORARY ONLY - 2004 Part 4 

21. DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC 
 
21.1 Removal of Member of the Public 
 
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chairman will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the 
meeting room. 
 
21.2 Clearance of Part of Meeting Room 
 
If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the 
Chairman may call for that part to be cleared. 
 
22. SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
 
22.1 Suspension 
 
All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rule 13.5 and 17.2 may be suspended by 
motion on notice or without notice if at least one half of the whole number of members of the 
Council are present.  Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting. 
 
22.2 Amendment 
 
Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, when proposed 
and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the 
Council. 
 
 
23. PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
Any planning application submitted directly to a Council meeting without prior consideration 
by the District Development Committee and/or an Area Sub-Committee shall be subject to 
the procedure for public participation by applicants, objectors and parish/town councils in the 
same way as those applied to Committees and Sub-Committees by Operational Standing 
Order 5. 
 
24. APPLICATION TO THE EXECUTIVE, COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES 
 
All of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of full Council.  None of the rules 
apply to meetings of the Cabinet or other executive bodies.  Only Rules 2(xi), 4-7, 12 and 13, 
15,  (excluding 15.4), 17, 19-20 (excluding 20(1)) apply to meetings of Committees and 
Sub-Committees.  Only rules 4-7 15.1-15.3 and 21.3-21.5 shall apply to working groups.  
 
 
 

Page 132



 
 

TASK AND FINISH PANELS GUIDANCE NOTES 
 
Introduction 
 
1. Task and Finish Scrutiny Panels are established by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
order to deal with ad hoc projects or reviews included in the annual work programme for Overview 
and Scrutiny. 
 
2. Task and Finish Scrutiny Panel status will be restricted to those activities which are issue-
based, time limited and non-cyclical in character and have clearly defined objectives. 
 
3.  Task and Finish Panels as with all Overview and Scrutiny must be member led. The 
members should control the agenda and have ownership of the work programme. 
 
Scoping Phase 
 
4. (Pre Scoping) Before their first meeting with the Chairman, the Lead Officer should hold an 
informal meeting with any officers that may be connected to the topic to be reviewed to try and 
establish any and all issues related to the subject, so that that the Lead Officer on meeting with the 
Chairman, has some background information to put to them. 
 
5. (Scoping) At the start of a Task and Finish Panel the Lead Officer will draft the Terms of 
Reference in conjunction with the Chairman of the Panel. The Panel will then meet to discuss the 
Terms of References and decide how they are to achieve their goals. An emphasis must be put on 
clear and realistic objectives, which are timely and time limited. 
 
 
6.  Terms of Reference and objectives should, if at all possible, be defined using the SMART 
objective framework: 
 

Specific Measurable Achievable Realistic Time Limited 
 
 
7. The life cycle of a Task and Finish Panel will look like this: 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Creation of 
Panel 

Objective
Setting 

Investigation 

Evaluation and 
Review 

ConclusionReport / 
Recommendations 

Agenda Item 14

Page 133



 
Investigation Phase 
 
8.  Before any conclusions can be drawn, evidence must first be gathered. All available sources 
must be tapped, making the most of the expertise within the Council, any outside organisations and 
public opinion if applicable. 
 
9. The investigation phase can be handled as a full group review or as a ‘delegated tasks’ 
approach, with individual members or small sub groups, gathering evidence to bring back to the full 
Panel. 
 
10.  Any reports by officers to a Task and Finish panel should provide relevant evidence and 
background but should not make any recommendations. They should be done in an informal style, 
and not mirror the house Cabinet, Portfolio Holder style of reports. 
 
11. If thought necessary outside bodies should be involved in the evidence gathering phase, 
either by inviting that organisation to give a one off presentation or by co-opting an outside member 
onto the Panel as an adviser for the duration of the Panel’s life. 
 
12. Creativity and imagination should be used in gathering evidence. Ways can and should be 
found of getting the views of groups who may be overlooked. Perhaps the review should be 
publicised and contributions invited, the use of community venues encouraged and feedback 
provided to participants. 
 
Witnesses and Questioning 
 
13. When questioning witnesses, questions should be kept brief, clear and to the point. Start 
with broad questions first and then narrow down the focus. Remember to use ‘follow ups’ to obtain a 
clearer explanation. The use of pre-meetings could be used to organise the Panels approach to the 
questioning of ‘witnesses’ and to get the most out of the session. 
 
14. Remember the panel is not there to trip people up, “grill” them, apportion blame or to make 
their life difficult. Rather it is to understand the issues affecting the topic under review and how it 
affects the District Council and its residents. 
 
Gathering Evidence 
 
15. Methods of evidence gathering should be as systematic and objective as possible, not just 
anecdotal. Use a variety of approaches and not just rely on a single source. Some different ways 
that evidence could be gathered are: 
 

• Statistical Surveys; 
• Focus Groups and Workshops; 
• Public Meetings; 
• Self-advocacy groups; 
• Street surveys; 
• Site visits; 
• Mystery Shopping. 
 

Panel members should carry out these tasks, design the survey forms or prepare the questionnaires 
themselves. Officers are to be used in an advisory capacity only. 
 
 

Page 134



Report and Follow-up 
 
16. The concluding report will need to be clear, concise, evidence based with illustrative 
anecdotes. All the evidence gathered should be listed and if thought appropriate summarised. There 
will need to be clear, realistic and specific recommendations formulated so that progress can be 
measured and followed up. The report should (wherever practicable) ask for responses to its’ 
recommendations within a realistic time period. (A draft format of a Task and Finish report is 
attached.) 
 
17. The report should, if thought appropriate, be promoted to the public, e.g. through a press 
release and/or publicised via our website. 
 
18. A mini-review of outcomes should be carried out after an appropriate period (not later than 
six months (if appropriate) after the end of the review). The results of this review should be reported 
back to the main Overview and Scrutiny Committee. It should be noted, that the entire Panel should 
not be involved in this follow-up review. The Chairman on his/her own or a small sub-group of two or 
three members would be enough. They can provide the full panel with a short written report on their 
findings if necessary; otherwise a verbal report would suffice. 
 
 
 
 
 
Democratic Services 
June 2006 
                                     

Page 135



Page 136

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REPORT OF THE TRAVELLERS TASK AND FINISH 
PANEL 

 
 
 

JULY 2006 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact for enquiries: 
John Gilbert, Lead Officer 
Epping Forest District Council, Civic Offices 
Epping, CM16 4BZ 
jgilbert@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 
01992 56 4062 

Page 137



EFDC Travellers Task and Finish Panel Report 2

CONTENTS 
 

  Page 
1. Chairman’s Forward 3 

2. Introduction or Overview 4 

3. Context 5 

4. Summary of Recommendations 6 

5. Report 7 

6. Conclusions 8 

7. Acknowledgements 9 

8. Appendix 1 10 

 Appendix 2 11 
 
 

• Make the contents table lines invisible 
 

• Each section to start on its own page 
 

• The addition of photographs always make a report more reader friendly and a document 
more professional looking. 

 
• It may be argued that the introduction and context section could be put under one heading. 

Splitting up theses headings helps to keep the report in small chunks, making it easily 
readable and more accessible. 

 
• The same applies for keeping the recommendations separate from the main body of the 

report. 
 
• If needed more section headings can be added. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 138



1. Chairman’s Forward 
 

Setting out briefly what the panel was tasked to look at, and how the panel went about it. 
 
The Chairman can use this section to give any personal thanks to the people and organisations 
consulted. 
 
This should take up about one side of A4. 
 
 
 

2. Introduction or Overview 
 
This section sets out the formal terms of reference for the panel, who they consulted and how they 
went about gathering the evidence (i.e. by interview, site visits, questions to organisations, 
questionnaires etc.). This will be a more detailed explanation that’s in the Chairman’s forward. 
 
If pertinent it should set out why the Panel did not look at some aspect of the topic they were 
charged to look at. 
 
 

3. Context 
 
Background to the topic under review – how Government Policy fits in, any relevant legal 
considerations any laws (European or domestic).  
 
How the Council’s policies are affected (if at all) or how EFDCs geographical area fits in (local 
context) and any other local considerations that were taken into account. 
 
 

4. Summary of Recommendations 
 
 
The Panels recommendations should be listed out here. If there are enough recommendations it 
could be divided into sections, each relating to different section of the report. 
 
Recommendations should begin: “The Panel recommends that….” 
 
 
 

5. Report 
 
 
This section will detail the evidence gathered and the conclusions reached. This should be related 
to the recommendations made in the summary of recommendations. 
 
Start with a general introduction (if thought useful) and then repeat each recommendation adding an 
explanation as to why that recommendation was made, citing any evidence gathered and the 
conclusions drawn. In order to meet legal requirements, if the recommendations are to go on to 
Cabinet or Council for action, the report should indicated any options that were considered and 
rejected and reasons why. 
 
 

Page 139



EFDC Travellers Task and Finish Panel Report 4

 
6. Conclusion 

 
Very short version of report for busy people – maybe with an eye for putting this bit out as a press 
release. 
 
 

7. Acknowledgements 
 
To give formal acknowledgement to any sources used e.g: 
Organisations; 
People; 
Officers; 
Experts; 
Websites; 
Laws; 
Locations visited; 
Council policies etc. 
 
 
 

8. Appendices 
 
 
If needed to add background information, tables, graphs etc. 

Page 140


